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To Our Shareholders

A change of pace

More than two-and-a-half years ago, we began a transformation at Snap-on Incorporated. The Driven to Deliver™
strategic framework was introduced to align the organization and serve as a catalyst for change. Since that time we
have been on a crusade to transform the culture and improve performance across the company. We have taken
numerous but necessary actions to drive this improvement. The changes have come with a cost, but we believe they

have strengthened the foundation of the business while setting the stage for future profitable growth.

Results in 2003 reflect the costs associated with our internal actions, as well as the effects of an economic downturn
that persisted throughout the year. Net sales were $2.23 billion, compared with $2.11 billion in 2002. Net earnings
were $78.7 million, or $1.35 per diluted share, compared with $106.0 million, or $1.81 per diluted share in 2002.
Diluted earnings per share in 2003 included $0.26 for costs related to the announced closure of three manufacturing
facilities, including two heritage hand-tool plants and our U.S. large-platform diagnostics plant. Year-over-year

comparisons were also negatively affected by $0.27 per diluted share for higher retirement and healthcare expenses.

The effects of the economy and our own internal actions masked a great deal of the positive change going on in
our company and the momentum generated by that change. A cultural transformation is under way. As an
organization, we are becoming more disciplined, more performance-based, more process-oriented and more customer-
driven. The results to date validate our belief that the Driwen to Deliver framework provides the right balance and

emphasis to drive real improvement.

Substantial progress has been made on several fronts. We have increased operating effectiveness, reduced long-term

debt and pension liability, and improved asset utilization. The most visible indicator of our progress to date is cash.

Cash generated from operating activities was $177 million for the year. This amount is after our full-year 2003 pension
contributions of $95 million. Our balance sheet unfunded long-term pension liability was reduced from $137 million at
the end of 2002 to $74 million at the end of 2003. Based on current actuarial assumptions, we project that pension
contributions to the U.S. plans will not be required until 2006. In essence, the substantial contribution, coupled with

a strong investment performance from the portfolio, has effectively addressed our past pension challenge.

We continued to make good progress in using working investment effectively by increasing our turns in 2003.
This important metric improved to 3.2 turns from 2.9 in 2002, as working investment declined to $708 million from

$755 million in 2002. This was a significant contributor to our cash flow for the year. Since we started this journey,
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Snap-on’s strong cash flow supports the investments $250.0 .\

needed to maintain and enhance its industry $200.0 \'\/ —

leadership, achieve its growth objectives and return $150.0
$100.0
dividends to shareholders.
$ 50.0 I ————————
$ |
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
* Net cash provided by operating activities
m NET INCOME  127.2 148.5 19.0 106.0 78.7
Cash flow for 2003 is net of a $78 million expenditure
for voluntary pension contributions —e- casu FLow* 235.6 190.2 163.7 224.1 177.0

we have freed up $245 million in cash and we believe there is further potential yet to be realized. Consequently, as

turns increase, it helps us identify the next set of objectives to strive for and achieve.

Debt, net of cash, was down to $237 million at year-end 2003, resulting in a total net debt to total capital ratio of
19.0 percent, compared to 29.2 percent and $342 million at the end of 2002. Our “creativity before capital”
emphasis, as part of our “Lean” efforts, resulted in capital spending of $30 million in 2003, compared to $46 million

in 2002. Though spending was down year over year, every project with an expected acceptable return was funded.

The same level of progress is not yet visible in our profitability metrics. Changing our culture during a period of
severe economic downturn has proven to be more time consuming than anticipated. We expect our focus on
performance and continuous improvement to result in improved customer responsiveness, exceptional new products

and sustained earnings growth for sharecholders. We simply need to get there quicker.

We purposefully chose to accelerate a number of actions that surfaced during our planning process to improve
long-term profitability. This hurt our overall operating margins in 2003, largely through the higher costs associated
with these actions in the near term. We believe they are the right steps to take for the future. Assuming the
economy continues to recover, the profit benefits anticipated from these and prior actions should begin to exceed

their costs, leading to an improvement in profitability. We expect 2004 to be that crossover point.

We have been driving for faster customer responsiveness and strengthened internal processes to advance our
competitive position and increase sales and earnings opportunities. Following this letter is a progress report on our
three reporting segments. In general, all three are showing improvements from the balanced application of the

principles of our Driven to Deliver strategic framework — Quality People, Operational Fitness and Profitable Growth.

In the Snap-on Dealer Group, the strength of the dealer business, as measured by U.S. franchised dealer sales to
their customers, remains robust. We believe the sales gains made by these Snap-on dealers reflect improvements
achieved as a result of reaching new customers through second van expansion; productivity improvements that allow
the dealers to better serve existing customers; and exciting new products. While their working investment focus

has softened our own sales, it builds a healthy foundation for the future, based upon a shared success between dealers

and the company. In our opinion, the Snap-on dealer franchise is strong and growing.

In the Diagnostics and Information Group, the marketplace continued to shift towards handheld diagnostics, an area

where we have leadership with our Scanner;' MODIS™ and Vantage® products. Adjusting to this trend, we closed
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the manufacturing facility that was principally focused on making large-platform diagnostics, at a cost of approximately
$4 million. Savings from prior continuous improvement actions throughout the group largely offset the costs
associated with this facility closure. On the Profitable Growth side, the rapid integration of products and operations
from NEXIQ Technologies is giving us access to a new marketplace for Snap-on — diagnostics for heavy-duty diesel
trucks. Sales and operating income from the business have exceeded expectations to date, and we believe there is

significant potential for long-term growth in this served marketplace on a worldwide basis.

In the Commercial and Industrial Group, industrial tools began to see improvement late in the year from the anticipated
economic recovery, while we continued to experience challenges in the equipment marketplace. In an effort to
improve profitability, we launched in the second quarter of 2003, the Technical Automotive Group (TAG), a factory
direct sales model to enhance Snap-on’s existing equipment distribution network. Throughout the remainder

of the year, equipment sales, sales leads and gross margins increased sequentially as a result of this modification.
Though this change had a near-term negative impact, we are pleased with the current trends and the potential for

long-term operating margin improvement in that business.

As we enter 2004, we believe the groundwork for Snap-on’s future profitable growth has been laid and that positive
change is taking place throughout the organization. Our intent is to accelerate the pace and translate these
operating improvements into higher earnings. We are providing our employees and dealers with the tools to drive
the process of change. Nearly three years ago, we began the transformation by creating the Driven to Deliver
framework. Shortly thereafter we began to make substantial investments in education and Lean training. Over the
past 12 to 18 months, we ramped up Lean activity with more than 350 events conducted in 2003, three times the

level of the preceding year. We expect to more than triple that number again in 2004.

The need to drive Profitable Growth is clearly recognized as the top priority for the year, along with further
working investment reduction. Based upon the accelerated actions already under way and the early signs of

economic recovery, we expect to see a meaningful improvement in 2004.

Before closing, I want to take this opportunity to recognize Leonard A. Hadley for his seven years of service on the
Snap-on board of directors. Len has decided not to stand for re-election in April. On behalf of everyone in the
company, we thank him for his insightful counsel and guidance. At the same time, I would like to welcome to our
board John F. Fiedler. John is the retired chairman of the board and chief executive officer of BorgWarner Inc. We
look forward to benefiting from John’s nearly 40 years in the automotive industry. Also, W. Dudley Lehman joined
our board in 2003. His consumer brands and customer service experience with Kimberly-Clark Corporation is an

important complement to an already strong board as Snap-on continues to move forward to achieve our goals.

We believe we are doing the right things to create shareholder value. The benefits of our actions are beginning
to become visible, and we expect the end result to be sustainable earnings growth for our shareholders. Our task

is clear — accelerate the pace of change, execute our plans seamlessly and make our goals a reality.

DALE F. ELLIOTT

Chairman, President and

Chief Executive Qfficer
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Snap-on Dealer Group

The Snap-on Dealer Group is our heritage business and consists of operations serving

the worldwide franchised dealer van channel. Solid customer relationships, built in

collaboration with our dealers, and Snap-on®brand products, representing the best in the

industry, remain a cornerstone of the company today.

Making more time

for face time

THE RELATIONSHIP
BUSINESS

Solid relationships provide the cornerstone
Jor lasting success and illustrate
the Quality People principle of Snap-on’s
Driven to Deliver framework.
For 17 years, Snap-on dealer Mike
“Happy Snappy” Gawlik has
been a source of tools, knowledge and
service reliability for Steve Misurelli,
owner and operator of Steve’s Mobile Repair,
both located in Lombard, Illinots.

Michael F. Montemurro: Snap-on’s Dealer
Group is focused on serving vehicle
repair professionals. We have broad
market coverage, a powerful brand and
an unsurpassed product portfolio.
Snap-on’s success is built on dealer
service to the customer, and it is our job
to help the dealer succeed.

Our ongoing “More Feet on the
Street” dealer growth and enhancement
iitiative helps dealers serve their
existing customers better and, at the
same time, reach out to additional
customers. Dealers increase their
business knowledge through training
to help them become more productive
and profitable. Today, more than
one out of four Snap-on dealers have
additional vans and/or franchises.

We are providing our dealers with
tools to maximize their face time
with the customer. Real-time metrics
are being developed to help them
track inventory and better manage
their profitability and overall
business. In addition, Snap-on made

changes in its organization in 2003
to strengthen and better support
dealer operations.

Investments continue to be made
to ensure a complete lineup of
innovative products. A change from
product-based to portfolio-based
management, as well as improvements
in merchandising, advertising, packaging
and brand support, are being
implemented to have a positive impact

on dealer and company growth.

Feffrey N. Eggert: During 2003, Snap-on
Tools Operations implemented
necessary changes to reduce complexity,
improve quality and provide faster
delivery to customers. The closing of
the Kenosha, Wisconsin, and Mt.
Carmel, Illinois, hand-tool plants will
streamline production around core
technologies and processes. Additional
steps in achieving Operational Fitness
include moving towards cellular
manufacturing and one-piece flow. We

are building a performance culture,
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Snap-on Dealer Group

centered on customer responsiveness,
quality and value-adding processes.
Incorporating dealer to customer
point-of-sale data into the supply
chain process is helping move from a
build-to-forecast to a build-to-customer-
demand operation. Work processes
were integrated to increase speed and
reliability to the customer, and
improvements were made in production
scheduling, logistics and sourcing.
Continuous improvement facilitators
at each plant and distribution center
use Lean tools to eliminate waste
and increase productivity. Employees
throughout the company are
involved to determine the best ways
to deliver value to the customer.
Within operations, we made changes
to better align resources and support
new processes. In product development,
cells were formed and aligned by value
streams, linking engineers, operations
analysts, product managers and manu-
facturing. These cells are expected to
drive increased focus and new product

mnovation with shorter cycle times.

(left to right)
MICHAEL F. MONTEMURRO

Senior Vice President and President —

Worldwide Snap-on Dealer Group

JEFFREY N. EGGERT
Vice President —
Snap-on Tools Operations
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STRONGER LINKS IN THE CHAIN
Supply Chain Improvements — Snap-on’s
focus is on creating a supply chain to
meet customer expectations. This
means getting the customers what they
want, when they want it. Process
changes are beginning to shorten lead
times to allow Snap-on to react to
changing demand faster. In 2003,
Snap-on Tools Operations achieved
more than a 50 percent improvement in
plant inventory turns. A strong supply
chain will provide a gateway to
improved profits by allowing the
company and its dealers to maximize

sales and better manage inventory.

AN ATTRACTIVE PROPOSITION
Enhancing Dealer Opportunity — Snap-on is
focused on helping dealers be productive
and profitable and is increasing its
investment in areas that strengthen
the dealer proposition. Snap-on’s
emphasis is to assist dealers to allow
them more face time with the
customer and to reach out to serve
new customers.

With an increasing number of
vehicles in prime repair age and facing
greater complexity, there is a growing
number of new technicians. And these
increasingly sophisticated vehicles
require new, innovative tools. Snap-on
is investing to continuously meet
dealers’ and customers’ needs for new,
productivity-enhancing products.
Offering solutions that add value and
improve productivity for the end user
is really what it’s all about.

THE SNAP-ON BRAND LEGACY
A History of Pride — The Snap-on brand
has been a symbol for consistently
high quality since 1920, and that’s no
accident. Tool users around the

world believe in and are loyal to the
Snap-on brand. It provides instant
recognition of quality and service, and
for those who depend on our products,
their tools represent an investment

in their skills and reputation.

Since Snap-on doesn’t take success
for granted, we conducted a Snap-on
brand study over the last two years that
took us to customers and employees
around the world. Quantitative research
was coupled with lively discussions
in an effort to “tune-up” the brand.

A brand book was developed and is
being communicated across the
world to ensure that employees and
dealers share the same goals and
philosophy. Finally, a brand council
has been established that will oversee

and monitor brand issues.

The SNAP-ON TOOLWAGON™
has 8" chrome wheels,
16" pneumatic tires and_four-wheel
disc brakes. It looks and
rolls like a pit cart and holds

2,000 pounds of tools.



OUR ROADMAP TO THE FUTURE
PRODUCT REALIZATION CYCLE...A FASTER APPROACH

FEASIBILITY

Product cell teams share
common workspace and consist
of people from prod

engineering, operations pla
and product management.
They determine feasibility. .

-

©)

IDEA
We focus on an idea,
and listen to the woice of the
customer early on.
We find out what theirMs
and requirements are,
define the product,
and go to work on finding i

the solution.

=

IT STARTS WITH A QUESTION

How can Snap-on

®

PRODUCT AND

PROCESS DEVELOPMENT

We design, document and test
the product, building in

quality every step of the way.

We develop manufacturing
and distribution methods, with a

Lean focus in mind.

Support materials are developed

simultaneously.

DELIVERY
The product is launched, and the
product cell team reviews,
evaluates and documents the
project. Further customer
feedback is sought,
received and acted on.

THE RESULT
Increased market participation
and a longer sales cycle life.

help customers be more productive?

Product development and technology expertise is shared in uniquely designed work areas that

utilize co-location of multiple functions and skill sets. Pictured from the tool storage
product cell are Product Managers, John Landree (front left) and Jay Serpe (back right) and
Sr. Design Engineers, Dan Guptail (back left) and Dave Doerflinger (front right).

2003 ANNUAL REPORT



e

X ¥

| —")

g,

vy T &

L1 l.. | .'TFL £:)

LTGENSE R

) T
LELIM F ORER | s -
LEL 1M 1 DRIER I BT =
REF LM I -.[ e b 4
| <4 PPL Ha
WGETRLY | b A ne [
"_' =P B el 1T =
it f'-"l 4_ Dk GRN H
IGETRLS | b —FRERpmm 1 [
WA T ik
IDCTRLY | Ve B OBNGET ™ B1F |
WS QUTRUT | by XS

PO GROUMG | e
Ao OROUND | 1

W DAy CLassE oy

i L DT LINE
LLERLLLA 'Il:lr|. i EARHT |".‘.1‘h'-  TEW
A GROLING ]
O GROUMD IF 53 ¥ I

E...r s
FPL I 'l 3 DR UTERE

ErGOF LW FEF I !

R e L B LT 12H
" “‘..-“Ill:lr FEDOLE 10
§ R HIGH s == ,
S BN .. ||_.1I - TR
.-...-I.l_--ll | AL d |:'
ll] M YEL TR (PINGEET NOTLSED |

-||"|||r|r|r|||I s —

TEL s

SEHEDR SIGHAL | | i

|
il Fivh L ¥ I L
045 ABLE OUTPUT | Je—prgrrecy } i T SVSTEM
LEL I 4 DRAVER | oy T [ -
i |
' D8 G RMHT
RGE W, ORAVER " o = !
3 '
i e '% BT g 20 ==
o B H —
L '_:I.I bLE ks '-:_ W - H &
LT REF | ) | . & T |
HTRALIDE T #5127 & -
M0 CORAPT v o & aE Ok = T
HEF) AMHLDCK -l a5l EF E i =
R E w] =] o & w A

Ve TE
IGHMTION | T
CONTROLMODULE

EI-H

Tiip

F LEFT

Citkad T

EF

FROINT Bkl _— "
GHITION COIL :
BbLY | | |

A

SPERE LGS

SNAP-ON INCORPORATED




Diagnostics and Information Group

The Diagnostics and Information Group designs, manufactures and sells industry-leading

products through the Snap-on Dealer Group and direct channels. Offerings include

diagnostics platforms and software, vehicle service information, business management

systems, equipment repair services and other solutions for customers in the

worldwide vehicle service and repair marketplace. Snap-on integrates experience-based

information with instrumentation to increase customer productivity and profitability.

Information with
Instrumentation

IDENTIFYING SOLUTIONS,
NOT JUST PROBLEMS

Color wiring diagrams, exclusive to
Mitchell 1, help technicians
speed through diagnosis, eliminating
the need to decipher text-based
color abbreviations on black and white
diagrams. Diagrams are part
of Mitchell1* OnDemand5
and ShopKey® 5 information software.

Alan T. Biland: One of the key tenets of
the Diagnostics and Information
Group’s mission is to provide products,
services and solutions to our cus-
tomers that help them improve their
productivity and achieve greater
success. In vehicle repair, that means
combining information with instrumen-
tation to help customers do their jobs
faster, more easily and more productively.
Simply put, if technicians can locate
and verify the problem faster, they can
complete the repair sooner.

‘With this tenet as a base, there are
significant opportunities to grow the
Diagnostics and Information business
through new product development,
and in new geographies and markets.
We believe we have the technologies
and the quality people in place
to pursue those opportunities and

create value for Snap-on.

PIONEERING NEW PRODUCTS
Increasing complexities and advanced

technologies in vehicles have resulted in

the need for sophisticated new
diagnostics tools and growing amounts
of information to service vehicles,
providing additional opportunities for
Snap-on Diagnostics. We provide

the solutions to diagnosing and servicing
these complex systems through
knowledgeable products that combine
advanced instrumentation driven by
proven vehicle-specific information.

Snap-on is continually seeking ways
to leverage and integrate our core
competencies in on-board diagnostics,
electronic testing instruments, and
information. An example is the D-TAC™
diagnostics tester and charger, which
was named a Motor magazine Top 20
Tool in 2003.

Another opportunity for Snap-on
Diagnostics is the marketplace shift for
diagnostics and emissions products
from large platform-based systems to
handheld devices, an area where we
are already the leader with the MODIS
system, Scanner tool and the new
EZ/VAT™ tester. These and other
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Diagnostics and Information Group

products provide customers with fast,
easy-to-use solutions, and put significant
power in the palm of the hand.

GLOBAL OPPORTUNITIES
Since customers around the world
experience similar challenges in
diagnosing and repairing vehicles,
opportunities exist to expand our
technology-based tools to new geogra-
phies. Snap-on Diagnostics teams in
2003 took advantage of global resources
and worked together to develop and
produce products on a platform
basis that can be marketed in various
geographic markets. Products in differ-
ent languages with market-specific
data can be offered in different parts of
the world for various vehicle populations.
Tools are developed and built with
global marketplaces in mind to address
customer challenges around the world.
The MicroVAT™ tester, available in

nine different languages, is one example.

This product uses patented technology
to pinpoint the source of electrical
system failure in automotive batteries,
alternators and starters and offers

handheld convenience.

ALAN T. BILAND
Vice President — Chief Information

Officer and President —
Diagnostics and Information Group
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NEAR-NEIGHBOR EXPANSION

Equally important is the entry by
Snap-on into new unserved marketplace
segments, which provide attractive
long-term growth potential. Snap-on’s
purchase in late 2002 of assets related
to the vehicle scan tool and
eTechnician™ operations of NEXIQ
Technologies support this commitment
to innovation and growth. The

assets purchased were associated with
industry-leading, heavy-duty truck,
diesel and off-road vehicle diagnostics
and telematics products and services.
Snap-on acquired intellectual property
ownership and diagnostics expertise

in heavy-duty vehicle handheld

scan tools, including the Pro-Link” Plus
diagnostics system. As a result of this
acquisition, Snap-on also gains inroads
into the telematics arena with
e¢Technician, a Web-based application that
is like having a technician “on board
the vehicle” The eZechnician application
promotes remote, wireless vehicle

monitoring and programming.

NOT JUST PEOPLE, THE RIGHT PEOPLE
Achieving our growth goals would not
be possible were it not for our quality
people. Snap-on employees and sales
representatives have comprehensive
knowledge of the industries we serve,
our customers and their environment.
Some have skill sets that enable them
to analyze and standardize car repair
information in formats that are easy for
technicians to understand, including
graphics and wiring diagrams. Others
build comprehensive databases, such

as that developed for the Scanner, which

covers more than 30 vehicle makes

in nine languages. Snap-on is committed
to raising the skills and proficiency

of these dedicated individuals. Many
have obtained multiple certifications
by the National Institute for Automotive
Service Excellence (ASE) including
automobile, medium/heavy truck,
collision repair/refinishing and engine
machinist. Snap-on’s customers
benefit from the knowledge that these
quality people bring to their jobs.

The EZ/VAT TESTER 15
the newest addition to our hand-
held line of battery and
electrical system diagnostics.
It utilizes the newest electronic
test technology to provide
a pass/fail diagnosis
of automotive batteries within
only a few seconds.



UP TO SPEED

e

It’s game 'day
A cross-functional team of Snap-on and NEXIQ leaders, including those from operations,
information technology, finance, marketing, and human resources, worked
through a disciplined process to provide for a quick, smooth integration of NEXIQ Technologies
into the Snap-on family. The NEXIQ operation, formerly located in Sterling Heights,
Michigan, was moved into available space in Snap-on’s Auburn Hills, Michigan, facility. During
the first year as part of Snap-on, NEXIQ significantly exceeded sales and earnings goals.

JAMIE SURA
Vice President, Sales
NEXIQ

JOHN KIELICH
Vice President - Planning and
Snap-on Business Process
Snap-on Incorporated

TOM WARD
President — Diagnostics
Snap-on Diagnostics

MIKE BRIDGEMAN
Director, Operations
Snap-on Diagnostics

CRAIG ROEPKE
Manager, Information
Technology

Snap-on Incorporated
BETSY CAMERON MARY BETH SIDDONS
Vice President, Marketing

Director,
Operational Excellence Snap-on Diagnostics

Snap-on Diagnostics

JOHN BRENNAN
Vice President,
Engineering
Snap-on Diagnostics

DENNIS LEITNER
Vice President,
Information Technology
Snap-on Incorporated

JOE FOURNIER
Director, Operations
NEXIQ
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Commercial and Industrial Group

Snap-on's Commercial and Industrial Group manufactures and markets productivity-

enhancing professional tools and equipment for a broad range of industrial and

commercial customers worldwide through direct and distributor sales channels. A

multiple brand portfolio has been carefully developed to enhance Snap-on’s position

as a total solutions provider.

Creating the products

for productivity

NEW PRODUCT,
NEW PROFICIENCY

An important trend in the marketplace
is the increasing need
JSor documentation of work performed.
The DOCUTORQ™ provides
torque control, with accurate readings
and documentation to ensure
customer confidence. This newly developed
state-of-the-art torque tool removes
lug nuts and reapplies them according to
Jactory torque specifications.
The customer’s invoice includes actual

torque values applied.

Nicholas T. Pinchuk: Tools and equipment
in the Commercial and Industrial
Group are sold through direct and
distributor channels to buyers who are
typically non-users. This group offers
an extensive lineup of productivity-
enhancing products, has a broad
array of strong brands and provides
access to a large and fragmented market
estimated at more than $11 billion.
Significant opportunities exist for
the Commercial and Industrial Group
to improve execution and to take
advantage of the expanding emphasis
on workplace efficiency and ergonomics
in developed countries, as well as a
growing demand for our professional-

level products in emerging economies.

NEW WAYS TO PROFITABILITY
Commercial and industrial markets
were generally depressed by economic
factors during 2003, but we continued
to challenge our operating teams with
taking actions and incurring the costs

that drive Operational Fitness and will

lead to greater levels of profitability. In
that regard, facility consolidations and
product cost reductions have taken
place and will continue on a global
basis, leading to more efficient and cost
effective operations.

We also continue to invest in new
product development and have a
variety of exciting new offerings from
hand and power tools to wheel-service
to alignment. Further, with our focus
on Lean tools throughout the
organization, we’'ve been making the
changes to reduce product time-to-
market and to improve service, ensur-
ing increases in customer satisfaction.
From products to processes, continuous
improvement is becoming part of the

group’s everyday focus.

NEW PATHS TO THE CUSTOMER

The Technical Automotive Group (TAG)
is a factory direct sales force aimed at
distributing equipment products to
repair-service operations throughout
North America. The organization was

2003 ANNUAL REPORT 13



Commercial and Industrial Group

created in 2003 to enhance Snap-on’s
existing equipment distribution network,
improve long-term operating margin,
provide customers with improved sales
coverage, training and support.

TAG direct sales representatives bring
to the customer interface an increased
ability to highlight and demonstrate the
advantages available in Snap-on’s
patented innovations and unique tech-
nologies. Following the launch,
equipment sales momentum is being
recovered by the TAG channel and
the Snap-on dealer network is becoming
increasingly engaged, providing a
growing number of sales leads and new
orders. We believe that TAG will lead
to significant Snap-on wins in both

share and profitability as we go forward.

NEW HORIZONS FOR GROWTH

With TAG, the industrial direct sales
force and our distributor partners in
Europe and North America, the
corporation has one of the industry’s
largest sales networks. There is a
new focus on maximizing our full range
through these outlets. As that strength
combines with our attractive new and

existing product lineup, we expect

NICHOLAS T. PINCHUK

Senior Vice President and President —
Worldwide Commercial and Industrial Group

14 SNAP-ON INCORPORATED

substantial opportunity for expansion
within these aligned channels in 2004
and beyond.

Abundant further growth is also
available by extending the Snap-on
reach to emerging markets in other parts
of the globe. Snap-on recognizes these
markets will play an expanding role in
the global business scene. This year,
we're making strides, building capabil-
ity, establishing manufacturing and
distributor expertise and developing
bench strength that will make us a
significant participant in those markets

well into the future.

DISTINCTION THROUGH COMPETENCE
Snap-on distinguishes itself through its
application of technology, creating
productivity-enhancing products that
surpass all competitors. An example

is the new John Bean® BFH 1000 state-of-
the-art wheel balancer. Expectations

on vehicle performance are increasing
and demands for precision in auto
repair are growing right along side. Our
new balancer is compatible with that
trend — it’s faster, smarter and easier
than anything available. A product

of Snap-on technology leadership, the
BFH 1000 uses multiple lasers to
profile both tire and rim, and create a
balance with new levels of accuracy
and speed. Beyond that, the laser points
to the exact weight location, even
hiding it behind a wheel spoke. It makes
the job easier for the technician and
more accurate for the vehicle owner.
The BFH 1000 is now being introduced
and we expect it will raise the standard
throughout the industry.

NEW TOOLS,
NEW FUNCTIONALITY

These BAHCO® CHISELS feature
an ergonomic grip and precision ground
blades_for maximum sharpness,
and are ideal for demanding carpentry

applications and construction site jobs.

o

This STOUX® HIGH-SPEED DRILL,
specifically designed for the
aerospace industry, has a self-contained
coolant system built on a Sioux
20,000 rpm, 0.9 horse-power pistol-grip

drill motor.

The JOHN BEAN BFH 1000
TOTAL MEASUREMENT SYSTEM,
a one-step, fully automated
complete wheel and tire measurement process,
reduces “floor to_floor time;”
wheel data is precisely measured with
advanced optical lasers.






Snap-on Incorporated
Business Overview
($ in millions)

SEGMENT

BUSINESSES

CUSTOMERS

PRODUCTS

Snap-on Dealer Group

MICHAEL F. MONTEMURRO
Senior Vice President and President —
Worldwide Snap-on Dealer Group

Snap-on mobile franchised
dealer van network

Technical representatives

sales organization supporting

Snap-on dealers

Total segment

Technicians and mechanics
+ Vehicle service
+ Marine and aircrafi

+ Small engine

Vehicle service and repair
shop owners and managers

Hand tools

Power tools

Tool storage
Diagnostics equipment
Diagnostics software

Vehicle service information

net sales: ............... $1,073.2*
US. e 75% Vehicle service equipment
Non-US. ...c.oovvvveiene 25%

BRANDS Snapan Sy BlueFPoint: SI0PKEY

Diagnostics and
Information Group

ALAN T. BILAND

Vice President — Chief Information
Officer and President —
Duagnostics and Information Group

Snap-on Diagnostics
Mitchell 1

EquiServ (equipment service)
Snap-on Technical Center
Internet Commerce Center

NEXIQ Technologies

Total segment
net sales:.......c......... $309.0*

Vehicle service and repair
shop owners and managers

National and regional
service chains

Dealerships

Vehicle manufacturers
(OEMs)

Snap-on Dealer Group

Heavy-duty truck, fleet and
off-road operators

Handheld diagnostics
Engine analyzers

Vehicle service information
Diagnostics software

Business management
systems

Tele-diagnostics

BRANDS

Sap =,

SHOPKEY.

EquiServ.

Mitchell|

NEXIQ

TECHNOLOGIES

Commercial and
Industrial Group

NICHOLAS T. PINCHUK
Senior Vice President and
President — Worldwide Commercial
and Industrial Group

Snap-on Industrial

Bahco Group AB

Herramientas Eurotools, S.A.

Power Tools

Worldwide Equipment

Technical Automotive Group

(TAG)

Equipment Solutions
(facilitation)

Total segment
net sales: ............... $1,133.9*

Industrial manufacturing
and assembly

Government
Construction
Electrical

HVAC

Plumbing

Agriculture

Snap-on Dealer Group

Vehicle service and repair
shop owners and managers

Vehicle manufacturers
(OEMs)

Hand tools

Cutting tools

Power tools

Tool storage
Diagnostics equipment

Vehicle service equipment

BRANDS

Blue-FPoir,

CDI2%gY

<57 IRIMO Groux>
0 ) W (1]

PALMERA
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* Before intersegment eliminations
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GROWTH DRIVERS DISTINCTIVE COMPETENCIES FINANCIALS
Increasing number of vehicles in Proprietary distribution network Total segment net sales: ................. $2,516.1%*
prime fepair age Strong customer relationships
t lexity of vehicl
Greater complexity of vehicles Easy to buy - easy to own purchase
Growing number of new technicians proposition
“More Feet on the Street” dealer Product and customer application
expansion and enhancement initiative knowledge
New products and technological Innovative and productivity-enhancing
advances solutions
) ] ) ) o ) Snap-on Dealer Group..............ccovueucunen 43%
Increasing complexity of vehicles Instrumentation with information ) )
with advanced electronics Diagnostics and
Product and customer Information Growp .......ccoveveeeeererereeenerenenns 12%
Worldwide markets producing more application knowledge )
sophisticated vehicles E 1 | Commercial and
asy to learn - easy to apply Industrial Group ........ceeceveeeeeecenenenennnn. 45%
New markets and applications — knowledge —on-demand solutions
lobal tunit . ..
globat opportunity Innovative and productivity-
Hardware to software solutions enhancing solutions
t iti . .
ransition Wired and wireless
New products and technological vehicle diagnostics
d .
advances Electronics systems test
and measurement
Segment operating earnings:........... $106.3
Expanding emphasis on workplace Recognized capability in productivity-
efficiency enhancing solutions
. . . 0/
Evolving manufacturing and Respected brands with broad 66
repair requirements product lines
Growing attention to ergonomics Strong relationships with premium
. . . lobal cust
Accelerating demand in emerging global customers
economies Established positions in multiple
. . channels worldwide
Increasing scale and technical y
advantage in fragmented markets Demonstrated innovation in Snap-on Dealer Group ..........ocvvvvwwnsvvsee. 66%
ergonomics and efficiency Diagnostics and
Information Group .............cccoceecucucucucnnnns 22%

Commercial and
Industrial Group.............cccvuevevvucunnnnnnee. 12%

1, g, HOFMANN %2
A e

BLACKHAWK'

WHEELTRONIC™LTD, RIS

Q * Before intersegment eliminations
BREWCO m
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Six-year Data

(Amounts in millions, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Net sales $2,233.2 $2,109.1 $2,095.7 $2,175.7 $1,945.6 $1,772.6
Gross profit 964.7 964.9 949.0 996.8 896.2 763.2
Operating expenses 858.4 804.3 898.1 804.9 744.3 795.1
Net finance income 43.8 37.7 35.7 38.1 60.5 65.9
Operating earnings 150.1 198.3 86.6 230.0 212.4 34.0
Interest expense 244 28.7 35.5 40.7 274 21.2
Earnings from continuing operations 116.7 161.2 476 192.6 197.9 10.8
Income taxes 38.0 58.0 26.1 69.5 70.7 15.6
Cumulative effect, net of taxes - 2.8 (2.5) 25.4 - -
Net earnings (loss) 78.7 106.0 19.0 148.5 127.2 (4.8)

Financial position

Accounts receivable current — net $ 546.8 $ 556.2 $ 572.8 $ 603.2 $ 573.8 $ 538.2
Inventories 351.1 369.9 375.2 418.9 454.8 375.4
Current assets 1,131.7 1,051.0 1,097.0 1,145.1 1,162.4 1,063.3
Accounts payable 189.7 170.9 141.2 161.0 146.4 89.4
Current liabilities 567.2 552.4 549.4 538.0 452.7 458.0
Property and equipment - net 328.6 330.2 327.7 345.1 362.6 272.0
Total assets 2,138.5 1,994.1 1,974.3 2,069.1 2,160.9 1,674.9
Long-term debt 303.0 304.3 445.5 473.0 607.5 246.6
Total shareholders’ equity 1,010.9 830.4 775.8 844.0 825.3 762.4
Working capital 564.5 498.6 547.6 607.1 709.7 605.3
Working investment 708.2 755.2 806.8 861.1 882.2 824.2
Total net debt 237.1 342.3 467.9 537.2 612.2 324.7
Total invested capital 1,248.0 1,172.7 1,243.7 1,381.2 1,4375 1,087.1

Common share summary

Net earnings (loss) per share — basic $ 135 $ 1.82 $ 033 $ 254 $ 218 $ (0.08)
Net earnings (loss) per share — diluted 1.35 1.81 0.33 2.53 2.16 (0.08)
Cash dividends paid per share 1.00 0.97 0.96 0.94 0.90 0.86
Shareholders’ equity per share 1737 14.27 13.40 14.60 14.10 12.98
Fiscal year-end share price 31.80 27.72 33.93 27.88 26.56 34.81
Average shares outstanding — diluted 58.4 58.5 58.1 58.6 58.9 59.2

Other financial statistics

Cash dividends paid $ 582 $ 565 $ 556 $ 55.0 $ 526 $ 510
Net cash provided by operating activities 177.0 224.1 163.7 190.2 235.6 75.0
Capital expenditures 29.4 45.8 53.6 57.6 35.4 46.8
Depreciation and amortization 60.3 51.7 68.0 66.2 55.4 45.0
Total net debt to total invested capital 19.0% 29.2% 37.6% 38.9% 42.6% 29.9%
Return on average shareholders’ equity 8.5% 13.2% 2.3% 17.8% 16.0% (0.6)%

2003 results included $30.1 million of pretax restructuring and other continuous improvement charges ($19.6 million after tax or $0. 34 per diluted share) of which $25.8 million was recorded in
cost of goods sold and $4.3 million in operating expenses.

2002 results included $5.1 million, recorded in operating expenses, of pretax restructuring and other non-recurring charges ($3.3 million after tax or $0.05 per diluted share) and a $2.8 million
pretax gain ($2.8 million after tax or $0.05 per diluted share) for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle for goodwill. Snap-on ceased amortizing goodwill and certain other intan-
gible assets in 2002 in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.

2001 results included $62.0 million of pretax restructuring and other non-recurring charges ($46.1 million after tax or $0.80 per diluted share), of which $49.4 million was included in operating
expenses and $12.6 million was included in cost of goods sold, and a $4.1 million pretax loss ($2.5 million after tax or $0.04 per diluted share) for the cumulative effect of a change in account-
ing principle for derivatives. Goodwill amortization in 2001 totaled $13.9 million pretax.

2000 results included $21.8 million of pretax restructuring and other non-recurring charges ($14.2 million after tax or $0.24 per diluted share), of which $9.5 million was recorded in cost of
goods sold and $12.3 million in operating expenses, and a $41.3 million pretax gain ($25.4 million after tax or $0.43 per diluted share) for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting prin-
ciple for pensions. Goodwill amortization in 2000 totaled $14.5 million pretax.

1999 results included $37.2 million of pretax restructuring and other non-recurring charges ($23.3 million after tax or $0.40 per diluted share), of which $16.6 million was recorded in cost of
goods sold and $20.6 million in operating expenses. Goodwill amortization in 1999 totaled $11.8 million pretax.

1998 results included $149.9 million of pretax restructuring and other non-recurring charges ($107.6 million after tax or $1.82 per diluted share), of which $60.6 million was recorded in cost of
goods sold and $89.3 million in operating expenses. Goodwill amortization in 1998 totaled $8.5 million pretax.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Snap-on Incorporated (“Snap-on” or “the company”) was incorporated
under the laws of the state of Wisconsin in 1920 and reincorpo-
rated under the laws of the state of Delaware in 1930. Snap-on is a
leading global innovator, manufacturer and marketer of high-
quality tool, diagnostic and equipment solutions for professional
tool and equipment users. Product lines include a broad range of
hand and power tools, tool storage, saws and cutting tools, pruning
tools, vehicle service diagnostics equipment, vehicle service equip-
ment, including wheel service, safety-testing and collision repair
equipment, vehicle service information, business management
systems, equipment repair services, and other tool and equipment
solutions. Snap-on’s customers include automotive technicians,
vehicle service centers, manufacturers, industrial tool and equip-
ment users and those involved in commercial applications such as
construction, electrical and agriculture. Products are sold through
Snap-on’s franchised dealer van, company-direct, distribution and
Internet sales channels.

Snap-on’s business segments are based on the organization
structure used by management for making operating and invest-
ment decisions and for assessing performance. Snap-on’s reportable
business segments include: (i) the Snap-on Dealer Group, (ii) the
Commercial and Industrial Group, and (iii) the Diagnostics and
Information Group. The Snap-on Dealer Group consists of
Snap-on’s business operations serving the worldwide franchised
dealer van channel. The Commercial and Industrial Group consists
of the business operations providing tools and equipment products
to a broad range of industrial and commercial customers worldwide
through direct, distributor and other non-franchised distribution
channels. The Diagnostics and Information Group consists of the
business operations providing diagnostics equipment, vehicle service
information, business management systems, equipment repair serv-
ices and other solutions for customers in the worldwide vehicle
service and repair marketplace.

Major challenges for Snap-on and the vehicle service and
repair sector include the increasing rate of technological change
within motor vehicles and the resulting impact on the businesses of
both the company’s suppliers and customers that is necessitated by
such change. Snap-on believes that it is a meaningful participant in
the market sector for vehicle service and repair.

Snap-on also markets its products to a wide variety of industrial
customers including industrial maintenance and repair operations;
manufacturing and assembly facilities; government facilities;
schools; and original equipment manufacturers that require instru-
mentation or service tools and equipment for their products. Major
challenges in the industrial sector include a highly competitive,
cost-conscious environment, and a trend toward customers making
all of their tool and equipment purchases through one integrated
supplier. Snap-on believes that it is a meaningful participant in the
market sector for industrial tools and equipment.

Snap-on’s products are known for their quality workmanship,
superior product performance and exceptional service, and cus-
tomers readily recognize and prefer the Snap-on family of brand

names. Innovation, marketplace knowledge and customer relation-
ships are Snap-on competencies that support its position as a leading
provider of professional tool and equipment solutions. Snap-on’s
mission is to delight its customers — professional tool and equipment
users worldwide - by providing innovative, productivity-enhancing
products, services and solutions.

MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW

More than two-and-a-half years ago, Snap-on launched the Driven
to Deliver™ strategic framework to better align the organization and
serve as a catalyst for change. Snap-on believes the Driven to Deliver
framework provides a roadmap for delivering high-quality products
and services, as well as improved earnings and cash flow. Using this
framework, Snap-on continues to take actions to grow its served
customer base, pursue new marketplace opportunities and improve
its operating performance. Numerous but necessary measures have
been taken to drive this improvement. While the changes have
come with a cost, Snap-on management believes that these actions
have strengthened the foundation of the business, setting the stage
for future profitable growth.

The Driven to Deliver framework is based on the balanced
application of three strategic principles: Quality People, Opera-
tional Fitness and Profitable Growth. This process builds on the
solid foundation created through the strategic partnering efforts of
Snap-on employees and dealers and fosters a business environment in
which all employees contribute toward building a stronger company.

The principle of Quality People means having the right people
with the right skills in the right place to deliver positive results.
Snap-on wants to ensure that employees are properly trained and
motivated to achieve the company’s goals.

Operational Fitness emphasizes the need for continuous
improvement, streamlining processes and reducing waste.

With a focus on Quality People and Operational Fitness, a
strong foundation is built for sustainable Profitable Growth.
Profitable Growth means growing the company while delivering a
measurable increase in financial performance. Through innovation
in internal development and a disciplined approach to marketplace
opportunities, Snap-on is committed to anticipating and meeting its
customers’ changing needs that will continue to support its business
and create incremental shareholder value.

Since the adoption of the Driven to Deliver framework, Snap-on
has taken significant action to reduce costs companywide and
improve operational performance in businesses not earning acceptable
financial returns. As its implementation became more widespread in
2003, Snap-on chose to accelerate a number of actions, as discussed
below, that are designed to improve the company’s long-term prof-
itability. While the near-term costs of these actions reduced 2003
operating margins, management expects to see an improvement
in profitability as the company moves through 2004. The need to
drive profitable growth is clearly recognized as a top priority for
2004 at Snap-on.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Within its Driven to Deliver framework, Snap-on places heavy
emphasis on the use of “Lean” tools, a business approach that seeks
to improve processes from a customer value-added point of view.
The use of Lean tools is intended to help Snap-on identify and elim-
inate waste and improve productivity to enhance responsiveness to
customers. Snap-on expects to continue to accelerate its Lean and
continuous improvement activity levels throughout 2004.

Snap-on’s longer-term financial metrics, as outlined in its
Driven to Deliver framework, remain the same - to grow profitably
and to make sure that the company’s businesses are operationally
fit. Snap-on’s goals include producing 30% of sales from products
that are less than three years old and driving average earnings per
share growth of 9% to 12% per year. The company’s goals also
include improving operating margins to 10% or having a 10%
improvement for those business units that have already achieved
that target, and by the end of 2005, improving working investment
turnover to four turns. Snap-on believes that working investment
(accounts receivable — net of allowances plus inventories less
accounts payable) is a measurement of a company’s effectiveness in
using capital to support current sales levels.

Snap-on incurred $30.1 million of costs in 2003 for its continuous
improvement initiatives, which include the December 2003 closure
of the company’s U.S. facility that assembled large-platform diag-
nostics and the closure of two U.S. hand-tool plants. The closure of
the two hand-tool facilities, both of which are anticipated to be com-
pleted by April 2004, is expected to generate annual savings of
approximately $12 million per year, beginning in 2004. Snap-on has,
since May 2001, initiated the closing or consolidation of 38 manu-
facturing, distribution and administrative facilities worldwide and
effected a 12.200 workforce reduction. Snap-on will continue to look
for other continuous improvement opportunities that will further
improve processes and strengthen customer responsiveness.

Costs associated with continuous improvement efforts,
combined with higher operating costs and softness in key end-
markets, particularly those impacting the sale of the company’s
equipment products, resulted in lower levels of profitability in 2003.
The savings generated from continuous improvement actions taken
over the last three years were largely reinvested in new product
development and other growth initiatives and continuous improve-
ment actions, and also used to help offset cost increases, including
higher health care, pension and other retirement costs that are being
incurred as a result of inflationary impacts on employee health care
costs, lower investment returns and discount rates, as well as higher
insurance premiums. In 2003, Snap-on incurred higher year-over-
year pension, other retirement and insurance costs of $22.2 million,
excluding pension and postretirement curtailment gains and losses.
Snap-on is unable to predict if the recent trends in cost increases for
employee health care, pension, other retirement and insurance will
continue on a long-term basis, however, Snap-on does anticipate
some cost increases in 2004 related to these items.

In the worldwide Snap-on Dealer Group, U.S. sales activities by
Snap-on’s franchised dealers are believed to have increased at a high-
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single-digit percentage rate during the fourth quarter of 2003 and, for
the full year, end-market demand for tools and tool storage products
increased as sell-through by the dealers was up mid-single-digits year
over year. This sales growth rate exceeded the rate of growth in deal-
ers’ purchases from Snap-on, and management believes that this
reflects the momentum in the dealers’ efforts to improve their work-
ing investment turns. In 2002, Snap-on began focusing its dealers on
the importance of better working capital management, including
faster inventory turns, which lowered Snap-on sales. Snap-on
believes that this effort is building a healthy foundation for the
future, based upon shared success for both the dealer and Snap-on.

Sales gains made by Snap-on dealers, particularly in the North
American marketplace, reflect improvements from their business
expansion through second vans and franchises, their ability to better
serve existing customers as a result of productivity efforts, as well as
reaching out to new customers and reaping incremental sales benefits.
Over the last three years, the number of dealers in the United States
increased 11.4%, reflecting success in a key element of the company’s
“More Feet on the Street” dealer expansion and enhancement initia-
tive that was launched nationally in 2000. The More Feet on the
Street initiative provides new opportunities through additions of
dealers and provides a means of enhancement for existing successful
Snap-on dealers through second vans and second franchises.
Snap-on expects to continue to invest in adding more second vans
and new franchise dealers in 2004 under this program.

Within the Commercial and Industrial Group, weak economic
conditions in 2003 continued to impact the sale of capital goods
equipment to vehicle repair shops and industrial tools to such
sectors as aerospace and aviation, general manufacturing and non-
residential construction. In addition, during the second quarter of
2003, Snap-on’s existing equipment distribution network was sup-
plemented with a new sales organization, the Technical Automotive
Group (“TAG”). The TAG direct sales group was created to enhance
Snap-on’s existing equipment distribution network and improve
long-term operating margins. The launch of the new TAG sales
organization led to a disruption in sales. Since its inception, how-
ever, sales, sales leads and gross margins have been increasing
sequentially each quarter, and this trend appears to be continuing
into 2004. Ongoing market challenges affected the Commercial and
Industrial Group throughout 2003, and it remains a difficult equip-
ment market, particularly for products in collision repair where the
price points are at the high end of Snap-on’s equipment portfolio.
Snap-on believes that the softness in the equipment markets of the
last three years is of a cyclical nature and that demand for capital
equipment worldwide will rebound. In the interim, Snap-on man-
agement will continue to evaluate the financial performance of
those businesses not earning acceptable financial returns.

The Diagnostics and Information Group’s December 2003
closure of its large-platform diagnostics facility was in response to a
marketplace preference towards smaller, handheld diagnostics
products, such as the company’s Scanner”, MODIS™ and Vantage"
products, where Snap-on believes it has leadership. The rapid



integration of products and operations of NEXIQ Technologies,
which was acquired in December 2002, has provided the company
with access to a new marketplace - diagnostics for heavy-duty
diesel trucks. Sales and operating income from this acquisition have
exceeded the company’s expectations to date, and management
believes there is significant potential for long-term worldwide
growth in this served marketplace.

The planned April 2004 closure of the two U.S. hand-tool
facilities is on track as of year-end 2003 and largely meeting man-
agement’s expectations, despite some minor inefficiencies related to
the transfer of production to other Snap-on facilities that occurred
in the fourth quarter of 2003. As of year-end 2003, more than 50%
of the equipment and related production has been moved to other
Snap-on facilities. It is estimated that manufacturing floor space in the
company’s heritage tool plants will be reduced by approximately
25% as a result of these actions, and response time and production
throughput is expected to increase significantly — on some items by
as much as 70% to 80%. As part of the transition, nearly 40% of the
stock-keeping units (“SKUs”) that were being made at these two
plants have been discontinued. Some of the discontinued items will
be available to customers as outsourced products, but a large
portion of the SKUs were deemed to have outlived their useful life
or have appropriate substitute products already available. This
should not result in any significant reduction in estimated future
sales and is expected to improve profitability.

Cash flow from operating activities remained strong in 2003.
After dividend payments, share repurchases, and funding $95.2 mil-
lion in pension obligations, cash flow was used to lower the
company’s net debt position. With only minimum debt repayment
obligations in 2003, the stronger cash flow resulted in a significant
increase in cash and cash equivalents at year-end 2003. Snap-on
lowered its ratio of total net debt (total debt less cash and cash equiv-
alents) to total invested capital (total net debt plus shareholders’
equity) to 19.0% at fiscal year-end 2003, compared with 29.2% at
fiscal year-end 2002. Cash flow priorities in 2004 will include the fund-
ing of the company’s continuous improvement initiatives, investments
in capital expenditures, payments of dividends and share repurchases.

In addition to improving operating profitability, the need to
drive continued improvements in working investment reduction is
another important priority for Snap-on in 2004. The company’s tar-
get is to improve its working investment turnover to four turns by the
end of 2005. At year-end 2003, working investment turnover was
3.2 turns. Substantial progress has been and continues to be made in
improving Snap-on’s asset utilization. Snap-on’s creativity before
capital emphasis as part of its Lean efforts resulted in capital spending

teams with doing what must be done to drive Operational Fitness
and bring greater levels of profitability now, as opposed to waiting
for the positive benefits that could come from a stronger economy.

Within this uncertain economic environment, the company is
focused on those things that it can control - expenses, working
investment and capital expenditures. Snap-on believes that applying
the principles of the Driven to Deliver framework will be key to
weathering tough economic times in the short term and building
sustainable profitable growth for the long term.

Based upon the accelerated continuous improvement actions
under way and some early signs of economic recovery late in 2003,
Snap-on expects to see a meaningful improvement in 2004 operating
performance. For full-year 2004, Snap-on expects continued steady
growth in demand for tools and handheld diagnostics by vehicle-
service technicians, as well as in the purchase of tools by its dealers.
With recent improving signs of economic recovery in North
America, Snap-on could achieve a modest level of sales improve-
ments in its more cyclical commercial and industrial businesses.
Snap-on’s assumptions for 2004 include maintaining its accelerated
pace of continuous improvement activity into 2004, and identifying
and implementing those actions and cost improvement initiatives
that will deliver improved cash flow and earnings. The company
expects that the continuous improvement actions taken during the
past year will lead to stronger operating margins going forward,
resulting in expected earnings of $1.80 to $2.20 per diluted share for
full-year 2004. This estimate, as well as other forward-looking state-
ments contained within this Annual Report, should be read in con-
junction with the Safe Harbor disclosures included at the end of this
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Highlights of Snap-on’s results of operations for the fiscal years
ended January 3, 2004 (fiscal 2003), December 28, 2002 (fiscal
2002), and December 29, 2001 (fiscal 2001), are as follows:

(Amounts in millions, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001
Net sales $2,233.2 $2,109.1 $2,095.7
Net earnings 78.7 106.0 19.0
Net earnings per share:

Basic 1.35 1.82 0.33
Diluted 1.35 1.81 0.33

The following table is intended to illustrate certain Consolidated

Statement of Earnings data as a percentage of net sales:

e e 2003 2002 2001
of $29.4 million in 2003 compared to $45.8 million in 2002.

The economic rebound that appeared in the U.S. Gross Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Domestic Product (“GDP”) figures released in late 2003 did not Cost of goods sold 56.8% 54.3% 54.7%
bri . ) . - Gross profit 43.2% 45.7% 45.3%

ring much improvement to Snap-on’s cyclically sensitive 1
. . . V 0 0,
businesses until late in the fourth quarter of 2003. Snap-on’s man- Operating expenses 38.4% 38.1% 42.9%
: : . Net finance income 2.0% 1.8% 1.7%
agement believes that, overall, any recovery remains fragile. As a : ;
Operating earnings 6.7% 9.4% 4.1%

result, Snap-on management continues to challenge its operating
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Snap-on’s 2002 and 2001 fiscal years each contained 52 weeks
of operating results. Snap-on’s 2003 fiscal year contained 53 weeks of
operating results, with the additional week occurring in the fourth
quarter. The impact of the additional week of operations on 2003
operating results was not material.

Net Sales: Net sales in 2003 were $2.233 billion, up 5.9% from the
$2.109 billion reported in 2002. The $124.1 million increase in year-
over-year net sales was primarily driven by $111.8 million, or 5.3%,
of favorable currency translation and a 0.6% increase in sales,
including 0.5% from acquisitions.

Net sales in 2002 were $2.109 billion, up 0.6% from the
$2.096 billion in 2001. The increase in year-over-year net sales was
attributable to 0.8% of favorable currency translation, partially off-
set by a 0.2% decline in organic sales, which reflected the weakened
economic conditions that continued from 2001. Snap-on defines
organic sales growth as the change in year-over-year sales, excluding
the impact of acquisitions, divestitures and currency translation.
The impact of acquisitions on 2002 net sales was minimal.

Snap-on had product sales in the following geographic regions:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
United States $1,339.0 $1,358.7 $1,360.0
Europe 659.3 547.0 5375
All other 234.9 203.4 198.2
Total net sales $2,233.2 $2,109.1 $2,095.7

Net Earnings: Snap-on reported net earnings in 2003 of $78.7 mil-
lion, or $1.35 per diluted share, as compared to net earnings of
$106.0 million, or $1.81 per diluted share, in 2002. Snap-on’s earnings
in 2003 included $30.1 million in pretax charges for the company’s
continuous improvement initiatives, as well as higher year-over-year
pension, other retirement and insurance costs of $22.2 million pretax,
excluding pension and postretirement curtailment gains and losses.
Snap-on’s earnings in 2003 also included pretax savings generated
from its restructuring and cost improvement initiatives of $31.8 mil-
lion partially offset by unfavorable manufacturing cost absorption
and net inventory-related costs of $7.9 million pretax and unfavor-
able sales mix and lower sales volumes. Snap-on recorded a cumu-
lative effect of a change in accounting principle transition adjustment
that increased net earnings in 2002 by $2.8 million, or $0.05 per
diluted share, from the recognition of negative goodwill as required
by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. For information on Snap-on’s
adoption of SFAS No. 142, refer to Note 8 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Snap-on’s net earnings in 2001 of $19.0 million, or $0.33 per
diluted share, were reduced by pretax charges of $120.4 million
($85.2 million after tax or $1.47 per diluted share) including
$62.0 million for restructuring and non-recurring charges and
$58.4 million for certain other items that included $44.0 million
principally for the resolution of a patent arbitration matter and
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$3.0 million of related legal costs, $7.4 million for costs related to the
termination of a European supplier relationship, and $4.0 million
for emissions-related bad debts. Net earnings in 2001 included a net
charge of $2.5 million, or $0.04 per diluted share, for the cumulative
effect of adopting SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative and
Hedging Activities. For information on Snap-on’s adoption of SFAS
No. 133, refer to Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Gross Profit: Snap-on reported gross profit of $964.7 million in 2003,
as compared to $964.9 million in 2002. Gross profit in 2003 benefited
from favorable net currency impacts of $33.0 million and savings
from restructuring and Operational Fitness activities of $15.6 million.
Gross profit in 2003 was negatively impacted by $25.8 million of costs
for continuous improvement initiatives, including costs of $19.5 mil-
lion related to the closure of the two U.S. hand-tool plants and costs
of $3.5 million for the closure of the company’s U.S. facility that
assembled large-platform diagnostics. The combination of unfavor-
able sales mix and lower sales volumes, particularly in the
Commercial and Industrial Group, partially offset by benefits from
favorable net pricing and sales of new products across all business
segments, reduced gross profit by approximately $6.8 million in 2003.
Unfavorable manufacturing cost absorption and inventory-related
costs, net of last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) benefits realized of $14.0 mil-
lion in 2003, also lowered full-year 2003 gross profit by $7.9 million.
Gross profit in 2003 was also adversely impacted by higher year-over-
year pension, other retirement and insurance costs of $7.3 million and
by plant inefficiencies of $1.0 million incurred in the fourth quarter
associated with the closure of the two hand-tool facilities.

Gross profit in 2002 was $964.9 million, up 1.7% from $949.0 mil-
lion in 2001. Gross profit in 2002 benefited from the success of new
product introductions, favorable net pricing and Operational Fitness
activities, including cost controls and improvements in manufactur-
ing operations. The unfavorable impact of cost increases and lower
production volumes associated with improving inventory turns in a
slow sales environment offset the impact of these improvements as
compared to the prior year. Additionally, gross profit in 2001 was
negatively impacted by $1.5 million for inventory write-downs
related to the termination of a European supplier relationship and by
$12.6 million in charges that included $2.3 million for inventory
write-downs associated with restructuring activities and $10.3 million
for inventory write-downs and warranty costs associated with the
exiting of a segment of the emissions-testing business.

Operating Expenses: Operating expenses were $858.4 million in 2003
compared to $804.3 million in 2002. The $54.1 million, or 6.7%,
increase in year-over-year operating expenses primarily includes
unfavorable net currency impacts of $35.7 million, higher pension,
other retirement and insurance costs of $14.9 million, excluding pen-
sion and postretirement curtailment gains and losses, $1.7 million of
higher costs for the More Feet on the Street dealer expansion and
enhancement initiative, higher research and development spending of
$2.7 million, and increased freight costs of $5.2 million. The year-over-



year increase in freight costs largely reflects the impact of inflationary
cost increases and a trend towards a higher number of smaller product
shipments to improve customer responsiveness. Operating expenses
in 2003 also included costs for continuous improvement initiatives of
$4.3 million, inflationary health care cost increases of $4.3 million,
$4.3 million in higher advertising and promotion expenses reflecting
increased catalog and racing promotion costs, costs of $2.4 million to
terminate certain life insurance programs, and $2.2 million in costs
related to a change in long-term incentive compensation to reflect a
higher percentage of restricted stock. The year-over-year operating
expense comparison was also impacted by the inclusion, in 2003, of
$5.1 million in operating expenses for the prior-year acquisition of
two business operations. These year-over-year increases were par-
tially offset by savings of $16.2 million from Snap-on’s restructuring
and Operational Fitness activities, gains of $2.8 million from the sale
of facilities, and lower bad debt expense of $5.7 million, including
the absence of $2.6 million incurred in 2002 for the write-down of a
receivable related to the closure of auto service centers associated
with a major retailer’s bankruptcy. In addition, the year-over-year
operating expense comparison benefited from the absence of costs
incurred in 2002 that included $3.0 million related to the resignation
of Snap-on’s former chief financial officer. Operating expenses in
2002 included $4.9 million for employee and equipment relocation
costs and professional fees to finalize the company’s fiscal 2001
restructuring actions and a net $4.6 million benefit from the favor-
able resolution of a patent infringement matter partially offset by a
provision for certain contractual matters.

Operating expenses were $804.3 million in 2002 as compared to
$898.1 million in 2001. The improvement in year-over-year operating
expenses included $56.9 million from the elimination of charges
incurred in 2001 that included $47.0 million for the resolution of an
arbitration matter and related legal costs, $5.9 million in operating
expenses for costs related to the termination of a European supplier
relationship and $4.0 million for emissions-related bad debts.
Operating expenses in 2001 also included $40.3 million in restructur-
ing and continuous improvement charges that included $27.1 million
for severance costs associated with the planned elimination of 796
salaried and hourly positions, $6.0 million for non-cancelable lease
agreements, $5.9 million for facility asset write-downs, and $1.3 mil-
lion for exit-related legal and professional services. In 2001, Snap-on
incurred $8.4 million for management transition costs associated
with the April 2001 retirement of Snap-on’s former president and chief
executive officer, and $0.7 million for equipment and employee relo-
cation costs associated with the facility consolidations. Savings realized
in 2002 from reduced discretionary spending and other cost reduction
initiatives, as well as savings from the fiscal 2001 restructuring actions,
were more than offset by increased spending for dealer expansion,
training and recruitment under the More Feet on the Street initiative,
higher net pension costs and higher spending for new product devel-
opment and other Profitable Growth initiatives. Operating expenses in
2002 included costs of $4.9 million for continuous improvement initia-
tives and a net $4.6 million benefit from the favorable resolution of a

ADVERTISING AND PROMOTIONS
(in $ millions)

RESEARCH AND ENGINEERING
(in $ millions)

60 60

50 51
50 50 w1l B B
40 40 - B
30 30 BB
20 20 B B
10 10 R B
0 0
'99 '00 '01 '02 03 '99 '00 '01 '02 03

patent infringement matter partially offset by a provision for certain
contractual matters. The improvement in year-over-year operating
expenses also included $15.1 million from the elimination of goodwill
and certain other intangible asset amortization. Snap-on adopted SFAS
No. 142 at the beginning of its 2002 fiscal year. SFAS No. 142 requires
the testing of goodwill and indefinite-lived assets for impairment, at
least annually, as compared to the past method of amortizing such
assets to expense on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. As a result of adopting SFAS No. 142, operating expenses for
post-2001 fiscal years do not include comparable costs for the amor-
tization of goodwill and certain other intangibles.

Research and engineering costs for the development of new and
improved products and process improvements are included in operating
expenses and do not include certain software development costs that
qualify for capitalization. In 2003, Snap-on filed 160 new patent
applications in connection with its development activities, resulting in
more than 3,000 active or pending patents at year end. Research and
engineering expenses totaled $59.8 million, $57.1 million and $54.6 mil-
lion in 2003, 2002 and 2001. In 2003, Snap-on introduced new and
improved products such as heavy-duty air hammers, high-performance
portable gas analyzers, diagnostic machines for vehicle evaporative
system diagnosis and leak detection, ultra-high performance tire
changers, wrenches that include the TECHWRENCH™ series of
torque wrenches and ratcheting combination wrenches, as well as a
variety of other productivity-enhancing power and hand tools. In
2002, Snap-on’s new product introductions included the MODIS sys-
tem, tool storage units — including the largest roll cab on the market,
a variety of productivity-enhancing power and hand tools, and a
versatile mid-rise lift and multi-fluid exchanger. New product sales,
defined as sales from products introduced during the last three years,
contributed approximately $575 million, or 26%, of total 2003 net
sales, compared with approximately $492 million, or 23%, of net
sales in 2002, and $304 million, or 15%, of net sales in 2001.

Operating Earnings: Snap-on’s operating earnings in 2003 were
$150.1 million, as compared to $198.3 million in 2002 and $86.6 mil-
lion in 2001. In addition to the year-over-year gross profit and
operating expense impacts discussed above, net finance income of
$43.8 million in 2003 was up $6.1 million as compared to $37.7 mil-
lion in 2002, primarily as a result of increased credit originations
and generally favorable interest rates. Net finance income was
$35.7 million in 2001.

2003 ANNUAL REPORT 23



Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Segment Earnings: Snap-on’s business segments include the Snap-on
Dealer Group, the Gommercial and Industrial Group and the
Diagnostics and Information Group. Snap-on evaluates the per-
formance of its operating segments based on segment net sales and
operating earnings. Snap-on began allocating restructuring and
other non-recurring charges to its reportable segments in fiscal
2003. As a result, all prior-year segment information presented
herein has been restated to conform to the 2003 presentation. For
information regarding the measurement of segment net sales and
operating earnings, as well as additional segment information, refer
to Note 18 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following discussion focuses on Snap-on’s segment net
sales and operating earnings by reportable segment.

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
TOTAL NET SALES:
Snap-on Dealer Group $1,073.2 $1,039.7 $1,041.3
Commercial and

Industrial Group 1,133.9 1,045.7 1,027.3
Diagnostics and

Information Group 309.0 334.4 321.2
Total segment net sales 2,516.1 2,419.8 2,389.8
Intersegment eliminations (282.9) (310.7) (294.1)
Total net sales $2,233.2 $2,109.1 $2,095.7

The following is a reconciliation of Snap-on’s segment operating
earnings to earnings before income taxes:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
OPERATING EARNINGS (LOSS):
Snap-on Dealer Group $ 70.2 $ 89.6 $108.1
Commercial and

Industrial Group 13.1 46.0 3.9
Diagnostics and

Information Group 23.0 25.0 (17.1)
Segment operating earnings 106.3 160.6 94.9
Net finance income 43.8 37.7 35.7
Arbitration resolution® - - (44.0)
Operating earnings 150.1 198.3 86.6
Interest expense (24.4) (28.7) (35.5)
Other income (expense) — net 9.0) (8.4) (3.5)
Earnings before income taxes $116.7 $161.2 $ 47.6

(a) In 2001, the $44.0 million cost incurred for the resolution of an arbitration matter was not
allocated to the reportable segments.

SNAP-ON DEALER GROUP

In the Snap-on Dealer Group, segment net sales were $1.073 billion
in 2003, up $33.5 million, or 3.2%, from $1.040 billion in 2002.
Currency translation contributed $26.5 million of the sales increase.
Higher year-over-year sales in the North American franchised
dealer operation and in the Snap-on Dealer Group’s international
markets, were partially offset by significantly lower sales of large
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platform-based diagnostics through the company’s technical repre-
sentatives (“tech rep”) organization. The sales growth in the North
American franchised dealer operation in 2003 reflects sales gains by
dealers to end-user customers - automotive technicians and
mechanics. In the Snap-on Dealer Group’s international markets,
sales were up $17.7 million year over year, including $16.3 million
from favorable currency translation.

In 2002, Snap-on began focusing its dealers on the importance
of better working capital management, including improving inven-
tory turns. Over the past 18 months, Snap-on’s sales growth was
constrained as dealers continued to improve their inventory turns.
End-market demand for tools and tool storage products in 2003
increased as sell-through by the dealers was up mid-single digits
when compared with 2002, despite the negative effect of severe
winter weather in certain parts of the United States that hindered
dealers’ sales activity in the first quarter of 2003.

Net segment sales in the Snap-on Dealer Group were $1.040 bil-
lion in 2002, compared with $1.041 billion in 2001. Steady U.S.
demand for tools by automotive technicians in 2002, along with the
successful launch of new products, including new handheld diagnos-
tics sales, was offset by weak demand for big-ticket diagnostics and
equipment sales through the company’s tech rep organization and
the efforts by Snap-on, beginning in 2002, to improve inventory
turns of its dealers, which curtailed U.S. dealer sales growth in the
second half of 2002. As a result, sales to U.S. dealers, which approx-
imated 75% of total Snap-on Dealer Group sales in each of the last
three years, were essentially flat year over year, as an increase in
sales in the first half of 2002 was offset by a decrease in sales in the
second half of the year. Sales increases in the U.K., Mexico, Japan
and Australia more than offset a sales decline in Ganada. Currency
translation had a negligible impact on 2002 sales.

Segment operating earnings for the Snap-on Dealer Group
were $70.2 million in 2003, compared to $89.6 million in 2002. As a
percentage of segment net sales, segment operating earnings were
6.5% for 2003, compared to 8.6% in 2002. Costs of $20.9 million for
continuous improvement initiatives and increased costs for pension,
other retirement and insurance of $11.1 million, lowered segment
earnings for the Snap-on Dealer Group in 2003. Higher year-over-
year freight and catalog costs of $5.0 million and $2.0 million,
respectively, as well as higher costs of $1.7 million for continued
investment in the More Feet on the Street initiative, also lowered
2003 operating earnings. Gosts incurred for the More Feet on the
Street initiative generally included higher dealer turnover costs to
address low-performing dealers, as well as higher costs for new
dealer training, recruiting and other expansion costs. Production
inefficiencies and other expenses of $1.0 million incurred in the
fourth quarter of 2003 associated with the relocation of production
from the two hand-tool plants also adversely impacted 2003 operat-
ing earnings. In 2003, benefits from productivity and cost savings
of $8.5 million, as well as benefits from favorable net pricing,
the success of new products, LIFO benefits realized from lower
inventory levels, along with lower year-over-year bad debts of
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$3.1 million, were partially offset by lower manufacturing cost
absorption and weakness in sales of large platform-based diagnostics
sold through the tech rep organization. Operating earnings in 2002
included a net benefit of $2.5 million from the favorable resolution
of a patent infringement matter and also included $1.9 million of
restructuring-related costs to complete 2001 restructuring initiatives.

Segment operating earnings for the Snap-on Dealer Group were
$89.6 million, or 8.6% of segment net sales, in 2002, as compared to
$108.1 million, or 10.4% of segment net sales, in 2001. In 2002,
segment operating earnings were adversely impacted by $34.4 million
primarily as a result of lower sales of large platform-based diagnostics
and equipment products and by $18.1 million related to lower sales
volumes experienced in the second half of the year, as well as by gen-
eral cost increases of $11.0 million. Segment operating earnings in
2002 were also adversely impacted by higher year-over-year net pen-
sion and bad debt expense of $4.0 million and $2.8 million, as well as
by higher spending of $15.8 million for Profitable Growth initiatives,
including $11.8 million for continued investment in the More Feet on
the Street initiative. Year-over-year segment operating earnings in
2002 included a benefit of $39.2 million from sales of new products
and $9.8 million from favorable net pricing. Productivity savings and
tighter control on discretionary spending contributed $9.3 million to
operating earnings in 2002 over 2001 levels, and operating earnings in
2002 also benefited by $1.4 million from the elimination of goodwill
and certain other intangible amortization. Year-over-year segment
operating earnings also benefited from lower restructuring and con-
tinuous improvement charges in 2002. In 2002, the Snap-on Dealer
Group incurred $1.9 million in costs for its continuous improvement
initiatives, as compared to $14.2 million of such costs in 2001.
Operating earnings in 2002 also included a net benefit of $2.5 million
from the favorable resolution of a patent infringement matter.

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL GROUP

In the Commercial and Industrial Group, segment net sales for
2003 were $1.134 billion, up 8.4% from $1.046 billion in 2002,
including favorable currency translation of $83.6 million. In 2003,
Snap-on realized higher year-over-year sales to new vehicle dealer-
ships under facilitation agreements, in which Snap-on provides
product procurement, distribution and administrative support to
customers for their dealerships’ equipment programs, and higher
sales of equipment for the European vehicle-service marketplace,
reflecting the success of new product introductions over the past
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three years. These increases in year-over-year segment net sales
were largely offset by sales declines in industrial tools, principally in
such sectors as aerospace, aviation, general manufacturing and non-
residential construction, and lower sales of power tools to the Snap-on
Dealer Group. In addition, lower sales of equipment in North
America, reflecting the sustained weak economic conditions in the
manufacturing and capital goods marketplace and the disruption
caused by the launch of the TAG direct sales organization in the
second quarter of 2003, also impacted the year-over-year sales
comparisons. Snap-on believes that the TAG organization will
enhance the company’s alignment of resources to provide better
sales coverage, training and service to its equipment customers.

Net segment sales in the Commercial and Industrial Group
increased 1.8% to $1.046 billion in 2002 from $1.027 billion in 2001,
largely due to favorable currency translations. Sales gains realized
from new product introductions and pricing increases in 2002 were
offset by the continued weak industrial demand for tools and capital
goods worldwide, leading to the generally flat year-over-year
organic sales performance. In 2002, sales gains were realized from
new product introductions, including higher sales of equipment in
Europe due to the success of new wheel aligners, along with
increased sales to new vehicle dealerships under facilitation agree-
ments, and higher sales of power tools to the Snap-on Dealer
Group. These increases were offset by lower sales of industrial tools
worldwide and equipment in North America.

Segment operating earnings for the Commercial and Industrial
Group were $13.1 million in 2003, down from $46.0 million in 2002.
As a percentage of net sales, segment operating earnings were
1.2% in 2003, as compared to 4.4% in 2002. Segment operating
earnings in 2003 were adversely impacted by $21.5 million from
lower volumes, general cost increases and unfavorable sales mix
(primarily lower sales of high-margin industrial tools and equip-
ment), including the impact related to the start-up of the new TAG
organization, partially offset by sales increases in the lower-margin
facilitation business. Segment earnings in 2003 were also lowered by
$9.3 million due to unfavorable manufacturing absorption and
inventory-related costs, net of LIFO benefits realized from lower
inventory levels, and costs of $5.6 million for continuous improve-
ment activities, including $2.6 million in shared costs related to the
closure of the two U.S. hand-tool facilities. Segment operating
earnings were also impacted in 2003 by $9.5 million in higher year-
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over-year costs for pension, other retirement and insurance, and by
$1.9 million for increased health care costs and costs to terminate
certain life insurance programs. In 2003, the Commercial and
Industrial Group also realized unfavorable year-over-year currency
impacts of $2.6 million from the sourcing of a significant portion of
its tool and equipment products from Sweden and Canada. Savings
of $16.8 million from restructuring and Operational Fitness activi-
ties partially offset these declines in year-over-year segment
earnings. In 2002, the Commercial and Industrial Group also
incurred $4.9 million of restructuring-related costs to complete its
2001 restructuring initiatives. Operating earnings in 2002 also
included a net benefit of $2.1 million from the favorable resolution
of a patent infringement matter partially offset by a provision for
certain contractual matters.

Segment operating earnings for the Commercial and Industrial
Group were $46.0 million in 2002, compared to $3.9 million in 2001.
As a percentage of segment net sales, operating margin in 2002
improved to 4.4% from 0.4% in 2001, primarily due to benefits of
$24.6 million realized in 2002 from the company’s restructuring and
Operational Fitness activities and by $17.5 million in lower year-over-
year costs for continuous improvement initiatives. In conjunction
with its Driven to Deliver framework, Snap-on began consolidating
its equipment operations in North America in 2001 with a focus
toward achieving improved operating margin. Segment operating
earnings in 2002 also benefited from the elimination of $9.3 million
in goodwill and other intangible amortization, favorable net pricing
of $4.8 million, higher new product sales of $21.3 million, favorable
currency impacts of $5.2 million and the absence of $1.9 million in
2001 for the write-off of receivables and the incurrence of legal costs
associated with the emissions-testing business. These improvements
in year-over-year segment operating earnings were partially offset
by general cost increases of $12.5 million and by $28.7 million due
to lower than anticipated sales and production volumes and the
related lower manufacturing cost absorption associated with inven-
tory reduction initiatives, as well as by higher costs for new product
development and growth initiatives of $2.8 million and increased
net pension expenses of $1.2 million. Operating earnings in 2002
also included a net benefit of $2.1 million from the favorable resolu-
tion of a patent infringement matter partially offset by a provision
for certain contractual matters.
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DIAGNOSTICS AND INFORMATION GROUP

Total net segment sales in the Diagnostics and Information Group
were $309.0 million in 2003, as compared with net segment sales of
$334.4 million in 2002. The $25.4 million, or 7.6%, decrease in
year-over-year net segment sales was primarily attributed to lower
intersegment sales, partially offset by favorable currency translation
of $10.1 million and incremental sales from NEXIQ Technologies.
Increased sales of handheld diagnostics were more than offset by a
decline in sales of equipment and large platform-based diagnostics
in North America, primarily in products sold through the Snap-on
Dealer Group’s tech rep organization. In addition, the Diagnostics
and Information Group transferred production of certain
European equipment products to the Gommercial and Industrial
Group, which reduced its intersegment sales for these products.

Total net segment sales in the Diagnostics and Information
Group were $334.4 million in 2002, up $13.2 million, or 4.1%, from
$321.2 million in 2001, including 1.1% from favorable currency trans-
lation. The year-over-year sales increase was primarily attributed to
strong demand for the company’s information-based products and
new handheld diagnostics equipment, such as the introduction of
MODIS in 2002 and a Color Graphing Scanner in 2001. In 2002, the
introduction of handheld products in the U.K. partially offset the
weak market demand for large platform-based diagnostics.

Segment operating earnings for the Diagnostics and
Information Group were $23.0 million in 2003, as compared to
$25.0 million in 2002. As a percentage of segment net sales, operat-
ing margin in the Diagnostics and Information Group was 7.4% in
2003, as compared to 7.5% in 2002. Savings of $7.3 million from pro-
ductivity, restructuring and cost reduction efforts, primarily from
the realignment of production capabilities in certain European
equipment lines, as well as benefits from favorable net pricing, new
product sales and LIFO benefits realized from lower inventory lev-
els, were more than offset by the combined net margin impact of the
lower sales volumes and lower manufacturing cost absorption.
Segment earnings in 2003 were also lowered by $3.6 million for con-
tinuous improvement activities, including $3.5 million incurred in
the fourth quarter of 2003 associated with the closing of the large-
platform diagnostics facility. In addition, year-over-year segment
earnings were lowered by higher costs for pension, other retirement
and insurance of $1.6 million, excluding pension and postretirement
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curtailment gains and losses. These net declines in year-over-year
segment earnings were partially offset by gains of $2.5 million from
the fourth-quarter 2003 sale of certain facilities. Segment operating
earnings in 2002 were lowered by $2.6 million for the write-down of
a receivable related to the closure of auto service centers associated
with a major retailer’s bankruptcy. Segment operating earnings in
2002 also included a benefit of $1.9 million from the reversal of
excess restructuring accruals.
Segment operating earnings for the Diagnostics and
Information Group were $25.0 million in 2002, as compared to a
segment operating loss of $17.1 million in 2001. Operating margin,
as a percentage of segment net sales, was 7.5% in 2002. Operating
loss, as a percentage of segment net sales, was 5.3% in 2001. The sig-
nificant increase in year-over-year segment operating earnings was
largely due to benefits of $10.8 million from the company’s 2001
restructuring initiatives and other ongoing cost-reduction efforts,
and $5.8 million from sales of new products. In 2001, Snap-on
incurred $25.4 million of costs for continuous improvement initia-
tives that included costs to realign production capabilities in certain
European equipment lines. Segment operating earnings in 2002 also
benefited from the absence of $7.4 million of costs incurred in 2001
for inventory write-downs, bad debts and legal expenses related to
the termination of a European supplier relationship and the absence
of $2.1 million of additional costs incurred in 2001 related to the
December 2000 announced exiting of an unprofitable segment of
the emissions-testing business. Segment operating earnings in 2002
were also favorably impacted by the elimination of $4.4 million in
goodwill and certain other intangible amortization in that year, and
by $1.9 million from the reversal of excess restructuring accruals.
These items were partially offset by a $2.6 million charge in 2002 for
the write-down of a receivable related to the closure of auto service
centers associated with a major retailer’s bankruptcy, $4.5 million in
general cost increases and $5.7 million in higher spending for new
product development and other Profitable Growth initiatives.

Net Finance Income: Net finance income consists of royalty and
management fees paid to Snap-on by Snap-on Credit LLC (“SOC”),
a 50%-owned joint venture, based on the volume of contracts origi-
nated by SOC and 50% of any residual net profit or loss of SOC
after operating expenses, including royalty and management fees,
interest costs and credit loss provisions. Net finance income also
consists of installment contract income and dealer financing
income, net of administrative expenses, derived from Snap-on’s
wholly owned international credit operations. Net finance income
includes gains on the sale of receivables when applicable.

Net finance income was $43.8 million in 2003, up $6.1 million
from $37.7 million in 2002. Higher credit originations and a more
favorable interest-rate environment contributed to the year-over-
year increase. Credit originations at SOC for 2003 increased 3.2%
from prior-year levels. Net finance income derived from Snap-on’s
wholly owned international credit operations totaled $13.4 million
in 2003 and $9.5 million in 2002.

Net finance income was $37.7 million in 2002, up from
$35.7 million in 2001. The year-over-year increase in net finance
income was a result of higher credit originations, primarily related to
the U.S. dealer business, along with improved year-over-year interest
rate spreads on originated loans. Credit originations at SOC for 2002
increased 9.0% from prior-year levels. Net finance income derived
from Snap-on’s wholly owned international credit operations totaled
$9.5 million in 2002 and $10.8 million in 2001. For information on
Snap-on’s credit joint venture and international credit operations,
refer to Note 9 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Exit or Disposal Activities: For a discussion of Snap-on’s exit and
disposal activities, refer to Note 4 of the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Interest Expense: Interest expense for 2003 was $24.4 million,
compared with $28.7 million in 2002 and $35.5 million in 2001. The
decline in interest expense over the last two years reflects the impact
of both lower average interest rates and significantly lower average
debt levels due to strong cash flow from operating activities.

Other Income (Expense): This income statement line item includes
the impact of all non-operating items such as interest income,
minority interests, hedging and exchange rate transaction gains and
losses, and other miscellaneous non-operating items. In 2003, other
income (expense)-net was an expense of $9.0 million, compared to
an expense of $8.4 million in 2002 and an expense of $3.5 million in
2001. Minority interests for 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $3.1 million,
$3.4 million and $2.7 million.

Income Taxes: Snap-on’s effective income tax rate was 32.6% in 2003,
35.4% in 2002 and 56.3% in 2001. Snap-on’s effective tax rate in 2003
was reduced by 2.5 percentage points from the conclusion of certain
prior-years’ tax matters. The 2001 effective tax rate was increased by
19.8 percentage points as a result of approximately $25 million of
restructuring and other expenses incurred in various foreign juris-
dictions that provided no tax benefit. For income tax information,
refer to Note 12 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fourth Quarter: Net sales in the fourth quarter of 2003 were
$599.3 million, up $49.8 million, or 9.1%, from $549.5 million in the
comparable prior-year period. Currency translation contributed
$33.4 million, or 6.1%, of the year-over-year increase in fourth-quar-
ter net sales, and incremental sales from acquisitions contributed
$3.2 million. Segment net sales in the Snap-on Dealer Group of
$275.4 million were up $11.6 million, or 4.4%, over $263.8 million of
sales in the fourth quarter of 2002, driven by higher sales in the
North American franchised dealer operation, partially offset by
lower sales of equipment and large platform-based diagnostics sold
through the tech rep organization. Snap-on’s franchised dealers in
the United States reported that their sales to end-use customers
increased at a high single-digit-rate for the quarter. This improvement
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in market penetration is believed to have largely resulted from
dealer expansions, primarily through second vans and franchises,
allowing dealers to reach new, and better serve existing, customers.

Segment net sales in the Commercial and Industrial Group
were $314.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2003, up $38.7 million,
or 14.0%, including $24.1 million, or 8.8%, from favorable currency
translation, as compared to $275.6 million of sales in the fourth
quarter of 2002. Increased sales in the company’s facilitation
business for new vehicle dealerships and an improving sales trend
for industrial tools in North America largely supported the year-
over-year sales increase. Weak economic conditions in Europe and,
at the beginning of the fourth quarter in North America, continued
to impact the sale of equipment to vehicle repair shops and the sale
of industrial tools in such sectors as aerospace and aviation, general
manufacturing and non-residential construction.

Segment net sales in the Diagnostics and Information Group
were $77.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2003, as compared to
$78.9 million in the comparable prior-year period. Growth in
sales of handheld diagnostics was more than offset by a market con-
traction in large platform-based diagnostics, primarily sold through
the Snap-on Dealer Group’s tech rep organization, and the impact
from transferring certain European equipment production to the
Commercial and Industrial Group, which reduced intersegment
sales for these products.

Snap-on’s 2003 fiscal year contained 53 weeks of operating
results, with the additional week occurring in the fourth quarter.
The impact of the additional week of operations on 2003 operating
results was not material.

Net earnings for the fourth quarter of 2003 were $17.3 million,
compared with $33.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2002. Earnings
per diluted share were $0.30 in the fourth quarter of 2003,
compared with $0.56 per share in the prior year. Operating earnings
for the fourth quarter were $35.3 million in 2003 compared with oper-
ating earnings of $61.3 million in 2002. The decline in year-over-year
fourth-quarter operating earnings reflects $11.9 million in higher costs
in 2003 for continuous improvement actions, including $6.2 million
for the closure of the two U.S. hand-tool plants and $3.5 million
for the closure of the large-platform diagnostics facility. Operating
earnings in 2003 were also adversely impacted by higher pension,
other retirement and insurance costs of $6.0 million, excluding pen-
sion and postretirement curtailment gains and losses. Lower sales and
performance in the company’s equipment businesses, particularly as
a result of lower sales of collision repair equipment, reduced fourth-
quarter 2003 earnings by approximately $6.0 million. Operating
results in the fourth quarter of 2002 included a net $4.6 million
benefit from the favorable resolution of a patent infringement matter
partially offset by a provision for certain contractual matters.

Fourth-quarter 2003 net earnings reflect savings from restruc-
turing and cost-reduction initiatives of $5.2 million, benefits of
$2.1 million from lower LIFO inventory reserves, net of inventory-
related write-offs and adjustments, lower bad debt expense of $3.0
million, and gains from sales of facilities of $2.8 million. These
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increases in year-over-year operating earnings were more than offset
by adverse currency impacts of $2.1 million, higher spending for
new product development of $1.3 million, higher freight and catalog
costs of $4.0 million, production inefficiencies associated with the
relocation of production from the two U.S. hand-tool facilities of
$1.0 million, and costs of $2.4 million to terminate certain life insur-

ance programs.

FINANCIAL CONDITION

Liquidity: Snap-on’s growth has historically been supported by a
combination of cash provided by operating activities and debt
financing. Snap-on believes that its cash from operations, coupled
with its sources of borrowings, are sufficient to support its antici-
pated requirements for working capital, capital expenditures,
restructuring and continuous improvement activities, acquisitions,
common stock repurchases and dividend payments. Due to
Snap-on’s credit rating over the years, external funds have been
available at a reasonable cost. At the end of 2003, Snap-on’s long-
term debt and commercial paper was rated A2 and P-1 by Moody’s
Investors Service and A and A-1 by Standard & Poor’s. Snap-on
believes that the strength of its balance sheet affords the company
the financial flexibility to respond to both internal growth opportu-
nities and those available through acquisition.

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Net cash provided by

operating activities $177.0 $224.1 $163.7
Decrease in debt (27.5) (113.9) (68.7)

In 2003, net cash provided by operating activities decreased
$47.1 million from prior-year levels. The year-over-year decrease in
net cash provided by operating activities in 2003 is due to lower
earnings of $27.3 million and $95.2 million of pension contributions
made in 2003, including a $78.2 million voluntary U.S. pension
contribution in the fourth quarter, compared to $13.1 million of pen-
sion contributions made in 2002. Based on current actuarial
assumptions, Snap-on expects that it will not need to make further
contributions to its U.S. pension plans until 2006. Snap-on used its
2003 cash flow principally to fund debt repayment, the cash require-
ments of its restructuring and continuous improvement activities
and internal growth opportunities, including new product develop-
ment, as well as share repurchases, dividend payments and pension
plan contributions. The year-over-year increase in net cash pro-
vided by operating activities from 2001 to 2002 is primarily due to
higher earnings in 2002 and better management of working capital
elements — particularly accounts receivable. Net cash provided by
operating activities in 2002 included a $44.0 million payment for the
December 2001 resolution of an arbitration matter.

The ratio of Snap-on’s total net debt to total invested capital
was 19.0% at January 3, 2004, compared to 29.2% at year-end 2002,
better than the company’s long-term target of 30% to 35%. The
improvement in this ratio reflects lower debt levels and increased
shareholders’ equity, including increases of $131.5 million from
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foreign currency translation, since December 28, 2002. This ratio
may vary from time to time as the company issues commercial
paper to fund seasonal working capital requirements and to the
extent that the company may use debt to fund acquisitions. Total
notes payable and long-term debt was $333.2 million at the end of
2003, as compared to $360.7 million at year-end 2002. Cash and
cash equivalents were $96.1 million at January 3, 2004, compared to
$18.4 million and $6.7 million at year-end 2002 and 2001. Total
shareholders’ equity at January 3, 2004, was $1.011 billion, up
$180.5 million from year-end 2002. The company’s total net debt to
total invested capital ratio at year-end 2001 was 37.6%.

In June 2003, Snap-on received proceeds of $5.1 million for
the termination of a $25 million interest rate swap that was a fair
value hedge for a portion of its $200 million, 6.25% long-term notes.
The $5.1 million is being amortized to income using the effective
interest rate method over the remaining life of the notes, which
mature on August 15, 2011. At the same time, Snap-on entered into
a new $25 million interest rate swap to hedge that same portion of
these notes.

At the end of 2003, Snap-on had commercial paper outstanding
denominated in U.S. dollars of $25.0 million compared to commercial
paper outstanding denominated in U.S. dollars of $25.0 million and
Japanese yen of $7.9 million at year-end 2002. Snap-on currently
anticipates that it will continue to have positive cash flow and debt
reduction for the foreseeable future and, as a result, commercial
paper borrowings at January 3, 2004, of $25.0 million are included
in Notes payable and current maturities of long-term debt on the accom-
panying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

At January 3, 2004, Snap-on had $408 million of multi-
currency revolving credit facilities that provide back-up liquidity for
its commercial paper programs. These facilities include a $200 mil-
lion, 364-day revolving credit facility with a one-year term-out
option that terminates on July 30, 2004. The term-out option allows
Snap-on to elect to borrow under the credit facility for an additional
year after the termination date. The company’s credit facilities also
include a five-year, $208 million revolving credit facility that termi-
nates on August 20, 2005. As of January 3, 2004, and December 28,
2002, Snap-on was in compliance with all covenants of its revolving
credit facilities and there were no borrowings under any revolving
credit facility. The most restrictive financial covenant requires that
Snap-on maintain a total debt to total capital (defined as total debt

plus shareholders’ equity) ratio that does not exceed 60%. The com-
pany’s total debt to total capital ratio, computed as defined by the
financial covenant, was 24.8% at January 3, 2004, and 30.3% at
December 28, 2002. At January 3, 2004, Snap-on also had an
unused committed $20 million bank line of credit that expires
August 1, 2004.

Average commercial paper and bank notes outstanding were
$59.2 million in 2003 and $189.6 million in 2002. The weighted-
average interest rate on these instruments was 1.2% in 2003 and
1.7% in 2002. As of January 3, 2004, and December 28, 2002,
commercial paper and bank notes outstanding had a weighted-aver-
age interest rate of 1.1% and 1.3%.

In August 2001, Snap-on issued $200 million of unsecured notes
pursuant to a $300 million shelf registration statement filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission in 1994. In October 1995,
Snap-on issued $100 million of unsecured notes to the public under
this shelf registration statement. The August 2001 notes require
semiannual interest payments at the rate of 6.25% and mature in
their entirety on August 15, 2011. The October 1995 notes require
semiannual interest payments at a rate of 6.625% and mature in their
entirety on October 1, 2005. The proceeds from these issuances were
used to repay a portion of Snap-on’s outstanding commercial paper
and for working capital and general corporate purposes.

At January 3, 2004, Snap-on had cash and cash equivalents of
$96.1 million and approximately $403 million of unused available
debt capacity under the terms of its revolving credit facilities and
committed bank line of credit.

Snap-on maintains sufficient credit facilities to cover its
expected funding needs on both a short-term and long-term basis.
Snap-on manages its aggregate short-term borrowings so as not to
exceed its availability under its revolving credit facilities and
committed line of credit. The company accesses short-term debt
markets, predominantly through commercial paper issuances, to
fund its short-term requirements and to ensure near-term liquidity.
Near-term liquidity requirements for Snap-on in 2004 include the
funding of its restructuring and continuous improvement initiatives,
investments in capital expenditures, payments of dividends and
share repurchases. As funding needs are determined to be of a
longer-term nature, Snap-on could access medium- and long-term
debt markets, as appropriate, to refinance short-term borrowings
and, thus, replenish its short-term liquidity. In 2005, Snap-on’s
funding requirements will include a $100.4 million scheduled
repayment of long-term debt. Snap-on’s long-term financing
strategy is to maintain continuous access to the debt markets to
accommodate its liquidity needs. For additional information on
Snap-on’s debt and credit facilities, refer to Note 10 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Working capital was $564.5 million at the end of 2003, an
increase of $65.9 million from $498.6 million at year-end 2002.

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Current assets $1,131.7 $1,051.0 $1,097.0
Current liabilities (567.2) (552.4) (549.4)
Working capital $ 5645 $ 498.6 $ 5476

The ratio of current assets to current liabilities at year-end
2003 was 2.0 to 1, compared with 1.9 to 1 and 2.0 to 1 at year-end
2002 and 2001.

Working investment decreased $47.0 million from year-end
2002, and $98.6 million from year-end 2001. The year-over-year
decreases in all periods presented primarily reflect the results of
Snap-on’s continued efforts to reduce working investment through
improved inventory turnover and reduced days sales outstanding.

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Accounts receivable — net of

allowances $ 546.8 $ 556.2 $ 572.8
Inventories 351.1 369.9 375.2
Less: Accounts payable (189.7) (170.9) (141.2)
Total working investment $ 7082 $ 755.2 $ 806.8

Accounts receivable — net of allowances decreased $9.4 million
in 2003, despite a $54.9 million increase from currency translation,
as compared with year-end 2002, due to Snap-on’s emphasis on
reducing days sales outstanding. As of the end of 2003, days sales
outstanding improved to 88 days from 95 days as of the end of 2002.
Accounts receivable — net of allowances decreased $16.6 million in
2002, despite a $24.0 million increase from currency translation, as
compared with year-end 2001. Bad debt write-offs in 2003 repre-
sented 5.2% of total average accounts receivable, compared with
5.7% in 2002 and 4.9% in 2001. At the end of 2003, Snap-on’s bad
debt allowance as a percentage of current accounts receivable was
7.6%, compared to 6.9% and 6.5% at the end of 2002 and 2001.

Inventories decreased $18.8 million from year-end 2002,
despite a $41.9 million increase from currency translation, and were
down $24.1 million from year-end 2001. The decrease in year-over-
year inventory levels in both years reflects Snap-on’s continued
focus on improving working investment levels. As a result of the
progress made in reducing its inventory levels, the company’s LIFO
reserve declined from $95.8 million at December 28, 2002, to $81.8
million at January 3, 2004. As compared to year-end 2002, inven-
tory turns (defined as cost of goods sold for the year, divided by the
average of the last four quarter-end’s inventory balances) have
improved from 2.9 turns to 3.5 turns at year-end 2003.
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Trade payables at year-end 2003 were $189.7 million, an
increase of $18.8 million from year-end 2002 and up $48.5 million
from 2001 levels.

Total shareholders’ equity at January 3, 2004, was $1.011 bil-
lion, an increase of $180.5 million compared with $830.4 million at
year-end 2002. Snap-on’s shareholders’ equity at year-end 2003 was
reduced by $31.6 million for the excess of accumulated pension
benefit obligations over the fair market value of plan assets, versus
a comparable $60.9 million reduction in shareholders’ equity at
year-end 2002. These reductions in shareholders’ equity resulted
from the combination of lower-than-expected returns on plan
investments and a decrease in both the discount rate used to
calculate pension obligations and the expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets. Snap-on currently expects that its 2004
worldwide pension expense will be approximately $4 million higher
than 2003 levels, excluding the impact of the $8.2 million curtail-
ment loss recognized in 2003 related to the closure of the two U.S.
hand-tool facilities. For additional information on Snap-on’s pen-
sion plans and assumptions, refer to Note 13 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Capital Expenditures: Capital expenditures in 2003 were $29.4 million,
compared to $45.8 million in 2002 and $53.6 million in 2001. The
declines in capital expenditures over the last two years reflects
focusing capital spending on investment in growth projects and the
benefits of continuous improvement and restructuring activities
that have reduced the manufacturing footprint. Capital expendi-
tures in all three years reflect new product, quality, and cost-reduction
capital investments, as well as ongoing replacements and upgrades
of manufacturing and distribution facilities and equipment.
Snap-on anticipates that 2004 capital expenditures will approximate
$40 million to $45 million, of which two-thirds is expected to be
used for investments relating to new products, quality enhancement
or cost reduction.

Depreciation and Amortization: Depreciation in 2003 was $58.2 mil-
lion, compared with $49.9 million in 2002 and $50.4 million in 2001.
Amortization expense was $2.1 million in 2003, $1.8 million in 2002
and $17.6 million in 2001. The decrease in 2003 and 2002 amortiza-
tion expense, as compared with 2001 levels, resulted from Snap-on’s
adoption of SFAS No. 142 at the beginning of its 2002 fiscal year. For
information on Snap-on’s adoption of SFAS No. 142, refer to Note 8
of the Consolidated Financial Statements.



Dividends: Snap-on has paid quarterly cash dividends, without
interruption or decline, since 1939. In the fourth quarter of 2003,
Snap-on’s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.25
per share. Cash dividends paid in 2003, 2002, and 2001 totaled
$58.2 million, $56.5 million and $55.6 million.

2003 2002 2001
Cash dividends paid
per common share $1.00 $0.97 $0.96
Cash dividends paid as
a percent of prior-year
retained earnings 5.5% 5.6% 5.3%

Stock Repurchase Program: Snap-on has undertaken repurchases of
Snap-on common stock from time to time to offset dilution created
by shares issued for employee and dealer stock purchase plans,
stock options, and other corporate purposes, as well as to repur-
chase shares when market conditions are favorable. During 2003,
Snap-on repurchased 450,000 shares of common stock for $12.5 mil-
lion under its previously announced share repurchase programs. In
2002 and 2001, Snap-on repurchased 405,000 shares and 400,000
shares. As of the end of 2003, Snap-on has remaining availability to
repurchase up to an additional $144.0 million in common stock
pursuant to the Board of Director’s authorizations. Snap-on expects
to accelerate its planned 2004 full-year share repurchases of
approximately 750,000 to 1,000,000 common shares. The purchase
of Snap-on common stock is at the company’s discretion, subject to
prevailing financial and market conditions.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments: A summary of Snap-on’s future contractual obligations and commitments as of January 3, 2004,

is as follows:

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Less Than 1t08 3tob More Than
(Amounts in millions) Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Contractual obligations:
Long-term debt $303.3 $ 03 $100.4 $ - $202.6
Operating leases 134.7 27.7 37.5 23.8 45.7
Purchase obligations 22.0 22.0 - - -
Total $460.0 $50.0 $137.9 $23.8 $248.3

At January 3, 2004, $14.1 million of loans originated by SOC have a primary recourse provision to Snap-on if the loans become

more than 90 days past due. For information on SOGC, long-term debt and operating leases see Notes 9, 10 and 17 of the Consolidated

Financial Statements.

Environmental Matters: Snap-on is subject to various federal, state
and local government requirements regulating the discharge of
materials into the environment or otherwise relating to the protec-
tion of the environment. Snap-on’s policy is to comply with these
requirements, and the company believes that, as a general matter,
its policies, practices and procedures are properly designed to pre-
vent unreasonable risk of environmental damage, and of resulting
financial liability, in connection with its business. Some risk of
environmental damage is, however, inherent in some of Snap-on’s
operations and products, as it is with other companies engaged in
similar businesses.

Snap-on is and has been engaged in the handling, manufacture,
use and disposal of many substances classified as hazardous or toxic
by one or more regulatory agencies. The company believes that, as
a general matter, its handling, manufacture, use and disposal of
these substances are in accordance with environmental laws
and regulations. It is possible, however, that future knowledge or
other developments, such as improved capability to detect
substances in the environment or increasingly strict environmental
laws and standards and enforcement policies, could bring into
question the company’s handling, manufacture, use or disposal of
these substances.

UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURE

SOC is an unconsolidated 50%-owned joint venture between
Snap-on and The CIT Group, Inc. (“CIT”). SOC was formed as a
limited liability corporation with member contributions totaling
$2.0 million, and commenced operations on January 3, 1999. SOC
provides a broad range of financial services to Snap-on’s U.S. dealer
and customer network and to Snap-on’s industrial and other
customers. Snap-on and CIT have identical voting and participating
rights and responsibilities in SOC. As of January 3, 2004, and
December 28, 2002, Snap-on’s equity investment in SOC totaled
approximately $6.8 million and $2.7 million.

As a result of establishing SOC, Snap-on effectively outsourced
to SOC its domestic captive credit function. Snap-on provides
extended-term financing internationally through its wholly owned
credit subsidiaries, the results of which are included in Snap-on’s
Consolidated Financial Statements. Snap-on receives royalty and
management fee income from SOC based on the volume of financ-
ings originated by SOC. Snap-on also shares with CIT ratably in
any residual net profit or loss of the joint venture after operating
expenses, including royalty and management fees, interest costs and
credit loss provisions. These amounts are included in Net_finance
income on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
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SOC sells substantially all of its originated contracts (through
asset-securitization transactions) on a limited recourse basis to CIT,
net of certain fees. SOC continues to service these contracts for an
estimated market rate-servicing fee. In 2003, SOC originated
contracts totaling $522.4 million, compared to $506.3 million in
2002 and $464.7 million in 2001.

Financial information regarding SOC loan originations for
2003, 2002 and 2001, and number of accounts outstanding as of

Snap-on’s exposure related to SOC as of January 3, 2004, was
the $6.8 million equity investment plus the recourse obligations
discussed above.

Based on information provided by SOC, summarized financial
information of SOC as of December 31, 2003, and 2002, and for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, is as follows:

At December 31,

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002
year-end 2003, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:
Gash and cash equivalents $ 4.2 $ 54
2003 2002 2001 Receivables — net of allowances 10.7 13.4
Originations: (Amounts in millions) Servicing receivables 8.6 7.6
Extended-credit receivables $381.8 $361.9 $343.6  Due from members 14.0 10.9
Equipment leases 38.6 40.1 47.7  Other assets 6.2 8.0
Dealer financing 102.0 104.3 734 Toial assets $43.7 $45.3
Total originations $522.4 $506.3 $464.7
Payable to members $13.2 $12.4
Number of accounts outstanding: Accruals for contract receivables sold 12.8 8.3
Extended-credit receivables 186,356 181,567 177484  Other accrued liabilities 2.1 8.6
Equipment leases 13,476 14,754 16,765  Short-term borrowings _ 11.0
Dealer financing 3,765 3,214 2,781 Members’ equity 13.6 5.0
Total 203,597 199,535 197,030 Total liabilities and members’ equity $43.7 $45.3
SOC strives to maintain strict credit standards and the contract Year Ended December 31,
receivables are generally secured by the underlying tools or equip-  (umounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
ment financed and other dealer assets. SOC establishes accruals for Revenues:
estimated credit loss for all contract receivables sold to CIT, and Gain on sale of
SOC’s credit losses on the sold contract receivables are limited to contract receivables $60.5 $55.7 $50.2
the extent of the accrual. At year-end 2003 and 2002, SOC’s accru- g - - ¢ fee income 105 9.0 8.3
als for estimated credit loss for contract receivables sold to CIT Other income 05 1.3 1.9
were $12.8 million and $8.3 million. SOC also establishes a prepay-
. Total revenues 71.5 66.0 60.4
ment accrual to cover estimated amounts due to CIT as a result of
early prepayments by customers on loans sold to CIT. Loan losses E
. L. xpenses:
on owned contract receivables were not material in any year. P
.. . . Royalty fees 234 22.8 20.9
Snap-on has credit risk exposure for certain loan originations .
. .. . Salaries and benefits 16.9 15.7 15.8
with recourse provisions against Snap-on. At January 3, 2004, and
- - Management fees 11.7 11.2 10.3
December 28, 2002, $14.1 million and $32.1 million of these loans,
. . . . Other 11.1 10.8 10.9
with terms ranging from six months to ten years, have a primary
recourse provision to Snap-on if the loans become more than Total expenses 63.1 60.5 579
90 days past due. The asset value of the collateral underlying these ~ Net income $ 84 $ 5.5 $ 2.5

recourse loans would serve to mitigate Snap-on’s loss in the event of
default. The estimated fair value of the guarantees for all fiscal-2003
loan originations with recourse as of January 3, 2004, was not material.
At December 28, 2002, SOC maintained a $25 million bank
line of credit for working capital purposes, of which Snap-on was a
60% guarantor and CIT was a 40% guarantor. Borrowings under
this facility totaled $11.0 million at December 28, 2002. SOC’s bank
line of credit expired May 31, 2003, and was not renewed. CIT and
Snap-on have agreed to fund SOC’s future working capital require-
ments on a 50/50 basis, with a combined maximum borrowing limit
not to exceed $24 million. As of January 3, 2004, there were no
outstanding amounts owed from SOC pursuant to this agreement.
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The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued
Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
(an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, Consolidated
Financial Statements) in January 2003. FIN No. 46 provides consoli-
dation guidance regarding the identification of variable interest entities
(“VIE”) for which control is achieved through means other than
through voting rights. FIN No. 46 provides guidance in determining
if a business enterprise is the primary beneficiary of a VIE and
whether or not that business enterprise should consolidate the VIE
for financial reporting purposes. FIN No. 46 applies to a VIE in which
equity investors of the VIE, if any, do not have the characteristics



of a controlling interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for
the VIE to finance its activities independently. FIN No. 46 requires
each enterprise involved with a special purpose entity to determine
whether it provides financial support to the special purpose entity
through a variable interest. Variable interests may arise from finan-
cial instruments, service contracts, minority ownership interests or
other arrangements. If an entity holds a majority of the variable
interests, or a significant variable interest that is considerably more
than any other party’s variable interest, then that entity would be
the primary beneficiary and would be required to include the assets,
liabilities and results of operations of the special purpose entity in
its consolidated financial statements.

Since its issuance, the effective date of FIN No. 46 has been
deferred once, and FIN No. 46R, a modification to FIN No. 46, was
released in December 2003. FIN No. 46R delayed the effective date
for certain entities until no later than fiscal periods ending after
March 31, 2004, and also provided numerous technical clarifica-
tions to implementation issues. Based on the company’s analysis of
FIN No. 46R, the company has concluded that Snap-on is required to
consolidate SOC as of January 4, 2004, the beginning of Snap-on’s
fiscal 2004 first quarter.

MARKET, CREDIT AND ECONOMIC RISKS

Market risk is the potential economic loss that may result from
adverse changes in the fair value of financial instruments. Snap-on
is exposed to market risk from changes in both foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates. Snap-on monitors its exposure to
these risks and attempts to manage the underlying economic expo-
sures through the use of financial instruments such as forward
exchange contracts and interest rate swap agreements. Snap-on
does not use derivative instruments for speculative or trading pur-
poses. Snap-on’s broad-based business activities help to reduce the
impact that volatility in any particular area or related areas may
have on its operating earnings as a whole. Snap-on’s management
takes an active role in the risk management process and has devel-
oped policies and procedures that require specific administrative
and business functions to assist in the identification, assessment and
control of various risks.

Foreign Currency Risk Management: Snap-on has significant
international operations and is subject to certain risks inherent
with foreign operations that include currency fluctuations and restric-
tions on movement of funds. Foreign exchange risk exists to the extent
that Snap-on has payment obligations or receipts denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency. To manage these
exposures, Snap-on identifies naturally offsetting positions and then
purchases hedging instruments to protect the residual net exposures.
Snap-on’s financial position and results of operations have not been
materially affected by such events to date. For additional information,
refer to Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Interest Rate Risk Management: Snap-on’s interest rate risk
management policies are designed to reduce the potential volatility

of earnings that could arise from changes in interest rates. Through
the use of interest rate swaps, Snap-on aims to stabilize funding
costs by managing the exposure created by the differing maturities
and interest rate structures of Snap-on’s assets and liabilities. For
additional information, refer to Note 11 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Snap-on utilizes a Value-at-Risk (“VAR”) model to determine
the potential one-day loss in the fair value of its interest rate and
foreign exchange-sensitive financial instruments from adverse
changes in market factors. The VAR model estimates were made
assuming normal market conditions and a 95% confidence level.
Snap-on’s computations are based on the inter-relationships among
movements in various currencies and interest rates (variance/
co-variance technique). These inter-relationships were determined
by observing interest rate and foreign currency market changes over
the preceding quarter.

The estimated maximum potential one-day loss in fair value,
calculated using the VAR model, at January 3, 2004, was $1.0 mil-
lion on interest rate-sensitive financial instruments and $0.6 million
on foreign currency-sensitive financial instruments. The VAR model
is a risk management tool and does not purport to represent actual
losses in fair value that will be incurred by Snap-on, nor does it
consider the potential effect of favorable changes in market factors.

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the possibility of loss from a customer’s
failure to make payments according to contract terms. Prior to grant-
ing credit, each customer is evaluated, taking into consideration the
borrower’s financial condition, collateral, debt-servicing capacity, past
payment experience, credit bureau information and other financial
and qualitative factors that may affect the borrower’s ability to repay.
Specific credit reviews and standard industry credit scoring models are
used in performing this evaluation. Loans that have been granted are
typically monitored through an asset-quality-review process that
closely monitors past due accounts and initiates collection actions
when appropriate. In addition to its direct credit risk exposure, Snap-on
also has credit risk exposure for certain SOC loan originations with
recourse provisions against Snap-on. At January 3, 2004, $14.1 million
of loans originated by SOC have a recourse provision to Snap-on if the
loans become more than 90 days past due. For additional information
on SOG, refer to the section entitled Unconsolidated foint Venture in
this Management’s Discussion and Analysis and to Note 9 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Economic Risk: Economic risk is the possibility of loss resulting
from economic instability in certain areas of the world. Snap-on
continually monitors its exposure in these markets. Snap-on’s
Commercial and Industrial Group includes a hand-tool manufactur-
ing facility in Argentina with net assets of approximately $10.0 million
as of January 3, 2004. Due to economic instability in Argentina,
Snap-on resized its operations there in 2001 and will continue to
assess Argentina’s economic situation to determine if any future
actions or impairment write-downs are warranted.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

As a result of the above market, credit and economic risks, net
income and revenues in any particular period may not be represen-
tative of full-year results and may vary significantly from year to
year and from quarter to quarter. Inflation has not had a significant
impact on the company.

OTHER MATTERS

Acquisitions: In 2002, Snap-on acquired full ownership of two
business operations for $7.9 million. The purchase price paid plus
the liabilities assumed exceeded the fair value of the tangible and
intangible assets acquired by approximately $3.7 million. In 2001,
Snap-on incurred acquisition costs of $0.9 million related to the
finalization of its fiscal 2000 acquisitions. Each of the acquisitions
provided Snap-on with a complementary product line, new
customer relationships, access to additional distribution and/or an
extended geographic reach. Pro forma financial information has not
been presented as the effects of these businesses, individually and in
the aggregate, were not material.

Government Contract Matters: Snap-on has government contracts
with federal departments and agencies, two of which are presently
under audit by the U.S. General Services Administration. The two
contracts involve sales from March 1996 through February 2001,
and sales since February 2001. The primary focus of these audits
concerns the interpretation and application of the price reduction
provisions of these contracts.

On February 6, 2004, Snap-on received a letter from the
Department of Justice indicating that they were seeking to discuss
these audit findings with Snap-on before taking any further action.
On March 2, 2004, the government provided Snap-on with their
claim estimate of approximately $12 million for billing discrepancies
relating to the audited contract periods from July 1997 through
May 2002. Additional amounts could be claimed by the government
for contract periods not covered by these audits. Snap-on intends to
continue discussions with the government in an effort to advance its
positions with respect to the government’s claims. At this time,
Snap-on cannot predict the period of time any discussions will take,
or the outcome or specific consequences of these matters, which
could include settlement, civil litigation by the government to
recover treble damages and other penalties under the False Claims
Act, as well as suspension or debarment from future government
business or other legal or administrative action. Should the govern-
ment prevail in these matters, the impact on Snap-on’s results of
operations would be material.

ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, see Notes 2
and 9 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements and related notes contain
information that is pertinent to management’s discussion and
analysis. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclo-
sure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. These estimates are generally based on
historical experience, current conditions and on various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circum-
stances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
available from other sources, as well as identifying and assessing
our accounting treatment with respect to commitments and contin-
gencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Snap-on
considers the following policies to be the most critical in under-
standing the judgments that are involved in the preparation of the
company'’s consolidated financial statements and the uncertainties
that could impact the company’s financial position, results of opera-
tions and cash flows.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts: Snap-on’s accounts receivable are
reported net of estimated bad debt allowances, which are
regularly evaluated by management for adequacy. The evaluations
take into consideration various financial and qualitative factors that
may affect the customers’ ability to pay. These factors may include
the customers’ financial condition, collateral, debt-servicing
capacity, past payment experience and credit bureau information.
Snap-on regularly reviews the estimation process and adjusts the
allowances as appropriate. It is possible, however, that the accuracy
of Snap-on’s estimation process could be adversely impacted if the
financial condition of its customers were to deteriorate. Snap-on’s
accounts receivable do not represent significant concentrations
of credit risk because of the diversified portfolio of individual
customers and geographical areas.

Inventory Valuation: Snap-on values its inventory at the lower of cost
or market and adjusts for the value of inventory that is estimated to
be excess, obsolete or otherwise unmarketable. Inventory adjustments
for raw materials are largely based on analysis of raw material age
and actual physical inspection of raw material for fitness for use. As
part of evaluating work-in-progress and finished goods, management
reviews individual product SKUs by product category and product life
cycle. Cost adjustments for each product category/product life cycle
stage are generally established and maintained based on a combination
of historical experience, forecasted sales and promotions, technolog-
ical obsolescence, inventory age and other actual known conditions
and circumstances. Should actual product marketability and raw
material fitness for use be affected by conditions that are different
from management estimates, further adjustments may be required.



Warranty Accruals: Snap-on provides product warranties for specific
product lines and accrues for estimated future warranty costs in the
period in which the sale is recorded. Snap-on calculates its accrual
requirements based on historic warranty loss experience that is
periodically adjusted for recent actual experience; including the
timing of claims during the warranty period and actual costs
incurred. For additional analysis of Snap-on’s warranty accrual,
refer to Note 17 of the Gonsolidated Financial Statements.

Pension Benefits: The calculation of Snap-on’s pension expense and
projected benefit obligation requires the use of a number of assump-
tions. Changes in these assumptions are primarily influenced by
factors outside of Snap-on’s control and can have a significant effect
on the amounts reported in the financial statements. Snap-on
believes that the two most critical assumptions are the expected
return on plan assets and the assumed discount rate.

For a discussion of the development of Snap-on’s expected
return on plan assets assumption, refer to Note 13 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Pension expense increases as
the expected rate of return on plan assets decreases. Lowering the
expected rate of return assumption for Snap-on’s domestic pension
plan assets by 0.5% would increase Snap-on’s 2004 domestic pension
expense by approximately $3 million. At year-end 2003, Snap-on’s
domestic plan assets comprised approximately 92% of Snap-on’s
worldwide pension plan assets.

Snap-on establishes the domestic discount rate using the
current rates earned on long-term bonds with a Moody’s Aa rating.
Pension expense and projected benefit obligation both increase as
the discount rate is reduced. Lowering Snap-on’s domestic discount
rate assumption by 0.5% would increase Snap-on’s 2004 domestic
pension expense and projected benefit obligation by approximately
$4 million and $40 million, respectively. At year-end 2003, Snap-on’s
domestic projected benefit obligation comprised approximately
86% of Snap-on’s worldwide projected benefit obligation.

OUTLOOK
Snap-on will continue to emphasize the consistent and widespread
application of its Driven to Deliver strategic framework to reach its
targeted financial objectives. The company remains committed to
seeking opportunities for process improvements, through the use of
Lean tools, that Snap-on believes will enhance competitiveness and
customer responsiveness throughout its global organization.
Snap-on expects that first-quarter 2004 results will include
approximately $15 million in further continuous improvement
costs, including approximately $8 million of costs associated with
the two aforementioned U.S. hand-tool facilities closings, in order
to maintain its accelerated pace of activity. Lean and continuous
improvement activity levels will continue throughout the year, with
an estimated additional $8 million to $10 million of related costs
beyond the first quarter. However, in the second half of 2004,
Snap-on expects the profit benefits, from these and prior actions,
will begin to exceed such costs.

For full-year 2004, Snap-on expects continued steady growth in
demand for tools and handheld diagnostics by vehicle service tech-
nicians, as well as in the purchase of tools by its dealers.
Additionally, with improving signs of economic recovery in North
America, Snap-on anticipates that it could achieve a modest level of
sales improvements in its more cyclical commercial and industrial
businesses. Snap-on expects full-year 2004 reported earnings to be in
the range of $1.80 to $2.20 per diluted share, including the estimated
$0.25 to $0.28 per share in costs for continuous improvement actions.

SAFE HARBOR
Statements in this document that are not historical facts, including
statements (i) that include the words “expects,” “estimates)

”

“believes,” “anticipates;’” or similar words that reference Snap-on or
its management; (ii) specifically identified as forward-looking; or
(ii1) describing Snap-on’s or management’s future outlook, plans,
estimates, objectives or goals, are forward-looking statements. Snap-on
or its representatives may also make similar forward-looking
statements from time to time orally or in writing. Snap-on cautions
the reader that these statements are subject to risks, uncertainties or
other factors that could cause (and in some cases have caused)
actual results to differ materially from those described in any such
statement. Some of these factors are discussed below, as well as else-
where in this document, and in Snap-on’s Securities and Exchange
Commission filings.

Those important factors include the validity of the assumptions
and bases underlying such statements, and the timing and progress
with which Snap-on can continue to achieve savings from cost
reduction, continuous improvement and other Operational Fitness
initiatives; Snap-on’s capability to retain and attract dealers, effec-
tively implement new programs, capture new business, introduce
successful new products and other Profitable Growth initiatives;
Snap-on’s further success in scaling up its TAG operation; its ability to
weather disruption arising from planned facility closures; Snap-on’s
ability to withstand external negative factors including terrorist
disruptions on business; changes in trade, monetary and fiscal
policies, regulatory reporting requirements, laws and regulations, or
other activities of governments or their agencies, including military
actions and such aftermath that might occur; and the absence of sig-
nificant changes in inflation, the current competitive environment,
energy and/or steel supply or pricing, legal proceedings, supplier
disruptions, currency fluctuations or the material worsening of
economic and political situations around the world.

These factors may not constitute all factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those discussed in any forward-
looking statement. Snap-on operates in a continually changing business
environment and new factors emerge from time to time. Snap-on
cannot predict such factors nor can it assess the impact, if any, of such
factors on Snap-on’s financial position or its results of operations.
Accordingly, forward-looking statements should not be relied upon
as a prediction of actual results. Snap-on disclaims any responsibility
to update any forward-looking statement provided in this document.
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings

(Amounts in millions, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001
Net sales $2,233.2 $2,109.1 $2,095.7
Cost of goods sold (1,268.5) (1,144.2) (1,146.7)
Gross profit 964.7 964.9 949.0
Operating expenses (858.4) (804.3) (898.1)
Net finance income 43.8 37.7 35.7
Operating earnings 150.1 198.3 86.6
Interest expense (24.4) (28.7) (35.5)
Other income (expense) — net (9.0) (8.4) (8.5)
Earnings before income taxes 116.7 161.2 47.6
Income taxes 38.0 58.0 26.1
Earnings before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 78.7 103.2 21.5
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax - 2.8 (2.5)
Net earnings $ 787 $ 106.0 $ 19.0
Net earnings per share - basic

Earnings before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ 135 $ 177 $ .37

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax - .05 (.04)
Net earnings per share - basic $ 135 $  1.82 $ .33
Net earnings per share - diluted

Earnings before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ 135 $ 176 $ .37

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax - .05 (.04)
Net earnings per share - diluted $ 135 $ 181 $ .33
Weighted-average shares outstanding

Basic 58.2 58.2 57.9

Effect of dilutive options 0.2 0.3 0.2

Diluted 58.4 58.5 58.1

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

January 3, December 28,

(Amounts in millions, except share data) 2004 2002
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 961 $ 184
Accounts receivable — net of allowances 546.8 556.2
Inventories 351.1 369.9
Deferred income tax benefits 714 56.4
Prepaid expenses and other assets 66.3 50.1
Total current assets 1,131.7 1,051.0
Property and equipment - net 328.6 330.2
Deferred income tax benefits 16.1 60.9
Goodwill 417.6 366.4
Other intangibles — net 69.5 65.7
Other assets 175.0 119.9
Total assets $2,138.5 $1,994.1
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 189.7 $ 170.9
Notes payable and current maturities of long-term debt 30.2 56.4
Accrued benefits 35.3 40.1
Accrued compensation 49.2 444
Dealer deposits 49.9 46.1
Deferred subscription revenue 20.6 42.5
Income taxes 20.1 29.8
Other accrued liabilities 172.2 122.2
Total current liabilities 567.2 552.4
Long-term debt 303.0 304.3
Deferred income taxes 34.3 33.6
Retiree health care benefits 89.3 94.0
Pension liabilities 74.2 136.6
Other long-term liabilities 59.6 42.8
Total liabilities 1,127.6 1,163.7
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock - authorized 15,000,000 shares of $1 par value; none outstanding - -
Common stock - authorized 250,000,000 shares of $1 par value;

issued 66,956,246 and 66,897,506 shares 67.0 66.9
Additional paid-in capital 94.5 72.9
Retained earnings 1,084.7 1,064.2
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 38.6 (123.8)
Grantor stock trust at fair market value - 5,007,809 and 5,321,977 shares (159.2) (147.5)
Treasury stock at cost — 3,774,764 and 3,326,462 shares (114.7) (102.3)
Total shareholders’ equity 1,010.9 830.4
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $2,138.5 $1,994.1

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income

Accumulated

Common Common Additional Other Grantor Total
Stock Stock Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Stock Treasury  Shareholders’
(Amounts in millions, except share data) Shares Amount Capital Earnings  Income (Loss) Trust Stock Equity
Balance at December 30, 2000 66,789,090 $66.8 $71.6  $1,051.3 $(87.2) $(179.6) $ (78.9)| $ 844.0
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net earnings for 2001 19.0 19.0
Foreign currency translation (29.9) (29.9)
Mark to market for cash flow hedges, net
of tax of $0.7 million(unrealized holding
losses of $2.4 million net of reclassifications
to net income of $0.4 million) 2.0) (2.0)
Minimum pension liability 1.5) (1.5)
Total comprehensive loss (14.4)
Cash dividends — $0.96 per share (55.6) (55.6)
Dividend reinvestment plan 47,650 1.3 13
Stock compensation plans 10,367 0.3 0.3
Grantor stock trust — 458,888 shares 10.4 10.4
Share repurchase, net of
reissuance — 400,000 shares (11.2) (11.2)
Tax benefit from certain stock options 1.0 1.0
Adjustment of grantor stock trust to
fair market value 33.8 (33.8) -
Balance at December 29, 2001 66,847,107 66.8 108.0  1,014.7 (120.6)  (203.0)  (90.1) 775.8
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net earnings for 2002 106.0 106.0
Foreign currency translation 55.5 55.5
Mark to market for cash flow hedges, net
of tax of $1.0 million (unrealized holding
losses of $2.5 million net of reclassifications
to net income of $1.2 million) (1.3) (1.3)
Minimum pension liability,
net of tax of $36.8 million (57.4) (57.4)
Total comprehensive income 102.8
Cash dividends — $0.97 per share (56.5) (56.5)
Dividend reinvestment plan 45,649 0.1 1.3 1.4
Stock compensation plans 4,750 1.4 14
Grantor stock trust — 661,468 shares 16.1 16.1
Share repurchase — net of
reissuance — 403,027 shares (12.2) (12.2)
Tax benefit from certain stock options 1.6 1.6
Adjustment of grantor stock trust to
fair market value (39.4) 39.4 -
Balance at December 28, 2002 66,897,506 66.9 729 1,064.2 (123.8)  (1475)  (102.3) 830.4
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net earnings for 2003 78.7 78.7
Foreign currency translation 131.5 131.5
Mark to market for cash flow hedges, net
of tax of $1.0 million (unrealized holding
gains of $1.1 million net of reclassifications
to net income of $0.5 million) 1.6 1.6
Minimum pension liability, net of
tax of $17.8 million 29.3 29.3
Total comprehensive income 241.1
Cash dividends — $1.00 per share (58.2) (58.2)
Dividend reinvestment plan 54,504 0.1 1.5 1.6
Stock compensation plans 4,236 0.1 0.1
Grantor stock trust — 314,168 shares 7.9 7.9
Share repurchase, net of
reissuance — 448,302 shares (12.4) (12.4)
Tax benefit from certain stock options 0.4 0.4
Adjustment of grantor stock trust to
fair market value 19.6 (19.6) -
Balance at January 3, 2004 66,956,246 $ 670 $94.5 $1,084.7 $38.6 $(159.2) $(114.7)| $1,010.9

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Operating activities
Net earnings $ 78.7 $106.0 $19.0
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash
provided (used) by operating activities:
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax - 2.8) 2.5
Depreciation 582 49.9 50.4
Amortization of goodwill - - 13.9
Amortization of other intangibles 2.1 1.8 3.7
Deferred income tax provision 9.9 33.5 5.4
Loss (gain) on sale of assets 0.2 (0.3) (0.1)
Loss (gain) on mark to market for cash flow hedges 1.6 (1.3) (2.0)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities,
net of effects of acquisitions:
(Increase) decrease in receivables 64.3 425 19.3
(Increase) decrease in inventories 60.7 25.8 18.9
(Increase) decrease in prepaid and other assets (68.9) 33.0 (19.8)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 44 22.1 (13.2)
Increase (decrease) in accruals and other liabilities (34.2) (86.1) 65.7
Net cash provided by operating activities 177.0 224.1 163.7
Investing activities
Capital expenditures (29.4) (45.8) (53.6)
Acquisitions of businesses — net of cash acquired 0.1 (7.9) (0.9)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 8.7 6.0 6.9
Net cash used in investing activities (20.6) (47.7) (47.6)
Financing activities
Payment of long-term debt 0.3) (1.9) (6.4)
Increase in long-term debt - - 200.4
Net decrease in short-term borrowings (28.9) (116.0) (255.1)
Purchase of treasury stock (12.5) (12.2) (11.2)
Proceeds from stock purchase and option plans 10.0 20.5 13.0
Proceeds from termination of interest rate swap agreement 5.1 - -
Cash dividends paid (58.2) (56.5) (55.6)
Net cash used in financing activities (84.8) (166.1) (114.9)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 6.1 14 (0.6)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 77.7 11.7 0.6
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 18.4 6.7 6.1
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $96.1 $ 18.4 $ 6.7
Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Cash paid for interest $24.1 $ 29.9 $32.3
Cash paid for income taxes 39.8 9.1 274
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1: NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Snap-on Incorporated (“Snap-on” or “the company”) was incorporated
under the laws of the state of Wisconsin in 1920 and reincorporated
under the laws of the state of Delaware in 1930. Snap-on is a leading
global innovator, manufacturer and marketer of high-quality tool,
diagnostic and equipment solutions for professional tool and equip-
ment users. Product lines include a broad range of hand and power
tools, tool storage, saws and cutting tools, pruning tools, vehicle
service diagnostics equipment, vehicle service equipment, including
wheel service, safety testing and collision repair equipment, vehicle
service information, business management systems, equipment
repair services, and other tool and equipment solutions. Snap-on’s
customers include automotive technicians, vehicle service centers,
manufacturers, industrial tool and equipment users and those
involved in commercial applications such as construction, electrical
and agriculture. Products are sold through Snap-on’s franchised
dealer van, company-direct, distributor and Internet sales channels.

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of consolidation and presentation: The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of Snap-on and its majority-owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated. Snap-on Credit LLC (“SOC”), a 50%-owned
joint venture with The CIT Group, Inc. (“CIT”), is accounted for
using the equity method. Snap-on and CIT have identical voting
and participating rights and responsibilities in SOC.

Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform
to the current-year presentation.

Fiscal year accounting period: Snap-on’s fiscal year ends on the
Saturday nearest December 31. The 2002 and 2001 fiscal years each
contained 52 weeks and ended on December 28, 2002, and
December 29, 2001. Snap-on’s 2003 fiscal year contained 53 weeks
and ended on January 3, 2004.

Use of estimates: The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and lia-
bilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.
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Revenue recognition: Snap-on recognizes revenues when all of the
following conditions are satisfied: (i) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists; (ii) the price is fixed or determinable; (iii)
collectibility is reasonably assured; and (iv) delivery has occurred
or services have been rendered. Snap-on establishes an accrual for
estimated future product returns in the period in which the sale is
recorded. Estimated returns are based upon past experience and
include assumptions of the expected return period, gross profit
margin, and volume of sales returns. Franchise fee revenue is recog-
nized as the fees are earned; such revenue was not material in any
year. Subscription revenue is deferred and recognized over the life
of the subscription.

Research and engineering: Research and engineering costs are
charged to expense in the year incurred. For 2003, 2002 and 2001,
research and engineering costs totaled $59.8 million, $57.1 million
and $54.6 million.

Shipping and handling: Amounts billed to customers for shipping
and handling are included as a component of sales. Costs incurred
by Snap-on for shipping and handling are generally included as a
component of cost of goods sold when the costs relate to manufac-
turing activities. In 2003, 2002 and 2001, Snap-on incurred shipping
and handling charges of $10.9 million, $11.1 million and $11.2 mil-
lion that were recorded in Cost of goods sold on the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Shipping and handling costs
incurred in conjunction with selling or distribution activities are
generally included as a component of operating expenses. In 2003,
2002 and 2001, Snap-on incurred shipping and handling charges
of $46.2 million, $41.0 million and $41.9 million that were recorded
in Operating expenses on the accompanying Gonsolidated Statements
of Earnings.

Advertising and promotion: Production costs of future media
advertising are deferred until the advertising occurs. All other
advertising and promotion costs are generally expensed when
incurred. For 2003, 2002 and 2001, advertising and promotion
expense totaled $51.0 million, $46.7 million and $47.6 million.

Warranties: Snap-on provides product warranties for specific
product lines and accrues for estimated future warranty costs in
the period in which the sale is recorded. Refer to Note 17 for
additional information.

Foreign currency translation: The financial statements of Snap-on’s
foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 52,
Foreign Currency Translation. Assets and liabilities of foreign sub-
sidiaries are translated at current rates of exchange, and income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rate for
the period. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded



directly into Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Foreign exchange
transactions resulted in pretax losses of $6.6 million in 2003,
$4.4 million in 2002 and $6.5 million in 2001. Foreign exchange
transaction gains and losses are reported in Other income (expense) —
net in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

Income taxes: Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary
differences arising from differences in bases of assets and liabilities
for tax and financial reporting purposes. Deferred income taxes are
recorded on temporary differences at the tax rate expected to be in
effect when the temporary differences reverse. Refer to Note 12 for
additional information.

Net finance income: Net finance income consists of royalty and
management fees received from SOC based on the volume of
financings originated by SOC. Snap-on also shares with CIT ratably
in any residual net profit or loss of the joint venture after operating
expenses, including royalty and management fees, interest costs and
credit loss provisions. Net finance income also consists of install-
ment contract income and dealer loan receivable income, net of
administrative expenses, derived from Snap-on’s wholly owned
international credit operations, and which totaled $13.4 million in
2003, $9.5 million in 2002 and $10.8 million in 2001. Net finance
income includes gains on the sale of receivables when applicable.
Refer to Note 9 for additional information.

Minority interest: Minority interest in income of consolidated
subsidiaries for 2003, 2002 and 2001 totaled $3.1 million, $3.4 mil-
lion and $2.7 million and is included in Other income (expense) — net
on the accompanying Gonsolidated Statements of Earnings. At the
end of 2003 and 2002 minority interest in subsidiaries totaled $16.0
million and $15.5 million and is included in Other long-term Liabilities
on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Derivatives: Snap-on utilizes derivative financial instruments,
including interest rate swaps and foreign exchange contracts, to
manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency exchange
rate risks. Snap-on accounts for its derivatives in accordance with
SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities, as amended by SFAS No. 138 and SFAS No. 149. Snap-on
does not hold or issue financial instruments for speculative or
trading purposes. Refer to Note 11 for additional information.

Per share data: Basic earnings per share calculations were computed
by dividing net earnings by the corresponding weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding for the period. The dilutive
effect of the potential exercise of outstanding options to purchase

common shares is calculated using the treasury stock method.
Snap-on had dilutive shares as of year-end 2003, 2002 and 2001, of
171,395 shares, 271,051 shares and 241,557 shares. Options to pur-
chase 3,694,950 shares, 2,668,711 shares and 3,008,596 shares of
Snap-on common stock at year-end 2003, 2002 and 2001 were not
included in the computation of diluted earnings per share as the
exercise prices of the options was greater than the average market
price of the common stock for the respective year and, as a result,
the effect on earnings per share would be anti-dilutive.

Stock-based employee compensation arrangements: Snap-on has
various stock-based employee compensation plans. In December
2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued
SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and
Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123. SFAS No. 148
amends SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to pro-
vide alternative methods of transition to the fair value method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation and also amends
the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123. Snap-on will continue to
account for its stock-based employee compensation under Accounting
Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees. Refer to Note 15 for additional information.

Concentrations: Snap-on is exposed to credit losses in the event of
non-performance by the counterparties to its interest rate swap and
foreign exchange contracts. Snap-on does not obtain collateral or
other security to support its financial instruments subject to credit
risk, but monitors the credit standing of the counterparties and
enters into agreements only with financial institution counterparties
with a credit rating of A- or better. Snap-on does not anticipate
non-performance by its counterparties.

Snap-on’s accounts receivable do not represent significant
concentrations of credit risk because of the diversified portfolio of
individual customers and geographic areas.

Approximately 4,400 employees, or 35% of Snap-on’s worldwide
workforce, are represented by unions and/or covered under collective
bargaining agreements. Of these, approximately 2,900 employees
are covered under an agreement expiring in 2004, including approx-
imately 400 covered employees as of January 3, 2004, affected by the
planned closure of two of the company’s U.S. hand-tool facilities in
2004. In recent years, Snap-on has not experienced any significant
work slow-downs, stoppages or other labor disruptions.

Cash equivalents: Snap-on considers all highly liquid investments
with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equiva-
lents. Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates
market value.

Inventories: Inventories consist of manufactured products and
merchandise for resale. Manufactured products include the costs of
materials, labor and manufacturing overhead. Most of Snap-on’s
inventories are valued at the lower of cost, on the first-in, first-out
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(“FIFO”) basis, or market. Remaining inventories are generally
valued at cost, on the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) basis. Inventories
accounted for using the FIFO basis represented 69% and 65% of
total gross inventories on January 3, 2004, and December 28, 2002,
respectively. Refer to Note 6 for additional information.

Property and equipment: Property and equipment is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amor-
tization are provided on a straight-line basis over estimated useful
lives. Major repairs that extend the useful life of an asset are capital-
ized, while routine maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.
Capitalized software included in property and equipment reflects costs
related to internally developed or purchased software for internal use
and is amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. Development costs for computer software to be sold, leased or
otherwise marketed externally are also capitalized once technological
feasibility has been achieved and are amortized on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. Capitalized software is subject
to an ongoing assessment of recoverability based upon anticipated
future revenues and identified changes in hardware and software
technologies. Refer to Note 7 for additional information.

On December 30, 2001, the beginning of its 2002 fiscal year,
Snap-on adopted SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, which supersedes SFAS No. 121,
Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and_for Long-Lived
Assets to be Disposed Of SFAS No. 144 provides a single accounting
model for long-lived assets to be disposed of. The effect of this
change in accounting principle was not material to Snap-on’s finan-
cial position or results of operations.

Goodwill and other intangible assets: Snap-on adopted SFAS No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets at the beginning of its 2002 fiscal
year. SFAS No. 142 requires the testing of goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets for impairment, at least annually, as compared
to the past method of amortizing such assets to expense on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives. Snap-on evaluates
annually, and as events arise, the existence of goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible asset impairment on the basis of whether the assets
are fully recoverable from projected, discounted cash flows of the
related business unit. Refer to Note 8 for additional information.

Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles: Snap-on
recorded a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle
transition adjustment that increased net earnings in the first quarter
of 2002 by $2.8 million, on both a pretax and after-tax basis, from
the recognition of negative goodwill as prescribed by SFAS No. 142.
Refer to Note 8 for additional information.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 133, Snap-on
recorded a transition adjustment on December 31, 2000, the beginning
of Snap-on’s 2001 fiscal year, to recognize its derivative instruments
at fair value, and to recognize the difference between the carrying
values and fair values of related hedged assets and liabilities upon
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adoption of these standards. The cumulative effect of this transition
adjustment was to decrease reported net income in the first quarter
of 2001 by $2.5 million after tax ($4.1 million pretax) related to a
hedge strategy that did not qualify for hedge accounting under
SFAS No. 133. Refer to Note 11 for additional information.

Accounting pronouncements: In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 132 (revised 2003), Employer’s Disclosures about Fensions and Other
Postretirement Benefits, that revises employer’s disclosures about pension
plans and other postretirement benefit plans. SFAS No. 132 does not
change the measurement or recognition of those plans. Refer to Notes
13 and 14 for the related pension and postretirement disclosures.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities. SFAS No. 146 addresses
significant issues regarding the recognition, measurement and
reporting of costs that are associated with exit and disposal activities
and supercedes the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No.
94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Bengfits and
Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a
Restructuring). SFAS No. 146 was effective for exit and disposal
activities initiated after December 31, 2002. See Note 4 for addi-
tional information on Snap-on’s exit and disposal activities.

The FASB issued Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 46, Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities (an interpretation of Accounting Research
Bulletin No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements) in January 2003.
See Note 9 for additional information regarding the adoption of
FIN No. 46.

NOTE 3: ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES

In 2002, Snap-on acquired full ownership of two businesses for
$7.9 million. The purchase price paid plus the liabilities assumed
exceeded the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets
acquired by approximately $3.7 million. The purchase accounting
for these two acquisitions was finalized in 2003. Pro forma financial
information has not been presented as the effects of these
businesses, individually and in the aggregate, were not material. In
2001, Snap-on incurred acquisition costs of $0.9 million related to
the finalization of its fiscal 2000 acquisitions.

NOTE 4: EXIT OR DISPOSAL ACTIVITIES
During 2003, Snap-on announced plans to phase out production at
two of its U.S. hand-tool manufacturing facilities and close the
company’s U.S. facility that assembled large-platform diagnostics,
as well as consolidation initiatives and management realignment
actions at various other Snap-on facilities. In 2003, Snap-on recorded
restructuring and continuous improvement charges of $30.2 million,
including charges of $25.8 million that are included in Cost of goods
sold and charges of $4.4 million that are included in Operating
expenses on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
Restructuring and continuous improvement charges incurred in
2003 included $19.5 million related to the phase out of production at



two U.S. hand-tool manufacturing facilities, which included $12.2 mil-
lion for the recognition of pension and post-retirement medical cur-
tailment losses, with the remaining costs primarily for severance,
equipment transfer, accelerated depreciation and other costs. The
remaining $10.7 million of charges related to consolidation initia-
tives and management realignment actions at various other Snap-on
facilities, including $3.5 million for the December 2003 closure of
the company’s U.S. facility that assembled large-platform diagnostics.

Snap-on’s 2003 restructuring accrual activity related to its 2003
actions was as follows:

Balance at
Provision Usage January 3,
(Amounts in millions) in 2003 in 2003 2004
Severance costs:
Snap-on Dealer Group $ 7.6 $(3.7) $3.9
Commercial and
Industrial Group 2.8 1.7) 1.1
Diagnostics and
Information Group 1.0 (0.1) 0.9
Facility consolidation
or closure costs:
Snap-on Dealer Group 0.1 (0.1) -
Diagnostics and
Information Group 0.3 - 0.3
Total $11.8 $(5.6) $6.2

Restructuring accrual usage of $5.6 million in 2003 consisted of
$5.5 million for severance payments related to the separation of 390
employees and $0.1 million for lease termination payments.

Snap-on expects to fund the remaining cash requirements of
its 2003 restructuring activities with cash flows from operations
and borrowings under the company’s existing credit facilities.
Snap-on anticipates that the restructuring accrual related to its 2003
actions will be fully utilized by the end of the second quarter
of 2004. The specific restructuring measures and estimated costs
were based on management’s best business judgment under pre-
vailing circumstances. Snap-on also expects that it will record
approximately $8 million of remaining severance and transition
costs in the first quarter of 2004 related to the closure of the two
U.S. hand-tool facilities.

In the fourth quarter of 2002, Snap-on recorded restructuring
and continuous improvement charges of $3.6 million that are
included in Operating expenses on the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Earnings. These charges were primarily for severance
costs related to salaried and hourly workforce reductions. During
the fourth quarter of 2002, Snap-on eliminated 31 positions, result-
ing in a $0.7 million usage of the recorded restructuring accrual.
During the first quarter of 2003, Snap-on utilized $2.8 million of the
restructuring accrual for severance payments related to the separa-
tion of 149 employees.

Snap-on’s restructuring accrual activity related to its 2002 actions was as follows:

Balance at Balance at

Provision Usage December 28, Usage Reversed January 3,

(Amounts in millions) in 2002 in 2002 2002 in 2003 in 2003 2004
Severance costs $3.6 $(0.7) $2.9 $(2.8) $(0.1) $ -
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As of January 3, 2004, Snap-on had finalized all actions as con-
templated under its 2002 restructuring activities and all costs related
to these actions have been incurred. In 2003, the remaining accrual
of $0.1 million was reversed to income.

Snap-on announced in the second quarter of 2001 that it was
taking significant action to (i) reduce costs companywide to adjust
to the slower sales environment and (ii) improve operational
performance in businesses not earning acceptable financial returns.
As a result of selective rationalization and consolidation actions,
Snap-on recorded $62.0 million in restructuring and other non-
recurring charges in 2001 for actions that included the consolida-
tion or closure of 32 facilities, including facility-related asset
write-downs, and severance costs to effect a 6% reduction in work-
force. The $62.0 million charge, including $49.4 million in
Operating expenses and $12.6 million in Cost of goods sold on the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings, included
restructuring charges of $40.3 million and non-recurring charges of
$21.7 million. The restructuring charge of $40.3 million included
$27.1 million for severance costs associated with the planned
elimination of 796 salaried and hourly positions, $6.0 million for
non-cancelable lease agreements, $5.9 million for facility-related
asset write-downs, and $1.3 million for exitrelated legal and pro-
fessional services. The $21.7 million of other non-recurring charges

included $12.6 million (recognized in cost of goods sold) for inven-
tory write-downs and warranty costs primarily associated with
Snap-on’s exiting of an unprofitable segment of the emissions-
testing business, $8.4 million for management transition costs
associated with the April 2001 retirement of Snap-on’s former presi-
dent and chief executive officer, and $0.7 million for equipment and
employee relocation costs associated with the facility consolidations.
As of December 29, 2001, Snap-on utilized $17.2 million of the
$40.3 million of restructuring accruals that were established for the
fiscal 2001 restructuring actions.

In 2002, Snap-on recorded restructuring-related charges of
$7.9 million, including $3.0 million related to the 2002 resignation of
Snap-on’s former chief financial officer and $4.9 million for
employee and equipment relocation costs and professional fees to
finalize the company’s 2001 restructuring activities. These costs did
not qualify for restructuring accrual treatment and were expensed
as incurred and are included in Operating expenses on the accompa-
nying Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

The initial 2001 restructuring cost estimates were based on
management’s best business judgment under prevailing circum-
stances. The 2001 restructuring accrual usage of $16.7 million in
2002 was primarily for severance payments related to the separation
of 479 employees.

Snap-on’s 2001 restructuring accrual activity related to its 2001 actions was as follows:

Balance at Balance at

Provision Usage December 29, Usage Reversed December 28,

(Amounts in millions) in 2001 in 2001 2001 in 2002 in 2002 2002
Severance costs $27.1 $ (6.0) $21.1 $(16.6) $(4.5) $ -
Facility consolidation or closure costs 7.3 (5.3) 2.0 (0.1) 1.9) -
Loss on asset write-downs 5.9 (5.9) - - - -
Total $40.3 $(17.2) $23.1 $(16.7) $(6.4) $ -

As of December 28, 2002, Snap-on had finalized its 2001
actions and all costs related to these actions have been incurred.
Snap-on reversed $6.4 million of excess restructuring accruals in the
fourth quarter of 2002, which is recorded in Operating expenses on
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the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings. The 2001
restructuring activities resulted in the consolidation or closure of 32
facilities and, combined with other operational activities, an 8.4%

reduction in workforce.



NOTE 5: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable include trade accounts, installment and other
receivables, including the current portion of dealer financing receiv-
ables. The components of Snap-on’s current accounts receivable as of
fiscal year-end 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002
Trade accounts receivable $501.8 $497.0
Installment receivables, net of

unearned finance charges of

$11.4 million and $8.1 million 55.1 414
Other accounts receivable 34.9 59.0
Total 591.8 5974
Allowances for doubtful accounts (45.0) (41.2)
Total accounts receivable — net $546.8 $556.2

The long-term portion of accounts receivable is classified in
Other assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and
is comprised of installment and other receivables, including dealer
financing receivables, with payment terms that are due beyond one
year. The components of Snap-on’s long-term accounts receivable
as of fiscal year-end 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002
Installment receivables,

net of unearned finance charges of

$9.1 million and $7.9 million $ 419 $ 373
Other long-term accounts receivable 19.8 20.5
Total $ 61.7 $ 57.8

NOTE 6: INVENTORIES
Inventories by major classification as of fiscal year-end 2003 and
2002 are as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002
Finished goods $305.7 $337.5
Work in process 46.5 42.0
Raw materials 80.7 86.2
Total FIFO value 432.9 465.7
Excess of current cost over LIFO cost (81.8) (95.8)
Total inventories $351.1 $369.9

The company’s LIFO inventory reserve decreased $14.0 mil-
lion during fiscal 2003 due to lower inventory levels. The decrease
in the company’s LIFO inventory reserves is reflected as a reduction
of Cost of goods sold on the accompanying Consolidated Statements
of Earnings.

NOTE 7: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Snap-on’s property and equipment values, which are carried at cost,
as of fiscal year-end 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002
Land $ 26.9 $ 23.8
Buildings and improvements 217.8 202.9
Machinery and equipment 580.4 541.8

825.1 768.5
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (496.5) (438.3)
Property and equipment - net $328.6 $330.2

The estimated service lives of property and equipment are
principally as follows:

Buildings and improvements 3 to 50 years

Machinery and equipment 2 to 15 years
Computer software 2 to 7 years

Transportation vehicles 2 to 6 years

NOTE 8: GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The changes in the carrying amount of segment goodwill for fiscal
2002 and 2003, are as follows:

Snap-on  Commercial Diagnostics and
Dealer and Industrial Information
(Amounts in millions) Group Group Group Total
Balance as of
December 29, 2001 $14.6 $251.8 $64.8 $331.2
Goodwill acquired
during year - 1.2 2.5 3.7
Currency translation - 31.3 0.2 31.5
Balance as of
December 28, 2002 14.6 284.3 67.5 366.4
Transfers between
segments - 1.3 (1.3) -
Finalization of
purchase accounting (2.5) 0.1 0.3 2.1)
Currency translation 0.2 53.0 0.1 53.3
Balance as of
January 3, 2004 $ 123 $338.7 $66.6 $4176

In 2001, pretax goodwill amortization totaled $13.9 million.
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Additional disclosures related to acquired other intangible
assets as of fiscal year-end 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

2003 2002
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying  Accumulated

(Amounts in millions) Value Amortization Value  Amortization
Amortized other

intangible assets:
Trademarks $ 2.7 $ (04) $ 3.9 $(0.3)
Patents 32.3 (11.3) 29.4 (8.3)
Total 35.0 (11.7) 33.3 (8.6)
Unamortized other

intangible assets:
Trademarks 46.2 - 41.0 -
Total $81.2 $ (11.7) $74.3 $(8.6)

The weighted-average amortization period is 32 years for
trademarks and 16 years for patents. The weighted-average
amortization period for trademarks and patents on a combined
basis is 19 years.

The aggregate amortization expense for 2003 and 2002 was
$2.1 million and $1.8 million. Total estimated annual amortization
expense expected for the next five fiscal years, based on current
levels of other intangible assets, is $1.9 million.

In accordance with the adoption provisions of SFAS No. 142,
Snap-on completed the initial assessment of goodwill and other
intangibles as of December 30, 2001, the results of which indicated
that the carrying values of goodwill and other intangibles were not
impaired. Snap-on recorded a cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle transition adjustment that increased net
earnings in the first quarter of 2002 by $2.8 million, on both a pre-
tax and after-tax basis, from the recognition of negative goodwill as
prescribed by SFAS No. 142.
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The following is a reconciliation of earnings before cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle and net earnings reflecting
the impact of this standard on reported results as if SFAS No. 142
had been in effect during 2001.

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Earnings before cumulative

effect of a change in

accounting principle

as reported $78.7 $103.2 $21.5
Goodwill amortization,

net of tax - - 11.9
Trademark amortization,

net of tax - - 0.8
Adjusted earnings before

cumulative effect item $78.7 $103.2 $34.2
Net earnings as reported $78.7 $106.0 $19.0
Goodwill amortization,

net of tax - - 11.9
Trademark amortization,

net of tax - - 0.8
Adjusted net earnings $78.7 $106.0 $31.7

The following reflects the impact of SFAS No. 142 on earnings
per share as if this standard had been in effect during 2001.

2003 2002 2001
Earnings per share as reported*:
Basic $1.35 $1.77 $0.37
Diluted 1.35 1.76 0.37
Adjusted earnings per share*:
Basic $1.35 $1.77 $0.59
Diluted 1.35 1.76 0.59
Net earnings per share as reported:
Basic $1.35 $1.82 $0.33
Diluted 1.35 1.81 0.33
Adjusted net earnings per share:
Basic $1.35 $1.82 $0.55
Diluted 1.35 1.81 0.55

* Before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.



NOTE 9: SNAP-ON CREDIT LLC JOINT VENTURE

SOC is an unconsolidated 50%-owned joint venture between Snap-on
and CIT. SOC was formed as a limited liability corporation with mem-
ber contributions totaling $2.0 million, and commenced operations on
January 3, 1999. SOC provides a broad range of financial services to
Snap-on’s U.S. dealer and customer network and to Snap-on’s indus-
trial and other customers. Snap-on and CIT have identical voting
and participating rights and responsibilities in SOC. As of January 3,
2004, and December 28, 2002, Snap-on’s equity investment in SOC
totaled approximately $6.8 million and $2.7 million.

As a result of establishing SOC, Snap-on effectively outsourced
to SOC its domestic captive credit function. Snap-on provides
extended-term financing internationally through its wholly owned
credit subsidiaries, the results of which are included in Snap-on’s
Gonsolidated Financial Statements. Snap-on receives royalty and
management fee income from SOC based on the volume of financ-
ings originated by SOC. Snap-on also shares with CIT in any resid-
ual net profit or loss of the joint venture after operating expenses,
including royalty and management fees, interest costs and credit
loss provisions. These amounts are included in Net finance income on
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

SOG sells substantially all of its originated contracts (through
asset-securitization transactions) on a limited recourse basis to CIT,
net of certain fees. SOC continues to service these contracts for an
estimated market rate-servicing fee. In 2003, SOC originated con-
tracts totaling $522.4 million, compared to $506.3 million in 2002
and $464.7 million in 2001.

SOC strives to maintain strict credit standards and the contract
receivables are generally secured by the underlying tools or equip-
ment financed and other dealer assets. SOC establishes accruals for
estimated credit loss for all contract receivables sold to CIT, and
SOC’s credit losses on the sold contract receivables are limited to
the extent of the accrual. At year-end 2003 and 2002, SOC’s accru-
als for estimated credit loss for contract receivables sold to CIT
were $12.8 million and $8.3 million. SOC also establishes a prepay-
ment accrual to cover estimated amounts due to CIT as a result of
early prepayments by customers on loans sold to CIT. Loan losses
on owned contract receivables were not material in any year.

Snap-on has credit risk exposure for certain loan originations
with recourse provisions against Snap-on. At January 3, 2004, and
December 28, 2002, $14.1 million and $32.1 million of these loans,
with terms ranging from six months to ten years, have a primary
recourse provision to Snap-on if the loans become more than 90
days past due. The asset value of the collateral underlying these
recourse loans would serve to mitigate Snap-on’s loss in the event of
default. The estimated fair value of the guarantees for all fiscal-2003
loan originations with recourse as of January 3, 2004, was not material.

At December 28, 2002, SOC maintained a $25 million bank
line of credit for working capital purposes, of which Snap-on was a
60% guarantor and CIT was a 40% guarantor. Borrowings under
this facility totaled $11.0 million at December 28, 2002. SOC’s bank
line of credit expired May 31, 2003, and was not renewed. CIT and

Snap-on have agreed to fund SOC’s future working capital require-
ments on a 50/50 basis, with a combined maximum borrowing limit
not to exceed $24 million. As of January 3, 2004, there were no
outstanding amounts owed from SOC pursuant to this agreement.

Snap-on’s exposure related to SOC as of January 3, 2004, was
the $6.8 million equity investment plus the recourse obligations on
customer financings discussed above.

Summarized financial information of SOC as of December 31,
2003, and 2002, and for the years then ended is as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002
Gash and cash equivalents $ 42 $ 5.4
Receivables — net of allowances 10.7 13.4
Servicing receivables 8.6 7.6
Due from members 14.0 10.9
Other assets 6.2 8.0
Total assets $43.7 $45.3
Payable to members $13.2 $12.4
Accruals for contract receivables sold 12.8 8.3
Other accrued liabilities 41 8.6
Short-term borrowings - 11.0
Members’ equity 13.6 5.0
Total liabilities and members’ equity $43.7 $45.3
(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002
Revenues:

Gain on sale of contract receivables sold $60.5 $55.7
Servicing fee income 10.5 9.0
Other income 0.5 1.3
Total revenues 71.5 66.0
Expenses:

Royalty fees 23.4 22.8
Salaries and benefits 16.9 15.7
Management fees 11.7 11.2
Other 11.1 10.8
"Total expenses 63.1 60.5
Net income $ 84 $ 5.5
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The FASB issued FIN No. 46 in January 2003. FIN No. 46
provides consolidation guidance regarding the identification of vari-
able interest entities (“VIE”) for which control is achieved through
means other than through voting rights. FIN No. 46 provides
guidance in determining if a business enterprise is the primary
beneficiary of a VIE and whether or not that business enterprise
should consolidate the VIE for financial reporting purposes.
FIN No. 46 applies to a VIE in which equity investors of the VIE, if
any, do not have the characteristics of a controlling interest or do
not have sufficient equity at risk for the VIE to finance its activities
independently. FIN No. 46 requires each enterprise involved with a
special purpose entity to determine whether it provides financial
support to the special purpose entity through a variable interest.
Variable interests may arise from financial instruments, service
contracts, minority ownership interests or other arrangements. If an
entity holds a majority of the variable interests, or a significant
variable interest that is considerably more than any other party’s
variable interest, then that entity would be the primary beneficiary
and would be required to include the assets, liabilities and results
of operations of the special purpose entity in its consolidated
financial statements.

Since its issuance, the effective date of FIN No. 46 has been
deferred once, and FIN No. 46R, a modification to FIN No. 46, was
released in December 2003. FIN No. 46R delayed the effective date
for certain entities until no later than fiscal periods ending after
March 31, 2004, and also provided numerous technical clarifica-
tions to implementation issues. Based on the company’s analysis of
FIN No. 46R, the company has concluded that Snap-on is required to
consolidate SOC as of January 4, 2004, the beginning of Snap-on’s
fiscal 2004 first quarter.

NOTE 10: SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBT

Notes payable to banks under bank lines of credit totaled $4.9 million
and $22.3 million at the end of 2003 and 2002. At the end of 2003,
Snap-on had commercial paper outstanding denominated in U.S. dol-
lars of $25.0 million, compared to commercial paper outstanding
denominated in U.S. dollars of $25.0 million and Japanese yen of
$7.9 million at year-end 2002. The company currently anticipates that
it will continue to have positive cash flow and debt reduction for the
foreseeable future and, as a result, commercial paper borrowings are
included in Notes payable and current maturities of long-term debt on the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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At January 3, 2004, Snap-on had $408 million of multi-
currency revolving credit facilities that serve to back its commercial
paper programs, including a $200 million, 364-day revolving credit
facility with a one-year term-out option that terminates on July 30,
2004. The term-out option allows Snap-on to elect to borrow under
the credit facility for an additional year after the termination date. In
addition, Snap-on has a five-year, $208 million revolving credit facility
that terminates on August 20, 2005. At the end of 2003 and 2002,
Snap-on was in compliance with all covenants of the revolving credit
facilities and there were no borrowings under either revolving credit
commitment. The most restrictive financial covenant requires that
Snap-on maintain a total debt to total capital (defined as total debt
plus shareholders’ equity) percentage that does not exceed 60%.
Snap-on’s total debt to total capital percentage, computed as defined
by the financial covenant, was 24.8% at January 3, 2004. At January 3,
2004, Snap-on also had an unused committed $20 million bank line of
credit that expires on August 1, 2004, as well as uncommitted credit
facilities. At January 3, 2004, Snap-on had approximately $403 million
of unused available debt capacity under the terms of its revolving
credit facilities and committed bank line of credit.

Average commercial paper and bank notes outstanding were
$59.2 million in 2003 and $189.6 million in 2002. The weighted-
average interest rate on these instruments was 1.2% in 2003 and
1.7% in 2002. As of January 3, 2004, and December 28, 2002, com-
mercial paper and bank notes outstanding had a weighted-average
interest rate of 1.1% and 1.3%.

In August 2001, Snap-on issued $200 million of unsecured
notes pursuant to a $300 million shelf registration statement filed
with the Securities and Exchange Gommission in 1994. In October
1995, Snap-on issued $100 million of unsecured notes to the public
under this shelf registration. The August 2001 notes require semi-
annual interest payments at the rate of 6.25% and mature in their
entirety on August 15, 2011. The October 1995 notes require semi-
annual interest payments at a rate of 6.625% and mature in their
entirety on October 1, 2005. The proceeds from these issuances
were used to repay a portion of Snap-on’s outstanding commercial
paper and for working capital and general corporate purposes.

Snap-on’s long-term debt as of fiscal year-end 2003 and 2002
consisted of the following:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002
Senior unsecured indebtedness $300.0 $300.0
Other long-term debt 3.3 5.5

303.3 305.5
Less: current maturities 0.3) 1.2)
Total long-term debt $303.0 $304.3

The annual maturities of Snap-on’s long-term debt due in the
next five years are $0.3 million in 2004, $100.4 million in 2005, with
no maturities of long-term debt in 2006, 2007 and 2008.



NOTE 11: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Snap-on accounts for its hedging activities under SFAS No. 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as
amended by SFAS No. 138 and SFAS No. 149. These standards
require that all derivative instruments be reported in the consoli-
dated financial statements at fair value. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives are to be recorded each period in earnings or on the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets in Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), depending on the type of hedged transac-
tion and whether the derivative is designated and effective as part of
a hedged transaction. Gains or losses on derivative instruments
reported in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) must be
reclassified as earnings in the period in which earnings are affected
by the underlying hedged item, and the ineffective portion of all
hedges must be recognized in earnings in the current period.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 133, Snap-on
recorded a transition adjustment on December 31, 2000, the beginning
of Snap-on’s 2001 fiscal year, to recognize its derivative instruments
at fair value, and to recognize the difference between the carrying
values and fair values of related hedged assets and liabilities upon
adoption of these standards. The cumulative effect of this transition
adjustment was to decrease reported net income in the first quarter
of 2001 by $2.5 million after tax related to a hedge strategy that did
not qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133. Snap-on also
recorded in the first quarter of 2001 a transition adjustment of
$1.2 million after tax in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
to recognize previously deferred net gains on derivatives
designated as cash flow hedges that qualify for hedge accounting
under SFAS No. 133.

Snap-on uses derivative instruments to manage well-defined
interest rate and foreign currency exposures. Snap-on does not use
derivative instruments for speculative or trading purposes. The cri-
teria used to determine if hedge accounting treatment is appropriate
are (i) the designation of the hedge to an underlying exposure, (ii)
whether or not overall risk is being reduced, and (iii) if there is a
correlation between the value of the derivative instrument and the
underlying obligation. On the date a derivative contract is entered
into, Snap-on designates the derivative as either a fair value hedge,
a cash flow hedge, a hedge of a net investment in a foreign opera-
tion, or a natural hedging instrument whose change in fair value is
recognized as an economic hedge against changes in the values of
the hedged item.

Foreign Currency Derivative Instruments: Snap-on has operations in a
number of countries that have transactions outside their functional
currencies and, as a result, is exposed to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. In addition, Snap-on hedges the anticipated repay-
ment of intercompany loans to foreign subsidiaries denominated in
foreign currencies. Snap-on manages most of these exposures on a
consolidated basis, which allows for netting of certain exposures to
take advantage of natural offsets. Forward exchange contracts are
used to hedge the net exposures. Gains or losses on net foreign cur-
rency hedges are intended to offset losses or gains on the underlying
net exposures in an effort to reduce the earnings volatility resulting
from fluctuating foreign currency exchange rates.

At January 3, 2004, Snap-on had net outstanding foreign
exchange forward contracts to sell $84.0 million comprised of buy
contracts of $72.8 million in Swedish kronor and $3.2 million in
Taiwan dollars and $0.6 million in other currencies and sell
contracts of $72.8 million in euros, $43.3 million in British pounds,
$11.8 million in Canadian dollars, $10.2 million in Japanese yen,
$8.9 million in Singapore dollars, $5.7 million in Danish kronor,
$4.3 million in Norwegian kronor, $2.3 million in Mexican pesos and
$1.3 million in Australian dollars. At December 28, 2002, Snap-on had
net outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts to sell $161.9 mil-
lion comprised of buy contracts of $52.5 million in Swedish kronor
and sell contracts of $103.8 million in euros, $59.1 million in
British pounds, $31.2 million in Canadian dollars, $7.5 million in
Singapore dollars, $3.0 million in Danish kronor, $2.5 million in
Australian dollars, $3.7 million in Mexican pesos and $3.6 million in
other currencies.

The majority of Snap-on’s forward exchange contracts are not
designated as hedges under SFAS No. 133. The fair value changes of
these contracts are reported in earnings as foreign exchange gain or
loss, which is included in Other income (expense) — net on the accom-
panying Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Those forward
exchange contracts that qualify for hedge accounting treatment are
accounted for as cash flow hedges where the effective portion of the
changes in fair value of the derivative is recorded in Accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss). When the hedged item is realized in
income, the gain or loss included in Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) is reclassified to income in the same financial statement
caption as the hedged item. For all cash flow hedges qualifying for
hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133, the net accumulated deriva-
tive loss at January 3, 2004, was $0.5 million. At January 3, 2004, the
maximum maturity date of any cash flow hedge was approximately
one year. During the next 12 months, Snap-on expects to reclassify
into earnings net losses from Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) of approximately $0.5 million after tax at the time the underly-
ing hedged transactions are realized. The ineffective portion of
changes in fair value of the cash flow hedges are reported in earn-
ings as foreign exchange gain or loss, which is included in Other
income (expense) — net and which were not material.
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Non-Derivative Instruments Designated in Hedging Relationships:
Snap-on uses non-U.S. dollar financing transactions as net
investment hedges of long-term investments in the corresponding
foreign currency. Hedges that meet the effectiveness requirements
are accounted for under net investment hedging rules. The effective
portion of the net investment hedge of a foreign operation is
recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a cumula-
tive translation adjustment. When applicable, the ineffective por-
tion of the net investment hedge is recorded in earnings as foreign
exchange gain or loss, which is included in Other income (expense) —
net and which were not material. At January 3, 2004, net losses of
$0.1 million arising from effective hedges of net investments have
been reflected in the cumulative translation adjustment account as a
component of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Interest Rate Swap Agreements: Snap-on enters into interest rate
swap agreements to manage interest costs and risks associated with
changing interest rates. Interest rate swap agreements are accounted
for as either cash flow hedges or fair value hedges. The differentials
paid or received on interest rate swap agreements are accrued and
recognized as adjustments to interest expense. For fair value hedges,
the effective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative is
recorded in Long-term debt on the accompanying Gonsolidated
Balance Sheets, while any ineffective portion is recorded as an
adjustment to interest expense. For cash flow hedges, the effective
portion of the change in fair value of the derivative is recorded in
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), while any ineffective
portion is recorded as an adjustment to interest expense. The
notional amount of interest rate swaps was $75 million at January 3,
2004, and included $50 million of fair value hedges and $25 million
of cash flow hedges. The notional amount of interest rate swaps was
$50 million at December 28, 2002, and included $25 million of fair
value hedges and $25 million of cash flow hedges.

In June 2003, Snap-on received proceeds of $5.1 million for the
termination of a $25 million interest rate swap that was a fair value
hedge for a portion of its $200 million, 6.25% long-term notes.
The $5.1 million is being amortized to income using the effective
interest rate method over the remaining life of the notes, which
mature on August 15, 2011. At the same time, Snap-on entered into
a new $25 million interest rate swap to hedge that same portion
of these notes.

For all cash flow hedges qualifying for hedge accounting under
SFAS No. 133, the net accumulated derivative loss at January 3, 2004,
was $1.0 million, after tax, and is reflected in Accumulated other com-
prehensive income (loss). Changes in the fair value of derivative finan-
cial instruments qualifying for hedge accounting under SFAS No.
133, are reflected as derivative assets or liabilities with the corre-
sponding gains or losses reflected in earnings in the period of
change. An offsetting gain or loss is also reflected in earnings based
upon the changes of the fair value of the debt instrument being
hedged. For all fair value hedges qualifying for hedge accounting
under SFAS No. 133, the net accumulated derivative loss at January
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3, 2004, was $2.1 million. At January 3, 2004, the maximum maturity
date of any cash flow hedge and fair value hedge was approximately
one year and eight years, respectively. During the next 12 months,
Snap-on expects to reclassify into earnings net losses from
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) of approximately $0.9 mil-
lion after tax at the time the underlying hedged transactions are real-
ized. During the year ended January 3, 2004, cash flow hedge and
fair value hedge ineffectiveness was not material.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments: SFAS No. 107, Disclosures about
Fair Value of Financial Instruments, requires Snap-on to disclose the
fair value of financial instruments for both on- and off-balance-sheet
assets and liabilities for which it is practicable to estimate that value.
The following methods and assumptions were used in estimating
the fair value of financial instruments:

Installment Contracts: A discounted cash flow analysis was
performed over the average life of a contract using a discount rate
currently available to Snap-on adjusted for credit quality, cost and
profit factors. As of January 3, 2004, and December 28, 2002, the
fair value was approximately $114 million and $92 million, versus a
book value of $97.0 million and $78.7 million.

Long-term Debt: The fair value of long-term debt, including current
maturities, was estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis
based on quoted market rates for similar instruments. As of January
3, 2004, and December 28, 2002, the fair value was approximately
$330 million and $340 million, versus a book value of $303.3 million
and $305.5 million.

All Other Financial Instruments: The carrying amounts of all cash
equivalents, interest rate swaps and forward exchange contracts
approximate fair value based upon quoted market prices or
discounted cash flows. The fair value of trade accounts receivables,
accounts payable and other financial instruments approximates car-
rying value due to their short-term nature.

NOTE 12: INCOME TAXES

Earnings before income taxes, including the pretax impact of
cumulative effects of changes in accounting principles in 2002 and
2001, consisted of the following:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
u.s. $ 62.2 $129.2 $20.7
Foreign 54.5 34.8 22.8
Total earnings

before income taxes $116.7 $164.0 $43.5




The provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of
the following:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Current:

Federal $ 10.2 $ (5.0) $21.8
Foreign 12.9 19.6 13.3

State 1.0 2.6 3.7
Total current 24.1 17.2 38.8
Deferred:

Federal 8.1 38.3 (8.1)
Foreign 3.4 (0.2) (1.3)
State 2.4 2.7 4.9)
Total deferred 13.9 40.8 (14.3)
Total income tax provision $ 38.0 $ 58.0 $24.5

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to
Snap-on’s effective tax rate, after cumulative effect of changes in
accounting principles, is as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Statutory federal income

tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Increase (decrease) in

tax rate resulting from:
State income taxes,

net of federal benefit 1.9 1.8 3.2
Extraterritorial income

exclusion/foreign sales

corporation tax benefit 2.3) (1.5) (1.6)
Restructuring and other

non-recurring charges - - 19.8
Change in valuation allowance

for foreign losses 1.0 14 (0.1)
Reversal of excess tax accrual (2.5) - -
Non-deductible goodwill

amortization - - 1.8
Foreign rate difference (1.3) (0.8) (0.8)
Other 0.8 (0.5) (1.0)
Effective tax rate 32.6% 35.4% 56.3%

Temporary differences that give rise to the net deferred tax
benefit are as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Current deferred

income tax assets:
Inventories $28.2 $ 29.6 $ 264
Accruals not currently

deductible 323 175 19.0
Restructuring and other

non-recurring accruals 1.3 1.9 31.5
Other 2.7 3.0 3.3
Total current (included in

Deferred income tax benefits

and Other accrued liabilities) 64.5 52.0 80.2
Long-term deferred income

tax assets (liabilities):
Employee benefits 372 78.9 46.8
Net operating losses 48.7 32.8 26.3
Depreciation (45.2) (40.9) (87.5)
SOC securitizations (21.2) (15.0) (10.2)
Other 0.1 0.2 3.9
Valuation allowance (37.8) (28.7) (26.3)
Total long term (18.2) 27.3 3.0
Net deferred income tax asset $46.3 $ 79.3 $ 83.2

At January 3, 2004, Snap-on had tax net operating loss
carryforwards totaling $219.6 million as follows:

(Amounts in millions) State uU.S. Foreign Total
Year of expiration:
2004 - 2008 $ - $ 3.8 $ 76 $ 114
2009 - 2013 16.1 - 4.7 20.8
2014 - 2020 56.1 - - 56.1
2021 - 2023 7.6 23.9 - 31.5
Indefinite - - 99.8 99.8
Total net operating loss

carryforwards $79.8 $ 277 $112.1 $219.6

A valuation allowance totaling $37.8 million, $28.7 million and
$26.3 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001 has been established for
deferred income tax benefits related to certain subsidiary loss carry-
forwards that may not be realized. Approximately $8 million of the
increase in the valuation allowance and the net operating losses for
2003 is attributable to the impact of foreign currency exchange.
Realization of the net deferred tax assets is dependent on generating
sufficient taxable income prior to their expiration. Although realiza-
tion is not assured, management believes it is more likely than not
that the net deferred tax asset will be realized. The amount of the
net deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be
reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income dur-

ing the carryforward period are reduced.
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The undistributed earnings of all non-U.S. subsidiaries totaled
$214.7 million, $180.0 million and $159.1 million at the end of 2003,
2002 and 2001. Snap-on has not provided any deferred taxes on
these undistributed earnings as it considers the undistributed earn-
ings to be permanently invested.

NOTE 13: PENSION PLANS
Snap-on has several non-contributory defined benefit pension plans
covering most U.S. employees and certain employees in foreign
countries. Snap-on also has foreign contributory defined benefit
pension plans covering certain foreign employees. Retirement bene-
fits are generally provided based on employees’ years of service and
average earnings or stated amounts for years of service. Normal
retirement age is 65, with provisions for earlier retirement. Snap-on
recognizes retirement plan expenses in accordance with SFAS No.
87, Employers’ Accounting for Fensions.

Snap-on’s net pension expense (income) included the following

components:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Service cost $17.7 $15.1 $15.8
Interest cost 41.6 39.9 38.9
Return on assets:

Actual (gain) loss (82.8) 48.9 1.6
Deferred gain (loss) 382 (103.4) (57.2)
Amortization of:

Actuarial (gain) loss 2.5 (0.8) (5.6)
Prior service cost 1.8 2.0 1.5
Net transition asset 0.2) (1.3) (1.3)
Curtailment loss (gain) 82 (0.5) -
Net pension expense (income) $27.0 $ (0.1) $ (6.3)
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The status of Snap-on’s pension plans as of fiscal year-end
2003 and 2002 are as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002
Change in projected benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 624.4 $ 562.0
Service cost 17.7 15.1
Interest cost 41.6 39.9
Plan participants’ contributions 14 0.8
Benefits paid (38.2) (30.1)
Curtailment loss (gain) 2.4 (0.5)
Plan amendments 0.3 2.7
Actuarial loss 68.4 34.3
Foreign currency impact 14.4 6.5
Effect of settlements - (6.3)
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 7324 $ 624.4
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at

beginning of year $ 460.7 $529.7
Actual return (loss) on plan assets 82.8 (48.9)
Plan participants’ contributions 14 0.8
Employer contributions 95.2 13.1
Benefits paid (36.4) (30.1)
Foreign currency impact 6.6 2.4
Effect of settlements - (6.3)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 610.3 $ 460.7
Unfunded status $(122.1) $(163.7)
Unrecognized net assets at year end 1.1) 1.7)
Unrecognized net loss from

experience different than assumed 166.0 137.6
Unrecognized prior service cost 8.7 15.5
Net amount recognized $ 515 $ (12.3)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated
balance sheets consist of:

Prepaid benefit cost $ 69.8 $ 97

Accrued benefit liability (72.4) (134.8)
Other intangibles 3.5 15.0
Deferred income tax benefits 19.0 36.9
Accumulated other

comprehensive loss 31.6 60.9
Net amount recognized $ 515 $ (12.3)

The accumulated benefit obligation for Snap-on’s pension
plans was $673.5 million and $588.7 million at January 3, 2004, and
December 28, 2002.



The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation
and fair value of plan assets for Snap-on’s pension plans in which
the accumulated benefit obligation exceeds the fair value of plan
assets as of fiscal year-end 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002
Projected benefit obligation $203.6 $602.4
Accumulated benefit obligation 190.0 568.9
Fair value of plan assets 120.6 4352

The amount included in Snap-on’s accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) arising from recognizing additional

minimum pension liabilities are as follows:

(Amounts in millions)

Balance at December 29, 2001 $ (3.5
Increase in minimum pension liability, net of tax (57.4)
Balance at December 28, 2002 (60.9)
Decrease in minimum pension liability, net of tax 29.3
Balance at January 3, 2004 $(31.6)

The worldwide weighted-average assumptions used to
determine Snap-on’s full-year pension cost are as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Discount rate 6.5% 6.7% 7.4%
Expected long-term return
on plan assets 8.3% 8.2% 9.6%

Rate of compensation increase 3.3% 3.7% 4.6%

The worldwide weighted-average assumptions used to

determine Snap-on’s projected benefit obligation as of fiscal year-
end 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

2003 2002
Discount rate 5.9% 6.7%
Rate of compensation increase 3.3% 3.7%

Snap-on uses a December 31 measurement date for the
majority of its plans. Snap-on does not expect to make a contribu-
tion to its domestic pension plans in 2004.

Snap-on’s domestic pension plans’ weighted-average asset
allocation at December 31, 2003, and December 31, 2002, by asset
category are as follows:

Asset Category 2003 2002
Equity securities 58% 55%
Debt securities and cash 42% 45%
Real estate and other real assets - -
Other - _
Total 100% 100%

Snap-on’s domestic pension plans have a long-term investment
horizon, and therefore Snap-on has a total return strategy that
emphasizes a capital growth objective. The long-term investment
performance objective for Snap-on’s domestic plan assets is
to achieve net-of-expense returns that meet or exceed the 8.5%
domestic long-term rate-of-return-on-assets assumption used for
reporting purposes.

The basis for determining the overall expected long-term
rate-of-return-on-assets assumption applies a nominal returns
forecasting method. For each asset class, future returns are esti-
mated by identifying the premium of riskier asset classes over lower
risk alternatives. The methodology constructs expected returns
using a building block approach to the individual components of
total return. These forecasts are stated in both nominal and real
(after inflation) terms. This process first considers the long-term his-
torical return premium based on the longest set of data available for
each asset class. These premiums are then adjusted based on cur-
rent relative valuation levels and macro-economic conditions.
Recently, due to relatively higher valuation levels for equities,
expected equity risk premiums have been adjusted downward to be
more conservative than the actual long-term results.

For risk and correlation assumptions, the actual experience for
each asset class is reviewed for the longest time period available.
Expected relationships for a ten- to twenty-year time horizon are
determined based upon historical results, with adjustments made
for material changes. For example, expected correlations for inter-
national equities relative to U.S. equities are higher than historical
averages due to the integration of the global economy.

Investments are broadly diversified to attempt to minimize the
risk of large losses. Since asset allocation is a key determinant of
expected investment returns, assets are periodically rebalanced to
the targeted allocation to correct significant deviations from the
asset allocation policy that are caused by market fluctuations and
cash flows.

Snap-on has adopted a strategic asset allocation policy that is
intended to offer the highest probability of achieving the long-term
investment return goal with the lowest level of risk. Asset/liability
studies are conducted periodically to determine if any revisions to
the strategic asset allocation policy are indicated. Snap-on’s strategic
domestic asset allocation targets are as follows:

Asset Category Target
Equity securities 55%
Debt securities and cash 35%
Real estate and other real assets 5%
Other 5%
otal 100%
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Snap-on has several 401(k) plans covering certain U.S.
employees. Snap-on’s employer match to the 401(k) plans is made in
Snap-on common stock, which is funded through the Grantor Stock
Trust, or cash. Employees have the opportunity to diversify the
employer match made in Snap-on common stock as they approach
retirement. For 2003, 2002 and 2001, Snap-on recognized $12.4 mil-
lion, $2.0 million and $0.4 million of expense related to its 401 (k)
plans. Included in Snap-on’s 2003 401 (k) plan expense is $10.2 mil-
lion related to the closure of the two U.S. hand-tool facilities
disclosed in Note 4 above.

NOTE 14: RETIREE HEALTH CARE

Snap-on provides certain health care benefits for most retired U.S.
employees. The majority of Snap-on’s U.S. employees become
eligible for those benefits if they reach early retirement age while
working for Snap-on; however, the age and service requirements for
eligibility under the plans have been increased for certain employees
hired on and after specified dates since 1992. Generally, most plans
pay stated percentages of covered expenses after a deductible is met.
There are several plan designs, with more recent retirees being cov-
ered under a comprehensive major medical plan. In determining
benefits, the plans take into consideration payments by Medicare
and other insurance coverage.

For employees retiring under the comprehensive major
medical plans, retiree contributions are required, and these plans
contain provisions allowing for benefit and coverage changes. The
plans require retirees to contribute either the full cost of the cover-
age or amounts estimated to exceed a capped per-retiree annual cost
commitment by Snap-on. Most employees hired since 1994 are
required to pay the full cost. Snap-on does not fund the retiree
health care plans.

Snap-on recognizes postretirement health care expense in
accordance with SFAS No. 106, Employers’ Accounting for
Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions.

Snap-on’s net postretirement health care benefits expense
included the following components:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Service cost $0.9 $1.1 $1.1
Interest cost 6.2 6.0 55
Curtailment gain 6.2) (0.2) -
Amortization of

unrecognized net gain - (0.6) (1.4)
Net postretirement health care

benefits expense $0.9 $6.3 $5.2
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The status of Snap-on’s U.S. postretirement health care plans
is as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002
Change in accumulated benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $95.3 $ 753
Service cost 0.9 1.1
Interest cost 6.2 6.0
Plan participants’ contributions 3.1 2.7
Curtailment gain 6.2) (0.2)
Benefits paid (8.3) (7.8)
Actuarial loss 2.7 18.2
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 93.7 $95.3
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ - $ -
Plan participants’ contributions 3.1 2.7
Employer contributions 5.2 5.1
Benefits paid (8.3) (7.8)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ - $ -
Unfunded status $(93.7) $(95.3)
Unrecognized actuarial gain 0.7) (3.4)
Net amount recognized $(94.4) $(98.7)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated

balance sheets consist of:
Accrued benefit liability $ (5.1) $ 4.7)
Retiree health care benefits (89.3) (94.0)
Net amount recognized $(94.4) $(98.7)

The weighted-average discount rates used to determine

Snap-on’s postretirement health care expense are as follows:
2003

6.6%

2002
6.75%

2001
7.5%

Discount rate

The weighted-average discount rates used to determine
Snap-on’s accumulated benefit obligation are as follows:

2003

6.0%

2002
6.75%

Discount rate

The actuarial calculation assumes a health care cost trend rate
of 9.9% in 2003, decreasing gradually to 6.0% in 2009 and thereafter.
As of January 3, 2004, a one-percentage-point increase in the health
care cost trend rate for future years would increase the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation by $1.5 million and the aggregate
of the service cost and interest cost components by $0.1 million.



Conversely, a one-percentage-point decrease in the health care cost
trend rate for future years would decrease the accumulated postre-
tirement benefit obligation by $1.4 million and the aggregate of the
service cost and interest cost components by $0.1 million.

Snap-on expects to contribute $5.1 million to its retiree health
care plans in 2004.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (“the Act”) was signed
into law. In accordance with FASB Staff Position 106-1’s deferral elec-
tion, Snap-on’s net periodic postretirement benefit expense and accu-
mulated postretirement benefit obligation do not reflect the effects of
the Act on Snap-on’s postretirement health care plans. Specific
authoritative guidance on the accounting for the federal subsidy pro-
vided for under the Act is pending and guidance, when issued, could

require Snap-on to change previously reported information.

NOTE 15: STOCK OPTIONS AND PURCHASE PLANS
Snap-on has various stock award and purchase plans for directors,
officers and key employees.

2001 Incentive Stock and Awards Plans: On April 27, 2001, Snap-on’s
shareholders approved the 2001 Incentive Stock and Awards Plan
(“2001 Plan”). This plan reserves five million shares of common stock
for issuance, of which 2,578,047 shares were available for future grants
at January 3, 2004. There are no shares available for future grants
under the predecessor plan. Stock options outstanding under the 2001
Plan and the predecessor plan have expiration dates ranging from
2004 to 2013 and vesting periods ranging from immediate to three
years. The plans provide that options be granted at exercise prices
equal to market value on the date the option is granted. Stock option
activity under the 2001 Plan and predecessor plans was as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Options Exercise Price* Options Exercise Price” Options Exercise Price”
Outstanding at beginning of year 5,399,594 $30.70 5,189,146 $29.83 4,526,481 $29.44
Granted 694,900 25.24 863,809 31.90 1,227,707 28.95
Exercised (191,857) 22.60 (478,285) 22.80 (375,756) 21.83
Canceled (260,418) 32.30 (175,076) 32.96 (189,286) 30.14
Outstanding at end of year 5,642,219 $30.23 5,399,594 $30.70 5,189,146 $29.83
Exercisable at end of year 4,583,646 $30.83 4,060,271 $30.66 3,447,146 $30.65

“Weighted-average

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of January 3, 2004:

2003 Options Outstanding 2003 Options Exercisable

Remaining
Options Contractual Options
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Life (Years)* Exercise Price* Exercisable Exercise Price*
$19 to $25 72,540 1.07 $21.71 72,540 $21.71
$25 to $31 3,355,974 8.18 2715 2,649,524 27.63
$31 to $38 1,768,088 5.94 33.96 1,415,965 34.39
$38 to $46 445,617 4.07 39.98 445,617 39.98
Totals 5,642,219 7.06 $30.23 4,583,646 $30.83

“Weighted-average

In 2003, Snap-on granted 423,300 shares of restricted stock to
certain executive officers and other key employees under the 2001
Plan. Vesting of the shares of restricted stock will be dependent
upon performance relative to pre-defined goals for revenue growth
and return on net assets employed before interest and taxes for
fiscal years 2003 through 2005. Based on Snap-on’s performance
relative to these goals, the recipient can earn up to 100% of the
restricted stock award. For performance achieved above a
certain level, the recipient will earn performance units in addition to
the restricted stock, not to exceed 50% of the number of shares of
restricted stock initially awarded. Each performance unit represents
the right to receive in cash $24.49, which was the fair market value

of a share of Snap-on’s common stock on March 14, 2003. Based on
the grant performance criteria, Snap-on was not required to recog-
nize any compensation expense in 2003 for these awards.

In 2002, Snap-on granted 209,000 shares of restricted stock to
certain executive officers and other key employees under the 2001
Plan. Vesting of the shares of restricted stock was dependent upon
performance relative to pre-defined goals for revenue growth and
return on net assets employed before interest and taxes for fiscal
years 2002 and 2003. Based on the grant performance criteria,
Snap-on was not required to recognize any compensation expense
in 2003 or 2002 for these awards, as none of these shares vested.
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As of January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002, Snap-on also
had 105,600 and 5,600 restricted stock grants outstanding under the
2001 Plan whose vesting is not dependent on performance.
Compensation expense is being recognized on a straight-line basis
over the respective service period. Snap-on recognized compensa-
tion expense of $1.0 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001 related to
non-performance restricted shares.

As of January 3, 2004, Snap-on had 682,500 stock appreciation
rights outstanding that were granted to certain key non-U.S.
employees with an average grant price of $29.60 per unit. These
performance units expire ten years after date of grant and have vest-
ing periods that range from two to three years. The performance
units provide for the cash payment of the excess of the fair market
value of Snap-on’s common stock price on the date of exercise over
the grant price, and Snap-on accrues compensation expense based
upon the current market price for its common stock and the
number of performance units outstanding. The performance share
units have no effect on dilutive shares or shares outstanding as any
appreciation of Snap-on’s common stock value over the grant price
is paid in cash and not in common stock.

Directors’ Fee Plan: Under the Directors’ Fee Plan, non-employee
directors receive a mandatory minimum of 50% and an elective
maximum of up to 100% of their fees and retainer in shares of
Snap-on’s common stock. Directors may elect to defer receipt of all
or part of these shares. For 2003, 2002 and 2001, issuances under
the Directors’ Fee Plan totaled 4,236 shares, 4,750 shares and 10,367
shares. Additionally, receipt of 11,130 shares, 11,865 shares and
15,043 shares was deferred in 2003, 2002 and 2001. At January 3,
2004, shares reserved for issuance to directors under this plan
totaled 168,347 shares.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan: Employees of Snap-on are eligible to
participate in an employee stock purchase plan. The employee pur-
chase price of the common stock is the lesser of the mean of the
high and low price of the stock on the beginning date (May 15) or
ending date (May 14) of each plan year. For 2003, 2002 and 2001,
issuances under the employee stock ownership plan totaled 36,428
shares, 53,142 shares and 57,231 shares. At January 3, 2004, shares
reserved for issuance to employees under this plan totaled 454,286
and Snap-on held contributions of approximately $0.8 million for
the purchase of common stock by employees.

Dealer Stock Purchase Plan: Franchised dealers are eligible to
participate in a dealer stock purchase plan. The dealer purchase
price of the common stock is the lesser of the mean of the high and
low price of the stock on the beginning date (May 15) or ending
date (May 14) of each plan year. For 2003, 2002 and 2001, issuances
under the dealer stock purchase plan totaled 49,923 shares, 76,381
shares and 78,440 shares. At January 3, 2004, shares reserved for
issuance to franchised dealers under this plan totaled 164,620 and
Snap-on held dealer contributions of approximately $1.1 million for
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the purchase of common stock. Compensation expense for plan
participants in 2003, 2002 and 2001 was not material.

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan: Under this plan,
participating shareholders may invest the cash dividends from all or
a portion of their common stock to buy additional shares. The plan
also permits new investors and current shareholders to make addi-
tional contributions. For 2003, 2002 and 2001, issuances under the
dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan totaled 54,504
shares, 45,649 shares and 47,650 shares. At January 3, 2004, shares
available for purchase under this plan totaled 1,708,133.

SFAS No. 148 Disclosure: Snap-on accounts for its stock-based
employee compensation plans under the recognition and measure-
ment principles of APB Opinion No. 25. In accordance with the pro-
visions of APB Opinion No. 25, no compensation expense was
recorded for stock options as all options granted had an exercise price
equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the
measurement date. For restricted stock and stock appreciation rights
awards, Snap-on recorded compensation expense in the respective
periods as appropriate.

The following table illustrates the effect on net earnings and
earnings per share as if Snap-on had applied the fair value recogni-
tion provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based employee compensa-
tion using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

(Amounts in millions, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001
Net earnings, as reported $78.7 $106.0 $19.0
Add: Stock-based employee

compensation expense (income)

included in reported

net income, net of

related tax effects 1.5 0.4) 2.3
Deduct: Total stock-based

employee compensation

expense determined

under fair value based

method for all awards,

net of related tax effects (5.6) (7.3) (8.3)
Pro forma net earnings $74.6 $ 98.3 $13.0
Net earnings per share - basic:
As reported $1.35 $ 1.82 $0.33
Pro forma 1.28 1.69 0.22
Net earnings per share - diluted:
As reported $1.35 $ 1.81 $0.33
Pro forma 1.28 1.68 0.22
Weighted-average assumptions

under Black-Scholes:
Risk-free interest rate 4.4% 3.8% 4.9%
Dividend yield 3.4% 2.8% 2.8%
Expected stock price volatility 31.6% 33.1% 38.7%
Expected option life (in years) 6.9 6.1 5.6




For disclosure purposes only under SFAS No. 123, the fair
value of each option grant was estimated as of the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted-
average fair value of options granted was $6.91 in 2003, $9.16 in
2002 and $9.37 in 2001, as calculated using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model.

NOTE 16: CAPITAL STOCK

Snap-on has undertaken repurchases of Snap-on common stock
from time to time to offset dilution created by shares issued for
employee and dealer stock purchase plans, stock options, and other
corporate purposes, as well as to repurchase shares when market
conditions are favorable. Snap-on repurchased 450,000 shares in
2003, following the repurchase of 405,000 shares in 2002 and
400,000 shares in 2001. As of the end of 2003, Snap-on has remain-
ing availability to repurchase up to an additional $144.0 million in
common stock pursuant to the Board of Directors’ authorizations.
The purchase of Snap-on common stock is at the company’s discre-
tion, subject to prevailing financial and market conditions. In 2003,
Snap-on’s average common stock repurchase price was approxi-
mately $27.73 per share.

In August 1997, the Board of Directors declared a dividend
distribution of one preferred stock purchase right for each share of
Snap-on’s outstanding common stock. The rights are exercisable
only if a person or group acquires 15% or more of Snap-on’s com-
mon stock (“Acquiring Person”) or publicly announces a tender
offer to become an Acquiring Person. Each right may then be exer-
cised to purchase one one-hundred-and-fiftieth of a share of Series A
Junior Preferred Stock for $190, but if a person or group becomes
an Acquiring Person, then each right entitles the holder (other than
an Acquiring Person) to acquire common stock of Snap-on having a
market value equivalent to two times the current purchase price. If
Snap-on is acquired in a merger or other business combination not
approved by the Board of Directors, then each holder of a right will
be entitled to purchase common stock of the surviving company
having a market value equivalent to two times the current purchase
price. The effect of the rights is to cause ownership dilution to a
person or group attempting to acquire Snap-on without approval of
Snap-on’s Board of Directors. The rights expire on November 3,
2007, and may be redeemed by Snap-on at a price of $0.01 per right
under certain circumstances.

Snap-on created a Grantor Stock Trust (“GST”) in 1998 that
was subsequently amended. In conjunction with the formation of
the GST, Snap-on sold 7.1 million shares of treasury stock to the
GST. The sale of these shares had no net impact on shareholders’
equity or on Snap-on’s Consolidated Statements of Earnings. The
GST is a funding mechanism for certain benefit programs and com-
pensation arrangements, including the 2001 Incentive Stock and
Awards Plan and employee and dealer stock purchase plans. The
Northern Trust Company, as trustee of the GST, votes the common
stock held by the GST based on the terms set forth in the GST
Agreement as amended. The GST is recorded as Grantor stock trust
at_fair market value on the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Shares owned by the GST are accounted for as a reduction
to shareholders’ equity until used in connection with employee
benefits. Each period, the shares owned by the GST are valued at
the closing market price, with corresponding changes in the GST
balance reflected in additional paid-in capital. At January 3, 2004,
the GST held 5,007,809 shares of common stock.

NOTE 17: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Snap-on leases facilities and office equipment under non-cancelable
operating leases that extend for varying amounts of time. Snap-on’s
future minimum lease commitments under these leases, net of sub-

lease income, were as follows:

Year Ending (Amounts in millions)
2004 $27.7
2005 21.2
2006 16.3
2007 12.6
2008 11.2
2009 and thereafter 45.7
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Rent expense, net of sub-lease rental income, for worldwide
facilities and office equipment was $33.0 million, $32.3 million and
$32.1 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001.

At December 28, 2002, SOC maintained a $25 million bank
line of credit for working capital purposes, of which Snap-on was a
60% guarantor and CIT was a 40% guarantor. Borrowings under
this facility totaled $11.0 million at December 28, 2002. SOC’s bank
line of credit expired May 31, 2003, and was not renewed. CIT and
Snap-on have agreed to fund SOC’s future working capital require-
ments on a 50/50 basis, with a combined maximum borrowing limit
not to exceed $24 million. As of January 3, 2004, there were no out-
standing amounts owed from SOC to this agreement. Refer to Note
9 for additional information.

Snap-on has credit risk exposure for certain loan originations
with recourse provisions against Snap-on. At January 3, 2004, and
December 28, 2002, $14.1 million and $32.1 million of these loans,
with terms ranging from six months to ten years, have a primary
recourse provision to Snap-on if the loans become more than 90
days past due.

The maximum potential amount of future payments that
Snap-on could be required to make to SOC under the recourse
provisions as of January 3, 2004, is $14.1 million, including $6.7 mil-
lion that was originated in fiscal 2003. The asset value of the collat-
eral underlying these recourse loans would serve to mitigate
Snap-on’s loss in the event of default. The estimated fair value
of the guarantees for all fiscal-2003 loan originations with recourse
as of January 3, 2004, was not material. Refer to Note 9 for
additional information.

Snap-on provides product warranties for specific product lines
and accrues for estimated future warranty cost in the period in
which the sale is recorded. Snap-on calculates its accrual requirements
based on historic warranty loss experience that is periodically
adjusted for recent actual experience. The following is an analysis
of Snap-on’s product warranty accrual for fiscal-year 2003
and 2002:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002
Warranty accrual:

Beginning of year $11.6 $ 8.2
Additions 11.6 15.2
Usage (10.7) (11.8)
End of year $12.5 $11.6

Snap-on has government contracts with federal departments
and agencies, two of which are presently under audit by the U.S.
General Services Administration. The two contracts involve sales
from March 1996 through February 2001, and sales since February
2001. The primary focus of these audits concerns the interpretation
and application of the price reduction provisions of these contracts.

On February 6, 2004, Snap-on received a letter from the
Department of Justice indicating that they were seeking to discuss
these audit findings with Snap-on before taking any further action.
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On March 2, 2004, the government provided Snap-on with their
claim estimate of approximately $12 million for billing discrepancies
relating to the audited contract periods from July 1997 through May
2002. Additional amounts could be claimed by the government for
contract periods not covered by these audits. Snap-on intends to
continue discussions with the government in an effort to advance its
positions with respect to the government’s claims. At this time,
Snap-on cannot predict the period of time any discussions will take,
or the outcome or specific consequences of these matters, which
could include settlement, civil litigation by the government to
recover treble damages and other penalties under the False Claims
Act, as well as suspension or debarment from future government
business or other legal or administrative action. Should the govern-
ment prevail in these matters, the impact on Snap-on’s results of
operations would be material.

Snap-on held more than 3,000 active or pending patents as of
year-end 2003, and Snap-on vigorously prosecutes its claims and
defends its patents in the ordinary course of business. In February
1998, Snap-on filed a complaint alleging infringement of certain of
Snap-on’s patents by Hunter Engineering Company (“Hunter”).
Hunter counterclaimed, alleging infringement of certain of its
patents and one trademark. In April 2002, the court set a trial date
of October 14, 2002, for various patents. In May 2002, Hunter
alleged infringement of two additional patents for which a March
2003 trial date was later set. That trial date was vacated when the
case was consolidated with the above litigation in October 2002.

The October 14, 2002, trial date was later postponed by the court
to October 30, 2002. On October 22, 2002, a settlement was reached
between Snap-on and Hunter for all of the above-mentioned matters,
and in the fourth quarter of 2002, a final, comprehensive agreement
was reached in Snap-on’s favor for $10.8 million, net of related legal
expenses incurred in the year.

In 1996, Snap-on filed a complaint against SPX Corporation
(“SPX”) alleging infringement of Snap-on’s patents and asserting
claims relating to SPX’s hiring of the former president of Sun
Electric, a subsidiary of Snap-on acquired in 1992. SPX filed a coun-
terclaim alleging infringement of certain SPX patents. These
patents, which related to engine analyzer products first introduced
in the 1980s, have expired. As part of a binding arbitration process
in 2001, the arbitrator ruled in favor of SPX and Snap-on was
ordered to pay $44 million in damages to SPX. This obligation was
paid in January 2002 and was recorded in Operating expenses on the
accompanying 2001 Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Snap-on is also involved in various other legal matters that are
being defended and handled in the ordinary course of business.
Snap-on maintains accruals for such costs that it expects to
incur with regard to these matters. Although it is not possible
to predict the outcome of these other legal matters, management
believes that the results will not have a material impact on Snap-on’s

financial statements.



NOTE 18: SEGMENTS

Snap-on’s business segments are based on the organization structure
used by management for making operating and investment decisions
and for assessing performance. Snap-on’s reportable business seg-
ments include: (i) the Snap-on Dealer Group, (ii) the Commercial
and Industrial Group and (iii) the Diagnostics and Information
Group. The Snap-on Dealer Group consists of Snap-on’s business
operations serving the worldwide franchised dealer van channel.
The Commercial and Industrial Group consists of the business
operations providing tools and equipment products to a broad
range of industrial and commercial customers worldwide through
direct, distributor and other non-franchised distribution channels.
The Diagnostics and Information Group consists of the business
operations providing diagnostics equipment, vehicle service infor-
mation, business management systems, equipment repair services
and other solutions for customers in the worldwide vehicle service
and repair marketplace.

Snap-on evaluates the performance of its operating segments
based on segment net sales and operating earnings. Segment net
sales are defined as total net sales, including both net sales to exter-
nal customers and intersegment sales. Segment operating earnings
are defined as segment net sales less cost of goods sold and operat-
ing expenses, including applicable restructuring and other
non-recurring charges. Snap-on began allocating restructuring and
other non-recurring charges to its reportable segments in fiscal
2003. Prior to fiscal 2003, Snap-on did not allocate such charges to
the reportable segments. As a result, all prior-year segment informa-
tion presented herein has been restated to conform to the 2003
presentation. Snap-on accounts for intersegment sales and transfers
based primarily on standard costs with reasonable mark-ups estab-
lished between the segments. Snap-on allocates shared services
expenses to those segments that utilize the services based on a
percentage of cither cost of goods sold or segment net sales, as
appropriate. Certain other prior-year reclassifications have been
made to conform to the 2003 management reporting structure.

Neither Snap-on nor any of its segments depends on any single
customer, small group of customers or government for more than
10% of its sales.

Financial data by segment is as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Net sales from

external customers:
Snap-on Dealer Group $1,046.2 $1,014.6 $1,014.4
Commercial and

Industrial Group 1,011.4 929.0 9175
Diagnostics and

Information Group 175.6 165.5 163.8
Total net sales $2,233.2 $2,109.1 $2,095.7
Intersegment sales:
Snap-on Dealer Group $ 270 $ 251 $ 269
Commercial and

Industrial Group 122.5 116.7 109.8
Diagnostics and

Information Group 133.4 168.9 1574
Total intersegment sales $ 2829 § 3107 § 294.1
Total net sales:
Snap-on Dealer Group $1,073.2  $1,039.7  $1,041.3
Commercial and

Industrial Group 1,133.9 1,045.7 1,027.3
Diagnostics and

Information Group 309.0 334.4 321.2
Segment net sales 2,516.1 2,419.8 2,389.8
Intersegment eliminations (282.9) (310.7) (294.1)
Total net sales $2,233.2 $2,109.1 $2,095.7

The following is a reconciliation of Snap-on’s segment operat-

ing earnings to earnings before income taxes:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Operating earnings (loss):

Snap-on Dealer Group $ 70.2 $ 89.6 $108.1

Commercial and Industrial Group 13.1 46.0 3.9

Diagnostics and Information Group  23.0 25.0 (17.1)
Segment operating earnings 106.3 160.6 94.9

Net finance income 43.8 377 35.7
Arbitration resolution® - - (44.0)
Operating earnings 150.1 198.3 86.6
Interest expense (24.4) (28.7) (35.5)
Other income (expense) — net (9.0) (8.4) (3.5)
Earnings before income taxes $116.7 $161.2 $ 476

(a) In 2001, the $44.0 million cost incurred for the resolution of patent arbitration was not allo-
cated to the reportable segments.
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(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Total assets:
Snap-on Dealer Group $ 7799 $ 759.7 $ 805.0
Commercial and

Industrial Group 1,101.9 1,010.7 921.8
Diagnostics and

Information Group 189.9 198.5 208.7
Total from reportable segments 2,071.7 1,968.9 1,935.5
Financial Services 103.9 82.5 82.0
Elimination of

intersegment receivables (37.1) (57.3) (43.2)
Total assets $2,138.5 $1,994.1 $1,974.3
Capital expenditures:
Snap-on Dealer Group $ 97 $ 15.0 $ 193
Commercial and

Industrial Group 15.2 23.9 29.5
Diagnostics and

Information Group 4.5 6.9 4.8
Total from reportable segments 29.4 45.8 53.6
Financial Services - - -
Total capital expenditures $ 294 $ 4538 $ 53.6
Depreciation and amortization:
Snap-on Dealer Group $ 271 $ 243 $ 283
Commercial and

Industrial Group 25.8 22.9 30.0
Diagnostics and

Information Group 74 4.5 9.7
Total from reportable segments 60.3 51.7 68.0
Financial Services - - -
Total depreciation

and amortization $ 603 $ 517 $ 68.0
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Geographic Regions: Geographic data is as follows:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Net sales:*

United States $1,339.0 $1,358.7 $1,360.0
Europe 659.3 547.0 537.5
All other 234.9 203.4 198.2
Total net sales $2,233.2 $2,109.1 $2,095.7
Long-lived assets:**

United States $ 3281 $ 351.9 $ 3577
Sweden 172.7 143.3 117.9
Luxembourg 146.1 119.0 102.9
All other 168.8 148.1 141.1
Total long-lived assets $ 8157 $ 7623 $ 719.6

*Net sales are attributed to countries based on the origin of the sale.

*Long-lived assets consist of Property and equipment — net plus Goodwill plus
Other intangibles — net.

Products and Services: Snap-on derives revenue from a broad line of
products and complementary services that are grouped into two
categories: tools and equipment. The tools category is comprised of
Snap-on’s hand tools, power tools, tool storage units, saws and cut-
ting and pruning tools product offerings. The equipment category is
comprised of vehicle service diagnostics equipment, vehicle service
equipment, vehicle service information, business management
systems and equipment repair service product offerings. Further
product line information is not presented, as it is not practicable to
do so. The following table shows the consolidated sales of these
product groups in the last three years:

(Amounts in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Net sales:

Tools $1,368.9 $1,281.7 $1,291.1
Equipment 864.3 8274 804.6
Total net sales $2,233.2 $2,109.1 $2,095.7




Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth

(Amounts in millions, except per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
2003

Net sales $543.1 $565.2 $525.6 $599.3 $2,233.2
Gross profit 2454 246.1 221.8 251.4 964.7
Net earnings 21.4 22.3 17.7 17.3 78.7
Earnings per share - basic 0.37 0.38 0.30 0.30 1.35
Earnings per share - diluted 0.37 0.38 0.30 0.30 1.35
Cash dividends paid per share $ 0.25 $ 0.25 $ 0.25 $ 0.25 $ 1.00
2002

Net sales $510.0 $547.2 $502.4 $549.5 $2,109.1
Gross profit 235.7 251.4 2278 250.0 964.9
Net earnings 24.5 29.2 19.2 33.1 106.0
Earnings per share - basic 0.42 0.50 0.33 0.57 1.82
Earnings per share - diluted 0.42 0.50 0.33 0.56 1.81
Cash dividends paid per share $ 0.24 $0.24 $ 0.24 $ 0.25 $ 097

In 2003, net restructuring and continuous improvement charges totaled $30.1 million ($19.6 million after tax or $0.34 per basic and diluted share). Restructuring and continuous improvement
charges were incurred throughout the year as follows: First quarter — $2.5 million; Second quarter — $3.0 million; Third quarter — $13.3 million; Fourth quarter — $11.3 million.

In 2002, net restructuring and other non-recurring charges totaled $5.1 million ($3.3 million after tax or $0.05 per basic share and $0.06 per diluted share). Restructuring and non-recurring
charges (credits) were incurred throughout the year as follows: First quarter — $3.4 million; Second quarter — $1.4 million; Third quarter — $1.6 million; Fourth quarter — $(1.3) million.
Non-comparable credits in 2002 totaled a net gain of $2.0 million ($1.3 million after tax or $0.02 per basic and diluted share). Non-comparable charges (credits) occurred as follows:
First quarter — $ 2.6 million for the write-down of a receivable related to the closure of auto service centers associated with a major retailer's bankruptcy; Fourth quarter — $(4.6) million
net pretax benefit from the resolution of a patent infringement matter partially offset by a provision for certain contractual matters.

2002 includes a pretax gain of $2.8 million ($2.8 million after tax or $0.05 per basic and diluted share) for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle for goodwill in the
first quarter.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The management of Snap-on Incorporated is responsible for the
preparation and integrity of all financial statements and other infor-
mation contained in this Annual Report. The consolidated financial
statements include amounts based on informed judgments and best
estimates by management. In management’s opinion, the financial
statements present fairly the financial position, results of operations
and cash flows of the company in conformity with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States of America.

Management relies on a system of internal accounting controls
and procedures that is intended, consistent with reasonable cost, to
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorization, that they are
included in the financial records in all material respects, and that
accountability for assets is maintained. The company maintains a
staff of internal auditors that conducts operational and financial
audits to evaluate the adequacy of internal controls and accounting
practices.

Snap-on’s consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2003 and
2002 have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent
auditors, whose report thereon appears herein. As part of their
audit of Snap-on’s consolidated financial statements, Deloitte &
Touche LLP considered Snap-on’s system of internal controls to the
extent they deemed necessary to determine the nature, timing and
extent of their audit tests. Management has made available to
Deloitte & Touche LLP Snap-on’s financial records and related data.

The Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee
composed entirely of directors who are not employees of the com-
pany. The committee meets periodically and independently with
management, internal auditors and the independent auditors to dis-
cuss Snap-on’s internal accounting controls, auditing and financial
reporting matters. The committee reports to the Board of Directors
on its activities and findings. The internal auditors and independent
auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

DALE F. ELLIOTT MARTIN M. ELLEN

Senior Vice President — Finance

and Chief Financial Officer

Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
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Independent Auditors’ Report

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS
OF SNAP-ON INCORPORATED:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
Snap-on Incorporated and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002, and the related consolidated
statements of earnings, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive
income, and cash flows for each of the years then ended. These finan-
cial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. The financial statements of the
Company for the year ended December 29, 2001, were audited by
other auditors who have ceased operations. Those auditors, whose
report dated January 29, 2002, expressed an unqualified opinion on
those statements and included an explanatory paragraph that
described the changes in accounting method for derivatives effective
December 31, 2000 (explained in Note 11 to these consolidated
financial statements), and pensions effective January 2, 2000
(explained in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements).

‘We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting princi-
ples used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such 2003 and 2002 consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi-
tion of the Company as of January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002,
and the result of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed above, the consolidated financial statements of
the Company for the year ended December 29, 2001, were audited
by other auditors who have ceased operations. As described in Note
8, these consolidated financial statements have been revised to
include the transitional disclosures required by Statement No. 142.
Our audit procedures with respect to the disclosures in Note 8 with
respect to 2001 included (i) agreeing the previously reported net
income to the previously issued financial statements and the adjust-
ments to reported net earnings representing amortization expense
(including any related tax effects) recognized in those periods
related to goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets as a
result of initially applying Statement No. 142 (including any related
tax effects) to the Company’s underlying records obtained from
management, and (ii) testing the mathematical accuracy of the
reconciliation of adjusted net earnings to reported net earnings,
and the related earnings-per-share amounts. In our opinion, the
disclosures for 2001 in Note 8 are appropriate.



As discussed above, the consolidated financial statements of
the Company for the year ended December 29, 2001, were audited
by other auditors who have ceased operations. As described in Note
18, the Company began allocating restructuring and other non-
recurring charges to its reportable segments in 2003. In addition,
the Company changed the composition of its segments in 2002. The
amounts in the 2002 and 2001 financial statements relating to
reportable segments have been restated to conform to the 2003 pres-
entation of reportable segments. We audited the adjustments that
were applied to restate the disclosures for reportable segments
reflected in the 2001 financials statements. Our procedures included
(i) agreeing the adjusted amounts of segment net sales from external
customers, intersegment sales, earnings and assets to the
Company’s underlying records obtained from management, and (ii)
testing the mathematical accuracy of the reconciliations of segment
amounts to the consolidated financial statements. In our opinion,
such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied.

In our opinion, the adjustments described above to present the
transitional disclosures required by Statement No. 142 and to
restate the reportable segments have been properly applied.
However, we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any pro-
cedures to the 2001 consolidated financial statements of the
Company other than with respect to such disclosures and, accord-
ingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance
on the 2001 consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

Ll # e <2/°

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin

February 3, 2004 (except for paragraphs 7 and 8 of
Note 17, to which the date is March 12, 2004)

Report of Independent Public Accountants

The following Report of Independent Public Accountants is a copy of a report that Arthur
Andersen LLP previously issued in connection with Snap-on’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 29, 2001. Arthur Andersen LLP has not reissued this report in con-
nection with the preparation of Snap-on’s financial statements as of and for the periods ended
January 3, 2004, and December 28, 2002. The Arthur Andersen LLP report does not extend to
transitional disclosures required by SFAS No. 142, the restatement of presentation of reportable
segments or reclassified amounts for the period ended December 29, 2001. These transitional
disclosures and restated and reclassified amounts are reported on by Deloitte & Touche LLP as
stated in their report appearing herein.

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND
SHAREHOLDERS OF SNAP-ON INCORPORATED:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
Snap-on Incorporated (a Delaware Corporation) and subsidiaries as
of December 29, 2001, and December 30, 2000, and the related
consolidated statements of earnings, shareholders’ equity and
comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 29, 2001. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of Snap-on’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consoli-
dated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Snap-on Incorporated and subsidiaries as of
December 29, 2001, and December 30, 2000, and the consolidated
results of its operations and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 29, 2001, in conformity with account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States.

As explained in Note 10 to the financial statements, effective
December 31, 2000, Snap-on Incorporated changed its method of
accounting for derivatives.

As explained in Note 11 to the financial statements, effective
January 2, 2000, Snap-on Incorporated changed its method of
accounting for pensions.

/S/ ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP
ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP
Chicago, Illinois
January 29, 2002
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Directors and Corporate Organization

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

DALE F. ELLIOTT #¢

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer
Snap-on Incorporated

Director since 2001

BRUCE S. CHELBERG **¢
Retired Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer
Whitman Corporation
Director since 1993

ROXANNE J. DECYK >=¢

Senior Vice President — Corporate
Affairs and Human Resources
Shell Oil Company

Director since 1993

JOHN F. FIEDLER

Retired Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer
BorgWarner Inc.

Director since 2004

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT

DALE F. ELLIOTT
Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer T

ALAN T. BILAND
Vice President — Chief Information Officer
and President — Diagnostics and Information

Group T

SHARON M. BRADY
Vice President and
Chief Human Resources Officer

JEFFREY N. EGGERT
Vice President — Snap-on Tools Operations T

OPERATING MANAGEMENT

DONALD E. BROMAN
Vice President and General Manager —

Worldwide Industrial Sales

OH KEH CHAI
President — Asia-Pacific

DAVID E. COX, JR.
Vice President — North American
Technical Sales

C. JOHN CREECH
President — Snap-on Tools Japan
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LEONARD A. HADLEY ®*

Retired Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer
Maytag Corporation

Director since 1997

ARTHUR L. KELLY =¢¢
Managing Partner
KEL Enterprises L.P.
Director since 1978

W. DUDLEY LEHMAN ¢

Group President — Business to Business
Kimberly-Clark Corporation

Director since 2003

JACK D. MICHAELS ¢
Chairman of the Board

and Chief Executive Officer
HON INDUSTRIES
Director since 1998

LARS NYBERG ¢
Chairman of the Board
NCR Corporation
Director since 2002

MARTIN M. ELLEN
Senior Vice President — Finance

and Chief Financial Officer T

CONSTANCE R. JOHNSEN
Vice President and
Controller

JOHN A. KIELICH
Vice President — Planning and
Snap-on Business Process

SUSAN F. MARRINAN
Vice President, Secretary
and Chief Legal Officer

DAVID R. ELLINGEN
President and Chief Executive Officer —
Mitchell Repair Information Company LLC

RAMON IRIONDO
President — Eurotools Group

THOMAS L. KASSOUF
President — Worldwide Equipment

JEAN-PIERRE LEVREY
President — Bahco Group

NICHOLAS L. LOFFREDO
Vice President — Sales,
Worldwide Dealer Group

FRANK S. PTAK *¢
Vice Chairman

llinois Tool Works Inc.
Director since 2000

EDWARD H. RENSI ¢

Owner and Chief Executive Officer
Team Rensi Motorsports, and

Retired President and Chief Executive
Officer of McDonald’s U.S.A.
Director since 1992

RICHARD F. TEERLINK =b¢
Retired Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer
Harley-Davidson, Inc.
Director since 1997

BOARD COMMITTEES:

a: Executive Committee

b: Audit Committee

c: Organization and Executive
Compensation Committee

d: Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee

e: Finance Committee

* Denotes Chair

BLAINE A. METZGER

Vice President — Finance and Treasurer §

MICHAEL F. MONTEMURRO
Senior Vice President and President —
Worldwide Snap-on Dealer Group T

WILLIAM H. PFUND
Vice President — Investor Relations

NICHOLAS T. PINCHUK
Senior Vice President and President —

Worldwide Commercial and Industrial

Group T

MARK S. PEZZONI
President — Specialty Products

GERALD E. SEEBECK
President — Power Tools

GIULIANO SPAGGIARI
Vice President — Equipment Europe

WILLIAM J. TOBIAS
General Manager — EquiServ

THOMAS J. WARD
President — Diagnostics

t Denotes Executive Officer



PRINTING: Hennegan

DESIGN: VSA Partners PHOTOGRAPHY: James Schnepf and Gregory Miller

Investor Information

EXCHANGE LISTING
Snap-on Incorporated’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange under the ticker symbol SNA.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.

P.O. Box 43069

Providence, RI 02940-3069, U.S.A.

SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES

Shareholders with questions may call the Transfer Agent, EquiServe Trust
Company, toll-free at 800-446-2617 (in the United States) or 781-575-2723
(outside the United States). The deaf and hearing-impaired may call 800-952-
9245. An interactive automated system is available 24 hours a day, every day.
Operators are available Monday through Friday, 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. Eastern
time. You may also contact them through www.equiserve.com.

CERTIFICATE TRANSFERS

By mail:

EquiServe

P.O. Box 43070

Providence, RI 02940-3070, U.S.A.

By overnight mail or private courier:
EquiServe

ATTN: Shareholder Relations
66 Brooks Drive

Braintree, MA 02184, U.S.A.

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT AND DIRECT STOCK PURCHASE PLAN
Investors may purchase stock directly from the company and increase their
investment through a no-commission dividend reinvestment and direct stock
purchase plan. For information write to:

EquiServe

Dividend Reinvestment Service

P.O. Box 43081

Providence, RI 02940-3081, U.S.A.

ANTICIPATED DIVIDEND RECORD AND PAY DATES FOR 2004

Quarter  Record Date Pay Date
First February 18 March 10
Second  May 20  June 10

Third August 20 September 10

Fourth November 19 December 10

FORM 10-K AND OTHER FINANCIAL PUBLICATIONS

These publications are available without charge. Visit our Web site, contact
the Snap-on corporate communications department at P.O. Box 1430,
Kenosha, Wisconsin 53141-1430, call 262-656-4808 (recorded message), or
send an e-mail to financials@snapon.com.

WEB SITE

Snap-on’s Web site contains 10-Qs, 10-Ks, news releases, annual reports,
corporate governance documents and information about Snap-on’s
dividend reinvestment and direct stock purchase plan. Our address is
WWW.Snapon.com.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Deloitte & Touche LLP

411 East Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 2300
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202-4496

ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at The Hayes Mansion
Conference Center, 200 Edenvale Avenue, San Jose, California 95136-3309
at 10 a.m. PDT on Thursday, April 22, 2004. The meeting will also be
available via Webcast at www.snapon.com.

CORPORATE OFFICES

P.O. Box 1430

Kenosha, Wisconsin 53141-1430, U.S.A.
262-656-5200

TRADEMARKS

The following are trademarks or registered trademarks of Snap-on
Incorporated or its affiliates:

BAHCO MODIS

D-TAC Palmera
DOCUTORQ, Pro-Link
Driven to Deliver Scanner
eTechnician ShopKey
EZ/VAT Sioux

Flank Drive Snap-on

Hofmann Toolwagon
John Bean Vantage
MicroVAT

All other marks are trademarks of their respective holders.

GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL TERMS

Free cash flow: Cash flow from operations less capital expenditures. Cash
generated from operating activities after investing in equipment, property
and plant improvement projects.

Organic sales: Net sales, excluding the impact of acquisitions, divestitures
and currency translation; used to illustrate growth on an operating basis.

ROE (Return on average sharecholders’ equity): Current year net earnings
divided by average shareholders’ equity (average of the last two years). ROE
is a measurement of the profit generated on capital retained in the company

by shareholders.

RONAEBIT (Return on net assets employed before interest and taxes):
This is an overall financial return metric based upon the drivers of profit
margin and asset utilization. This metric measures pretax and pre-interest
returns on net assets (total assets less all non-interest bearing liabilities).
This performance measure is a component of Snap-on’s executive incentive
compensation plan.

Total invested capital: The sum of invested funds in the company as
calculated by adding total net debt (notes payable plus long-term debt,
including current maturities, net of cash) plus total shareholders’ equity.

Working investment: Accounts receivable plus inventories less accounts
payable. Focused on those working capital elements within operating control
(included in current assets and current liabilities), working investment is a
measurement of a company’s effectiveness in using invested money to support
current sales levels.

Working investment turns: Net sales divided by working investment.
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